
Date: Thursday, 7 June 2018
Time: 6.30 pm
Venue: South Walks House, Dorchester, Dorset, DT1 

1EE
Membership:

The Council membership is listed on the following page.

Proper Officer for the Dorset Council Shadow Authority: Debbie Ward

For more information about this agenda please telephone Democratic Services on 
01305 252216/252234 or sdallison@dorset.gov.uk  

This agenda and reports are also available on the Council’s website at 

Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting with the exception of any items 
listed in the exempt part of this agenda.

Disabled access is available for all of the council’s committee rooms. 
Hearing loop facilities are available.  Please speak to a Democratic Services Officer for 
assistance in using this facility.

Recording, photographing and using social media at meetings

The council is committed to being open and transparent in the way it carries out its 
business whenever possible.  Anyone can film, audio-record, take photographs, and use 
social media such as tweeting and blogging to report the meeting when it is open to the 
public, so long as they conform to the Council’s protocol, a copy of which can be 
obtained from the Democratic Services Team.

Public Document Pack



MEMBERSHIP OF THE SHADOW DORSET COUNCIL

Anthony Alford
Jon Andrews
Kerry Baker
Malcolm Barnes
Peter Barrowcliff
*Shane Bartlett
Thomas Bartlett
*Pauline Batstone
Bill Batty-Smith
*Derek Beer
Richard Biggs
Andy Blackwood
*Kevin Brookes
*Cherry Brooks
Piers Brown
Graham Brown
Sandra Brown
Hazel Bruce
Ian Bruce
*Ray Bryan
David Budd
Nigel Bundy
Audrey Burch
Sarah Burns
Derek Burt
Derek Bussell
*Steve Butler
Mike Byatt
*Andrew Canning
Jeff Cant
*Graham Carr-
Jones
*Andrew Cattaway
Alexander Chase
Simon Christopher
Alex Clarke
Ronald Coatsworth
Robin Cook
Patrick Cooke
*Toni Coombs
Barrie Cooper
Hilary Cox
*Deborah Croney
*Keith Day
*Janet Dover
Charles Dowden

Nigel Dragon
Francis Drake
Fred Drane
Gerald Duke
*Jean Dunseith
Mike Dyer
Dominic Elliott
John Ellis
*Beryl Ezzard
Terry Farmer
James 
Farquharson
*Tony Ferrari
Caroline Finch
*Spencer Flower
Victor Fox
Jo Francis
Robert Freeman
*Katharine Garcia
Ian Gardner
Simon Gibson
Hilary Goodinge
Barry Goringe
Mike Gould
Robert Gould
Matthew Hall
Lucy Hamilton
Traci Handford
Tim Harries
David Harris
Paul Harrison
Brian Haynes
*Jill Haynes
Ryan Hope
Fred Horsington
Susie Hosford
Colin Huckle
Nick Ireland
Christine James
Susan Jefferies
Gary Jefferson
Sherry Jespersen
K D Johnson
Stella Jones
Trevor Jones
Oz Kanji

Andrew Kerby
Paul Kimber
Rebecca Knox
Richard Kosior
Noc Lacey-Clarke
Catherine Langham
Margaret Lawrence
Robin Legg
Margaret Leicester
Gina Logan
Mike Lovell
Cathy Lugg
*Steven Lugg
Barbara Manuel
Gloria Marsh
Penny McCartney
Frances McKenzie
Wendy Meaden
Laura Miller
David Morgan
Tim Morris
Richard Nickinson
Pamela Nixon
Ray Nowak
Peter Oggelsby
*Jon Orrell
Jason Osborne
David Packer
Cathy Page-Nash
Emma Parker
*Andrew Parry
*Mary Penfold
*Bill Pipe
Claire Pipe
Val Pothecary
Robin Potter
Simon Pritchard
Byron Quayle
Barry Quinn
Alison Reed
Molly Rennie
Cheryl Reynolds
Dave Rickard
Belinda Ridout
Michael Roake
*Mark Roberts

Julie Robinson
Gareth 
Rockingham
Ian Roebuck
Tia Roos
George Russell
John Russell
Jacqui Sewell
Peter Shorland
*David Shortell
Andy Skeats
Deirdre Skipwith
Jane Somper
Jackie Stayt
John Stayt
Gary Suttle
Clare Sutton
John Tanner
David Taylor
Gill Taylor
Mark Tewkesbury
Alan Thacker
Carol Tilling
Simon Tong
*William Trite
*Daryl Turner
Mark Unsworth
*David Walsh
Ann Weaving
Peter Webb
Sandy West
Jane Westbrook
*Peter Wharf
*Kate Wheller
Mike Whitwam
Mike Wiggins
Peter Williams
Timothy Yarker
1 x Vacancy  

*Indicates 
councillors on 

borough/district 
councils as well as 

Dorset County 
Council



A G E N D A

Page No.

1  ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN

To elect a Chairman of the Shadow Dorset Council for the shadow 
period.

2  ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIRMAN

To elect a Vice-Chairman of the Shadow Dorset Council for the 
shadow period. 

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest.

4  CONSTITUTION 1 - 116

To adopt the Shadow Dorset Council Constitution 

5  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

To receive any public questions or statements on the business of the 
Shadow Dorset Council. 

6  PROCESS AND APPOINTMENT OF INTERIM STATUTORY 
OFFICERS TO THE DORSET COUNCIL SHADOW AUTHORITY

117 - 130

To consider a report by the Strategic HR Lead, Local Government 
Reorganisation Programme, Dorset Area.

7  PROCESS TO APPOINT A PERMANENT CHIEF EXECUTIVE TO 
DORSET COUNCIL

131 - 150

To consider a report by the Strategic HR Lead, Local Government 
Reorganisation Programme, Dorset Area.

8  HIGH LEVEL IMPLEMENTATION PLAN FOR DORSET COUNCIL 151 - 180

To consider a report by the Programme Director.



9  APPOINTMENT TO COMMITTEES 2018/19 181 - 184

To consider a report of the Dorset Area Monitoring Officers.

10  ADOPTION OF MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES SCHEME 185 - 196

To consider a report of the Democratic and Electoral Services 
Manager, Purbeck District Council.

11  ADOPTION OF CALENDAR OF MEETINGS 197 - 198

To consider a report of the Dorset Area Monitoring Officers.

12  URGENT ITEMS

To consider any items of business which the Chairman has had prior 
notification and considers to be urgent pursuant to section 100B (4) (b) 
of the Local Government Act 19702.  The reason for the urgency shall 
be specified minutes. 



Date of Meeting 7 June 2018

Subject of Report Constitution

Executive Summary Section 9P of the Local Government Act 2000 as applied to the 
Shadow Dorset Council by the Structural Change Order requires 
the Shadow Council to prepare and keep up to date a document, 
to be known as the Constitution, which contains:

(a) a copy of the authority's standing orders for the time being;

(b) a copy of the authority's code of conduct;

(c) such information as the Secretary of State may direct; and

(d) such other information (if any) as the authority considers 
appropriate

The draft Constitution is attached to this report as an Appendix. 

The proposed Constitution reflects the Structural Change Order 
and also the relatively short period for which that the Shadow 
Council will exist. It has been considered twice by the 
Governance Task and Finish Group and was recommended for 
approval by the Dorset Area Joint Committee at its meeting held 
on 15 May 2018.

Budget and risk 
implications

There are budget and risk implications associated with the 
transition to a new council. However, the direct budget 
implications arising from the adoption of the proposed draft 
Constitution are not material in terms of the overall cost of 
transitioning to a new council.

Recommendations That the Shadow Dorset Council adopts the draft Constitution. 

Appendices Draft Constitution v1.6

Background papers None

Report Originator and 
Contact

Name: The Dorset Area Monitoring Officers
Tel: 01305 224181
Email: davidfairbairn@purbeck-dc.gov.uk

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft v1.6

Shadow Dorset Council

CONSTITUTION

PART 1 -
SUMMARY AND EXPLANATION

Page 3



Draft v1.6

1

Part 1 - Constitution - summary and explanation

General

1 Shadow Dorset Council (“the Shadow Council”) is one of two authorities that 
have been created by the Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole (Structural 
Changes) Order 2018 (“the 2018 Order”) to and will operate as the Shadow 
Council for a new local authority that will come into being on 1 April 2019 to 
be known as Dorset Council. The Shadow Council will exist for the period 
beginning with the day on which the 2018 Order comes into force and ending 
on the fourth day after the 2019 Election Day (“the Shadow Period”). As 
required under the Local Government Act 2000, the Shadow Council has 
approved this Constitution which sets out:

• how the Shadow Council operates;
• how its decisions are made; and
• the procedures which will be followed.

2 Some of the processes in the Constitution are required by law while others 
are considered by the Shadow Council to be necessary to ensure that it 
operates effectively and efficiently; and in the interests of the people it serves.

The Constitution and its Content

3 The Constitution is divided into five parts.

Part 1 sets out an explanation of what the Shadow Council is and how it 
works.

Part 2 sets out the formal articles of the Constitution: 

Article 1 - The Constitution;
Article 2 - The Shadow Council;
Article 3 - Rights and Responsibilities of Members of the public; 
Article 4 - The Full Shadow Council;
Article 5 - The Role of the Chairman;
Article 6 - Scrutiny;
Article 7 - The Shadow Executive Committee;
Article 8 - Other Committees
Article 9 - Joint Arrangements
Article 10 - Arrangements for promoting good standards of behaviour by Members;
Article 11 - Officers;
Article 12 - Decision Making; 
Article 13 - Legal Matters; and
Article 14 - Review, Revision, Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the 
Constitution.

Part 3 sets out the responsibility of bodies and individuals for various functions 
carried out by the Shadow Council in relation to the exercise of its powers.

Page 4



Draft v1.6

2

Part 4 contains the Rules of Procedure which are designed to regulate the 
conduct of the Shadow Council’s business to ensure decisions are made in 
accordance with the law and the wishes of the Shadow Council.

Part 5 includes the Code of Conduct for Shadow Councillors which is 
designed to ensure that Councillors carry out their duties to the highest ethical 
standards. It also includes a protocol on Member/Officer Relations.

Part 6 covers the Scheme of Shadow Councillors’ Allowances.  Article 27 of 
the 2018 Order provides that the Shadow Council has to prepare and adopt a 
scheme for the payment of allowances to its members.

The Shadow Council and how it operates in making decisions

There are 206 Shadow Councillors who sit on the Shadow Council. They are the 
councillors who were elected to East Dorset District Council; North Dorset District 
Council; Purbeck District Council; West Dorset District Council; Weymouth and 
Portland Borough Council; and those councillors who were elected to Dorset County 
Council for the County Divisions within the area of Dorset covered by the five 
districts and boroughs.  The Councillors will continue in office after 1 April 2019 when 
a new local authority to be known as Dorset Council will come into existence before 
retiring from office on the expiry of the Shadow Period.

The role of the Shadow Council is to:

• prepare for the assumption of local government functions and full local authority 
powers on 1 April 2019;

• prepare budgets and plans required to be put in place on 1 April 2019; and

• liaise with other local authorities in its area to ensure continuity of public service 
delivery on or after 1 April 2019 and thereafter.

The Shadow Councillors are directly accountable to their constituents for the running 
of the Shadow Council. Whilst Shadow Councillors have this very broad role they 
have a duty to represent the interests of all their constituents. They also work closely 
with officers in developing policies and strategies to give direction to the Shadow 
Council’s vision and to ensure that services are delivered in accordance with the 
Shadow Council’s wishes.

The Shadow Council will meet on a number of occasions during the Shadow Period. 
Meetings are open to the public, but the public may be excluded where an item of a 
confidential or exempt nature is being discussed.

At its first meeting, the Shadow Council will appoint its Chairman and Vice-
Chairman; and the Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of any Committees, Sub-
Committees and Special Committees. It will also agree the range of responsibilities 
to be exercised by Shadow Councillors individually or collectively. All these 
individuals and bodies are directly accountable to the Shadow Council.

Page 5



Draft v1.6

3

There are two main areas in the Shadow Council’s political structure covering the 
Shadow Executive Committee; and Overview and Scrutiny. These are covered in 
more detail within the Constitution.

The Shadow Executive Committee is that part of the Shadow Council which is 
responsible for most of the day-to-day decisions. The Shadow Executive Committee 
comprises 20 Shadow Councillors nominated in accordance with Article 27 of the 
2018 Order.

At the first meeting of the Shadow Executive Committee it will elect a Councillor from 
among those who have been nominated to the Shadow Executive Committee to 
chair the Shadow Executive Committee.  The Councillor who is elected will also be 
the Shadow Council Leader.  A second Councillor will be elected to be the vice-chair 
and deputy Shadow Council Leader.

Any Key Decisions to be made by the Shadow Executive Committee are published 
on a monthly basis in the Shadow Executive Committee’s Forward Plan which looks 
at the forthcoming four- month period. It is not always possible to anticipate all the 
items to be included in the Plan. However, in cases where this is not possible items 
will be added to the Plan at the next date of publication. Special arrangements apply 
where a matter is urgent or cannot be included in the Plan.

The Shadow Council's Overview and Scrutiny arrangements ensure that Shadow 
Councillors who are not on the Shadow Executive Committee can be involved in 
Shadow Executive Committee decisions by questioning and making 
recommendations.

The Overview and Scrutiny arrangements will reflect as far as practicable the overall 
political proportionality of the Shadow Council. Members of the Shadow Executive 
Committee cannot sit on the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

In performing their various roles, Shadow Councillors are supported by the Officers 
who give advice, implement decisions and manage the delivery of services. Officers 
ensure the Shadow Council acts within the law and uses resources efficiently and 
effectively.

As the Shadow Council is a public body, members of the public have a number of 
rights in their dealings with it. Whilst some are legal rights such as the right to film, 
audio record or to report on meetings, others will depend on the Shadow Council’s 
own processes. These rights are set out in Parts 2 and 4 of this Constitution.

The Constitution will be updated to reflect changes within the Shadow Council, its 
procedures and processes.

Page 6



Draft v1.6

4

PART 2 –
ARTICLES OF THE CONSTITUTION

Article 1 - The Constitution 
Article 2 - The Shadow Council
Article 3 - Rights and Responsibilities of Members of the public 
Article 4 - The Full Shadow Council
Article 5 - The Role of the Chairman of the Shadow Council 
Article 6 - Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Article 7 - The Shadow Executive Committee 
Article 8 - Other Committees
Article 9 - Arrangements for promoting good standards of behaviour by 

Shadow Councillors
Article 10 - Officers
Article 11 - Decision Making 
Article 12 - Legal Matters
Article 13 - Review, Revision, Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of 

the Constitution

Page 7



Draft v1.6

5

Article 1 - The Constitution

1 Powers and Duties of the Shadow Council

1.1 The powers and duties of the Shadow Council are set down in Acts of 
Parliament and secondary legislation. The Shadow Council will exercise those 
powers and duties in accordance with the law and its Constitution.

2 The Constitution

2.1 The Shadow Council’s Constitution includes all those parts listed in Part 1 –
Summary and Explanation.

3 Purpose of the Constitution

3.1 The objectives of this Constitution are:

(a) to support the Shadow Council’s preparations;

(b) to provide a framework for clear leadership to the community in 
partnership with its people, businesses and other organisations;

(c) to enable decisions to be taken efficiency and effectively;

(d) to provide a robust and effective overview and scrutiny function;

(e) to ensure that a decision will not be reviewed or scrutinised by anyone 
who was directly involved in making the decision; and

(f) to ensure that those responsible for decision making can be clearly 
identified by local people and that they can explain the reasons for their 
decisions.

3.3 The Shadow Council will ensure that the articles, procedural rules and 
protocols in this Constitution reflect and deliver the objectives set out above.

Page 8



Draft v1.6

6

Article 2 - The Shadow Council

1 Composition

1.1 The Shadow Council comprises the 206 Shadow Councillors who are the 
councillors who were elected to East Dorset District Council; North Dorset 
District Council; Purbeck District Council; West Dorset District Council; 
Weymouth and Portland Borough Council; and those councillors who were 
elected to Dorset County Council for the County Divisions within the area of 
Dorset covered by the five districts and boroughs. Appendix 1 to this Article 
lists details of the Shadow Councillors and the area each represents.  Further 
information on the Shadow Councillors can be found on the Shadow Council’s 
website.

2 Term of Office

2.1 Shadow Councillors’ term of office will commence on the day after the day on 
which the 2018 Order is made and continue for the Shadow Period.  

2.2 Where a casual vacancy occurs in the office of a Shadow Councillor on or 
before 30 September 2018, a by-election will be held and the person elected 
will serve until the fourth day after the date of the 2019 election.

3 Role of Shadow Councillors

3.1 Shadow Councillors will undertake the following roles:

(a) as a body, they will: set the Shadow Council’s major plans, policies and 
strategies as required by law; perform those functions identified in the 
2018 Order; and will take decisions on such matters as must be reserved 
to the full Shadow Council by law or as provided for in this Constitution;

(b) oversee the Shadow Council’s strategic and corporate management;

(c) represent their communities and the views of their electorate in the 
decision-making process;

(d) support, as appropriate, individuals in their dealings with the Shadow 
Council and represent them in seeking to resolve particular concerns or 
grievances;

(e) balance the different interests of people within their constituency with a 
view to representing their constituency as a whole;

(f) participate, as appropriate, in the decision-making, and overview and 
scrutiny processes; and

(g) maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics and will observe the 
Shadow Council’s Code of Conduct for Elected Shadow Councillors.

Page 9



Draft v1.6

7

4 Shadow Councillors' Representational Roles

4.1 All Shadow Councillors represent their constituents and the Shadow Council 
sees this as an important role and responsibility under this Constitution.

4.2 Shadow Councillors have an important job in consulting their communities on 
the development of policies, plans and strategies and other local initiatives.

4.3 The Shadow Council will ensure in its processes that appropriate procedures 
are in place so that Shadow Councillors can contribute to the Shadow 
Council’s business on behalf of their local community both in terms of policy 
development and decision making.

5 Shadow Councillors' Rights

5.1 Shadow Councillors will have rights of access to any document, information, 
land or buildings of the Shadow Council where this is necessary for the proper 
discharge of their functions as a Shadow Councillor and in accordance with 
the law and this Constitution.

5.2 A Shadow Councillor is not permitted to make available to the press or to a 
member of the public any information which he/she has been sent or given in 
whatever form and which is exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Access to Information Procedure Rules which are set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution.

5.3 A Shadow Councillor shall not divulge information given in confidence to 
anyone other than a Shadow Councillor or officer or other person legally 
entitled to know it.

6 Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Shadow Council

6.1 The Shadow Council will elect, from amongst its number, at its first meeting, a 
Shadow Councillor to serve as Chairman of the Shadow Council for the 
Shadow Period.

6.2 Similarly, the Shadow Council will appoint the Vice-Chairman of the Shadow 
Council for the Shadow Period.

6.3 Where a vacancy occurs in respect of either office the Shadow Council will 
elect/appoint as appropriate a successor at its next meeting.

6.4 A member of the Shadow Executive Committee cannot be elected or 
appointed as Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Shadow Council while 
serving on the Shadow Executive Committee.  Otherwise any Shadow 
Councillor is eligible for election as Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Shadow 
Council.

Page 10



Draft v1.6

8

6.5 Where the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Shadow Council are both 
absent from a meeting of the Shadow Council, or a part of it, the Shadow 
Council will appoint one of their members, other than a member of the 
Shadow Executive Committee, to preside.

7 Leader and Deputy Leader of the Shadow Council

7.1 The Shadow Executive Committee will elect, from amongst its number, at the 
first meeting of the Shadow Executive Committee, a chairman and deputy 
chairman, who upon election will be the Leader and Deputy Leader of the 
Shadow Council and will hold office in accordance with paragraph 3(1) of 
Article 7.

8 Other Offices

8.1 The Shadow Council will elect other Members to fill such other offices as it 
may determine from time to time in accordance with any requirements set out 
in law or this Constitution.

9 Conduct of Shadow Councillors

9.1 All Shadow Councillors are required, at all times, to observe the Shadow 
Councillors’ Code of Conduct and to have appropriate regard to such other 
protocols, policies, guidance and advice as may be issued from time to time 
through the Shadow Council’s formal processes.

10 Shadow Councillors’ Scheme of Allowances

10.1 All Shadow Councillors shall be entitled to receive such allowances as are laid 
down from time to time in the Shadow Councillors’ Scheme of Allowances.

11 Shadow Councillor Support

11.1 The Shadow Council will also provide support to Shadow Councillors as 
appropriate to enable them to fulfil their roles and responsibilities.

Page 11



Draft v1.6

9

Article 2 - Appendix 1
COUNCILLORS OF THE SHADOW COUNCIL

For the Dorset Area Council, the Shadow Dorset Council comprises of all councillors that currently serve on Dorset County Council and the five 
district / borough councils of East Dorset, North Dorset, Purbeck, West Dorset and Weymouth & Portland. 

The Shadow Dorset Council consists of 206 councillors.  (32 councillors are dual-hatted.)

Contact details and further information about councillors are available at:
East Dorset District Council
Dorset County Council
North Dorset District Council
Purbeck District Council
West Dorset District Council
Weymouth & Portland Borough Council

East Dorset District 
Council

Dorset County 
Council

North Dorset District 
Council

Purbeck District 
Council

West Dorset District 
Council

Weymouth & Portland 
Borough Council

Number of Wards: 16 Number of Divisions: 
35 Number of Wards: 19 Number of Wards: 13 Number of Wards: 24 Number of Wards: 15

Number of 
Councillors: 29

Number of 
Councillors: 41

Number of 
Councillors: 33

Number of 
Councillors: 25

Number of 
Councillors: 42

Number of 
Councillors: 36

Shane Bartlett
Ray Bryan
Sarah Burns
Derek Burt
Steve Butler
Alex Clarke
Robin Cook
Toni Coombs
Janet Dover
Mike Dyer

Jon Andrews 
Shane Bartlett
Pauline Batstone
Derek Beer
Richard Biggs
Kevin Brookes
Cherry Brooks
Ray Bryan
Steve Butler
Andy Canning

Pauline Batstone
Bill Batty-Smith 
Derek Beer
Piers Brown
Audrey Burch
Graham Carr-Jones
Andrew Cattaway
Alexander Chase
Barrie Cooper
Deborah Croney

Malcolm Barnes
Cherry Brooks
Graham Brown
David Budd
Nigel Dragon
Fred Drane
Beryl Ezzard
Caroline Finch
Hilary Goodinge
Mike Lovell

Anthony Alford
Peter Barrowcliff
Thomas Bartlett
Sandra Brown
Nigel Bundy
Derek Bussell
Andrew Canning
Simon Christopher
Ronald Coatsworth
Patrick Cooke

Kerry Baker
Andy Blackwood
Kevin Brookes
Hazel Bruce
Ian Bruce
Mike Byatt
Jeff Cant
Francis Drake
John Ellis
James Farquharson

P
age 12

http://moderngoveddc.christchurchandeastdorset.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
http://dorset.moderngov.co.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://moderngovdcp.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/mgMemberIndexGroup.aspx?g=NDDC&m=NDDC
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/councillors/purbeck
https://moderngovdcp.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/mgMemberIndexGroup.aspx?g=WDDC&m=WDDC
https://moderngovdcp.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/mgMemberIndexGroup.aspx?g=WPBC&m=WPBC


Draft v1.6

10

Spencer Flower
Simon Gibson
Barry Goringe
Paul Harrison
K D Johnson
Gina Logan
Cathy Lugg
Steven Lugg
Barbara Manuel
David Morgan
Peter Oggelsby
David Packer
Andrew Parry
Julie Robinson
George Russell
David Shortell
Andy Skeats
Simon Tong

x1 Vacancy

Graham Carr-Jones
Andrew Cattaway
Toni Coombs
Hilary Cox
Deborah Croney
Keith Day
Janet Dover 
Jean Dunseith
Beryl Ezzard
Tony Ferrari
Spencer Flower
Katharine Garcia
David Harris
Jill Haynes
Nick Ireland
Susan Jefferies
Rebecca Knox
Steven Lugg
Jon Orrell
Andrew Parry
Mary Penfold
Bill Pipe
Byron Quayle
Mark Roberts
David Shortell
Clare Sutton
William Trite
Daryl Turner
David Walsh
Peter Wharf
Kate Wheller

Charles Dowden
Victor Fox
Jo Francis
Mike Gould
Traci Handford
Gary Jefferson
Sherry Jespersen
Andrew Kerby
Noc Lacey-Clarke
Catherine Langham
Emma Parker
Val Pothecary
Simon Pritchard
Belinda Ridout
Michael Roake
Deirdre Skipwith
Jane Somper
Jackie Stayt
John Stayt
John Tanner
David Walsh
Jane Westbrook
Peter Williams

Gloria Marsh
Wendy Meaden
Laura Miller
Tim Morris
Bill Pipe
Claire Pipe
Barry Quinn
Gary Suttle
Carol Tilling
Bill Trite
Mark Unsworth
Peter Webb
Peter Wharf
Mike Whitwam
Mike Wiggins

Keith Day
Gerald Duke
Jean Dunseith
Dominic Elliott
Terry Farmer
Robert Freeman
Ian Gardner
Robert Gould
Matthew Hall
Tim Harries
Brian Haynes 
Jill Haynes 
Fred Horsington
Susie Hosford
Stella Jones
Trevor Jones
Margaret Lawrence
Robin Legg
Frances McKenzie
Mary Penfold
Robin Potter
Molly Rennie
Cheryl Reynolds
Dave Rickard
Mark Roberts
John Russell
Jacqui Sewell
Peter Shorland
David Taylor
Alan Thacker
Daryl Turner
Timothy Yarker

Tony Ferrari
Katharine Garcia
Lucy Hamilton 
Ryan Hope
Colin Huckle
Christine James
Oz Kanji
Paul Kimber
Richard Kosior
Margaret Leicester
Penny McCartney
Richard Nickinson
Pamela Nixon
Ray Nowak
Jon Orrell
Jason Osborne
Cathy Page-Nash
Alison Reed
Gareth Rockingham
Ian Roebuck
Tia Roos
Gill Taylor
Mark Tewkesbury
Ann Weaving
Sandy West
Kate Wheller

Date:   15 May 2018

P
age 13



Draft v1.6

11

Article 3 - Rights and responsibilities of Members of the Public

1 Rights

1.1 Members of the public have the following rights in regard to the affairs of the 
Shadow Council:

(a) access to information subject to such constraints as may be imposed, by 
law and as set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 
of this Constitution;

(b) to attend meetings of the Shadow Council and its Committees and Sub-
Committees except where exempt or confidential information is likely to be 
disclosed;

(c) to attend public meetings of the Shadow Executive Committee except 
where exempt or confidential information is likely to be disclosed;

(d) to film, audio record or report on meetings of the Shadow Council and its 
Committees and Sub-Committees and the Shadow Executive Committee 
subject to guidelines published on the Shadow Council’s website and 
available at meetings;

(e) to have access to the Shadow Council’s Forward Plan of Key Decisions to 
be taken by the Shadow Executive Committee;

(f) in accordance with the statutory framework to inspect reports, background 
papers and any records of decisions made by: the Shadow Council; the 
Shadow Executive Committee; a Committee; Sub-Committee; the Leader 
or a Portfolio Holder subject to the provisions on exempt or confidential 
information applying;

(g) in accordance with the statutory framework to inspect the Shadow Council’s 
Accounts and to make their views known to the external auditors where 
appropriate;

(h) to ask questions or present petitions at designated meetings in accordance 
with such procedures as the Shadow Council may determine from time to 
time;

(i) to contribute to investigations by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
where invited to do so; and

(j) to complain to the Shadow Council where there is an alleged breach of 
the Shadow Councillors’ Code of Conduct.

2 Responsibilities of members of the public

2.1 The Shadow Council in turn expects those living within the Shadow Council’s 
area and/or receiving services not to use violent, abusive or threatening 

Page 14



Draft v1.6

12

behaviour in any form against any Shadow Councillor, Officer or persons 
acting for or on behalf of the Shadow Council.

2.2 The Shadow Council also asks that the property, assets and other resources 
of the authority, Shadow Councillors, Officers or persons acting for or on 
behalf of the Shadow Council are not wilfully harmed or damaged.

Page 15



Draft v1.6

13

Article 4 - The full Shadow Council
1 Functions

1.1 The functions of the Shadow Council are set out in the Bournemouth, Dorset 
and Poole (Structural Changes) Order 2018 (“the 2018 Order”) and in relevant 
consequential orders.

1.2 Save to the extent any provision of any Act, the 2018 Order or regulations 
under sections 9D or 9DA of the Local Government Act 2000 require 
otherwise then unless the Shadow Executive Committee requests the 
Shadow Council to discharge any function in accordance with Article 37 of the 
2018 Order, the functions of the Shadow Council conferred on the Shadow 
Council by or under the 2018 Order are delegated to the Shadow Executive 
Committee.

1.3 The Shadow Council will be responsible for the adoption of the Shadow 
Council’s budget and policy framework.  For these purposes the budget 
includes the setting of the council tax; and the policy framework means such 
plans and strategies as must by law be approved by the Shadow Council.

1.4 The Shadow Council also has the functions set out in Part 3 of this 
Constitution.

2 Shadow Council Meeting

2.1 The first meeting of the Shadow Council will be held within 14 days after the 
coming into force of the 2018 Order.

2.2 Ordinary Meetings will be held according to a calendar of meetings to be agreed 
by the Shadow Council and which will be published once agreed.

2.3 Extraordinary meetings may be called as and when required as provided in 
the Shadow Council Procedure Rules.

3 Conduct of Shadow Council Meetings

3.1 Shadow Council meetings will be conducted in accordance with the law and 
the Shadow Council Procedures Rules.

4 Responsibility for Functions

4.1 The Shadow Council will maintain a record of those Shadow Council functions 
which are the responsibility of its subordinate bodies.

Page 16



Draft v1.6

14

Article 5 - The role of the Chairman of the Shadow Council 

1 Civic Role

1.1 The Chairman of the Shadow Council, supported by the Vice-Chairman, and 
as appropriate other Shadow Councillors, will perform the civic role on behalf 
of the Shadow Council.

1.2 The civic role entails raising and maintaining the profile of the Shadow 
Council’s area, the Shadow Council and its members of the public. The office 
will promote the aims and values of the Shadow Council in an apolitical 
manner.

1.3 The Chairman will promote such civic and ceremonial functions as the 
Shadow Council or he/she may determine following consultations, where 
appropriate.

1.4 The Chairman will represent the Shadow Council at civic and ceremonial 
functions of other local authorities or involving other appropriate bodies.

2 Shadow Council Role

2.1 The Chairman will be elected by the Shadow Councillors at its first meeting. 
The Vice-Chairman is also appointed at the same meeting.

2.2 The Chairman is responsible for the following:

(a) upholding and promoting the purposes of this Constitution and interpreting 
it with appropriate advice when necessary;

(b) presiding over meetings of the full Shadow Council to ensure that 
business is carried out efficiently and effectively whilst preserving the 
rights of Shadow Councillors and the interests of members of the public;

(c) ensuring that at Shadow Council meetings matters of concern to local 
communities can be debated through the appropriate Shadow Councillors;

(d) ensuring that Shadow Councillors who are not on the Shadow Executive 
Committee or who do not hold the Chairmanship of a main Committee are 
able to hold those office holders to account;

(e) promoting public involvement in the Shadow Council’s affairs and acting 
as a contact between members of the public and organisations and the 
Shadow Council; and

(f) undertaking such other roles as may be placed upon the office from time 
to time by the Shadow Council.

Page 17



Draft v1.6

15

3 Vice-Chairman of the Shadow Council

3.1 The Vice-Chairman will support the Chairman in his/her civic role and will 
carry out civic duties as well on behalf of the civic office.

3.2 The Vice-Chairman will also deputise in the absence of the Chairman in 
carrying out the responsibilities of the office of Chairman.

Page 18



Draft v1.6

16

Article 6 – Overview and Scrutiny Committee

1 Overview and scrutiny

1.1 The Shadow Council has established arrangements for the overview and 
scrutiny of decisions or other action taken by the Shadow Executive 
Committee and others in accordance with the Local Government Act 2000 as 
applied by the 2018 Order. This Article sets out those arrangements.  It 
should be read in conjunction with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules

1.2 The Shadow Council will keep under review its overview and scrutiny 
arrangements and will make changes where it considers these are 
appropriate and will lead to improvements and an improved overview and 
scrutiny function.

2 Responsibilities of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

3.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has the functions set out in Part 3 of 
this Constitution. 

3 Membership of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

3.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall comprise 16 Shadow Councillors. 
The Chairman of the Committee will be a member of the largest minority 
political group on the Shadow Council and who will be elected by the 
members of the Committee.

3.2 No member of the Shadow Executive Committee may be a member of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee or any task and finish panels.

3.3 Any body established under these Scrutiny arrangements will be a politically 
proportionate body reflecting the overall political representation on the 
Shadow Council.

4 Conduct of Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings

4.1 Conduct of the proceedings at Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings 
shall be in accordance with the Shadow Council and Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules as appropriate.

5 Task and Finish Panels

5.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may establish such task and finish 
panels as it considers necessary after taking into account the availability of 
resources, the work programme and scope of the review. 

5.2 The Committee will appoint the Chairman (and Vice Chairman, if appropriate) 
of each panel and agree the membership.  

Page 19



Draft v1.6

17

Article 7- The Shadow Executive Committee

1 Role of the Shadow Executive Committee

1.1 The Shadow Executive Committee will carry out all of the Shadow Council’s 
duties and responsibilities which are not the responsibility of any other part of 
the Shadow Council, whether by law or under this Constitution, and in 
particular it will carry out those duties and responsibilities of the Shadow 
Executive Committee which are contained in the 2018 Order.

1.2 The Shadow Executive Committee will also exercise the functions of the 
Shadow Council that must delegated to it by the full Shadow Council under 
Article 37 of the 2018 Order.

1.3 The Shadow Executive Committee shall be responsible for making 
recommendations to the Shadow Council on the setting of a budget for the 
Dorset Council and will have the opportunity to express a view to the Shadow 
Council on the appointment of Senior Officers prior to any such appointment 
being confirmed.

2 Composition of the Shadow Executive Committee

2.1 The 2018 Order provides that the Shadow Executive Committee is to consist 
of (a) ten persons nominated by Dorset County Council, each of whom is for 
the time being a member of that Council for an electoral division other than a 
Christchurch electoral division, and (b) two persons nominated by each of the 
District/Borough Councils, each of whom is for the time being a member of the 
nominating Council.

2.2 The Chairman and Vice-Chairman of ther Shadow Executive Committee will 
be elected by the Shadow Executive Committee at its first meeting.  The 
Chairman will be the Leader of the Shadow Council and the Vice-Chairman 
will be the Deputy Leader of the Shadow Council.

2.3 Where a Shadow Executive Committee Member, other than the Leader or 
Deputy Leader, ceases to hold office, the Leader will reassign the relevant 
portfolio within the remaining Shadow Executive Committee membership from 
the date of cessation to the date of the next Shadow Executive Committee 
meeting. Where the Leader and Deputy Leader hold portfolio responsibilities 
and either cease to hold their office then the Leader or the Deputy Leader, as 
the case may be, shall reassign the relevant portfolio.

2.4 No deputy or substitution arrangements are allowed in respect of the Shadow 
Executive Committee. The Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Shadow 
Council cannot be appointed to the Shadow Executive Committee.

3 The Leader and Deputy Leader

3.1 The Leader and Deputy Leader will hold office until:

Page 20



Draft v1.6

18

(a) he/she resigns from the office of Leader or Deputy Leader (as the case 
may be);

(b) he/she becomes ineligible to be a Shadow Councillor for a specific period 
or indefinitely;

(c) he/she ceases to be a Shadow Councillor; or

(d) he/she is removed from office by a resolution of the Shadow Executive 
Committee.

3.2 Where there is a vacancy in the office of Leader, the Deputy Leader shall 
assume the responsibilities of the Leader until the next meeting of the 
Shadow Executive Committee, whether that be an Ordinary or Extraordinary 
meeting of the body.

3.3 Where both the Leader and the Deputy Leader cease to hold office at the 
same time, the Interim/Appointed Head of Paid Service shall call a meeting of 
the Shadow Executive Committee as soon as possible for the purpose of 
electing a new Leader and Deputy Leader.

4 Other Shadow Executive Committee Members

4.1 Other members of the Shadow Executive Committee shall hold office until any 
of the events listed in paragraph 3.1 above for ending the term of office of the 
Leader apply to them collectively or individually as Shadow Executive 
Committee Members.

5 Proceedings of the Shadow Executive Committee

5.1 All proceedings of the Shadow Executive Committee and its Committees shall 
be conducted in accordance with the Shadow Executive Committee 
Procedure Rules set out in this Constitution.

6 Responsibility for Functions

6.1 The Leader can exercise any executive power.  Alternatively, the Leader may 
arrange for the discharge of any executive functions by: the Shadow 
Executive Committee; another member of the Shadow Executive Committee; 
a committee of the Shadow Executive Committee; or an officer of the Shadow 
Council.  

6.2 If the Leader is unavailable, absent or there is a vacancy in the post of the 
Leader, the Deputy Leader can exercise any executive power.

6.3 Unless the Shadow Executive Committee requests the Shadow Council to 
discharge any function in accordance with Article 37 of the 2018 Order, the 
Shadow Executive Committee can exercise any function of the Shadow 
Council conferred on the Shadow Council by or under the 2018 Order save to 
the extent any provision of any Act, the 2018 Order or regulations under 

Page 21



Draft v1.6

19

section 9D or 9DA of the Local Government Act 2000 require otherwise.  

6.4 Any Member of the Shadow Executive who has been allocated a portfolio by 
the Leader (“Portfolio Holder”) can exercise any executive power that falls 
within that portfolio, the scope of which the Leader will determine. The Leader 
may amend or revise those portfolios at any time.

6.5 The Leader and Deputy Leader may have a portfolio responsibility 

6.6 The Leader, Deputy Leader, Shadow Executive Committee and any Portfolio 
Holder can delegate powers to the extent as provided for in Part 1A of the 
Local Government Act 2000.  The arrangements set out in this Constitution 
reflect those currently agreed.  Further, the Shadow Executive Committee can 
also delegate its powers to any Officer of the Shadow Council, Dorset County 
Council and/or a District Council as defined in the 2018 Order.

6.7 The Leader will ensure that a record is kept of the Shadow Executive 
Committee functions which are the responsibility of each Portfolio Holder, any 
committee or sub-committee of the Shadow Executive Committee, or officers 
or under any joint arrangements.

6.8 Where a delegation arrangement is made under paragraph 6.7 above, it shall 
not preclude the body or person delegating the function, or part of it, from 
exercising that function on giving notice in writing to that body or person.

Page 22



Draft v1.6

20

Article 8 - Other Committees

1 Other Committees

1.1 The Shadow Council will appoint the following other Committees to take such 
decisions which are not within the responsibilities of the Shadow Executive 
Committee:

Committee Shadow Councillors

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 16

Senior Appointments Committee 8

Standards Committee 8

Independent Remuneratoion Panel will comprise the members of the Dorset 
Councils’ existing remuneration panels

1.2 The Shadow Council may appoint other Committees, Sub-Committees and 
Special Committees with delegated powers to act under specific terms of 
reference which must be set out in the Minutes. 

1.3 To the extent that any committees are not exercising executive functions the 
provisions of sections 15-17 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 
and the Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 
1990 will apply to their membership.

2 Powers of Committees 

1.1 The Committees shall have the functions set out in Part 3 of this Constitution.

1.2 A Committee may, at any time, decline to exercise a delegated power. The 
matter must then be considered and determined by the Shadow Council as 
appropriate.

3 Conduct of Committee Meetings 

3.1 Committee meetings will be conducted in accordance with the law and Parts B 
and C the Meeting Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

Page 23



Draft v1.6

21

Article 9 – Joint Arrangements

9.1 There are no joint arrangements.

Page 24



Draft v1.6

22

Article 10 - Arrangements for promoting good standards of 
behaviour

1 Adoption of a code of conduct for Shadow Councillors

1.1 The Shadow Council has adopted the Code of Conduct for Shadow 
Councillors set out in Part 5.

2 Application of the Code of Conduct

2.1 The Code of Conduct will apply to all Shadow Councillors when they are 
acting as a member of the Shadow Council or hold themselves out as doing 
so.

3 Alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct

3.1 Any allegations that a Shadow Councillor has breached the Code of Conduct 
are to be reported to the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer who, after 
consulting the Independent Person, will refer the allegation to the Standards 
Committee for assessment and determination if he/she is statisfied that:

(a) the allegation is about a Shadow Councillor;

(b) the Shadow Councillor was a member of the Shadow Council at the time 
when the matters that led to the allegation occurred;

(c) the Shadow Councillor was a member of the Shadow Council at the time 
of the allegation; 

(d) the Shadow Councillor is still a member of the Shadow Council; and

(e) the matters that led to the allegation would, if proven, be capable of 
breaching the Shadow Council’s Code of Conduct.

3.2 If the allegation fails to meet any of the criteria in paragraph 3.1 above, the 
Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer will not take any further action other than 
to advise the person who made the allegation.

3.3 Before referring the allegation to the Standards Committee, the 
Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer will notify the member against who the 
allegation has been made of the allegation and invite the Shadow Councillor 
to provide a response.

3.4 In making its assessment and determination the Standards Committee will 
consider the information provided by the person making the allegation and 
any representations received from the Shadow Councillor.  If further 
information is required the Standards Committee may request it.  There is a 
presumption that allegations will be dealt with “on the papers” and without the 
need for a formal investigation.

Page 25



Draft v1.6

23

3.5 The Standards Committee may:

(a) reject the allegation;

(b) take no further action;

(c) require the Shadow Councillor to make a public apology; or

(d) censure the Shadow Councillor.

3.6 The Standards Committee will give reasons for its decision.

3.7 For the purposes of this Article, references to “the Independent Person” are to 
a person chosen by the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer from among all 
of the Independent Persons appointed by each of the Dorset Councils under 
section 28(7) of the Localism Act 2011 as part of their arrangements under 
which decisions on allegations are made. 

Page 26



Draft v1.6

24

Article 11 - Officers

1  Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole (Structural Changes) Order 2018

1.1. Article 28 of the 2018 Order makes provision for the Shadow Council to: 
designate officers to the posts of Interim Monitoring Officer; Interim Chief 
Finance Officer and to be its Interim Head of Paid Service; and at any time 
before 1 April 2019 to appoint a person to become Dorset Council’s 
Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance Officer or Head of Paid Service.

1.2 The roles and functions of those officers are set out in the 2018 Order.

1.3 The Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer may appoint, in writing, further 
deputies as he/she considers appropriate.

1.4 The Interim/Appointed Chief Finance Officer may appoint, in writing, a deputy 
as appropriate.

2 Functions of the Interim/Appointed Head of the Paid Service

2.1 The Head of the Paid Service will report to the full Shadow Council on the 
manner in which the Shadow Council develops its functions and the co-
ordination of those functions. He/she also has statutory functions in relation to 
staff.

3 Functions of the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer

3.1 The Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-to-date version of 
the Constitution and will ensure that it is widely available for consultation by 
Shadow Councillors, staff and the public.

3.2 After consulting with the Interim/Appointed Head of Paid Service, the 
Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer will report to the full Shadow Council, (or 
to the Shadow Executive Committee in relation to an Shadow Executive 
Committee function), if he/she considers that any proposal, decision or 
omission would give rise to unlawfulness or if any decision or omission would 
give rise to a finding of maladministration. Such a report will have the effect of 
stopping the proposal or decision being implemented until the report has been 
considered.

3.3 He/she will contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high standards of 
conduct.

3.4 He/she will provide advice to all Shadow Councillors on issues in relation to 
the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, 
financial impropriety and probity.

4 Functions of the Interim/Appointed Chief Finance Officer

4.1 After consulting with the Interim/Appointed Head of Paid Service and the 

Page 27



Draft v1.6

25

Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer, the Interim/Appointed Chief Finance 
Officer will report to the full Shadow Council (or to the Shadow Executive 
Committee in relation to an Shadow Executive Committee function) and the 
Shadow Council’s external auditor if he/she considers that any proposal, 
decision or course of action will involve incurring unlawful expenditure, or is 
unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency or if the Shadow Council is 
about to enter an item of account unlawfully.

4.2 He/she in consultation will have overall responsibility for the administration of 
the financial affairs of the Shadow Council.

4.3 He/she will contribute to the corporate management of the Shadow Council, in 
particular, through the provision of professional financial advice.

4.4 He/she will provide advice on issues to all Shadow Councillors in relation to 
the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, 
financial impropriety and probity issues and will support and advise Shadow 
Councillors and officers in their respective roles.

4.5 He/she will provide financial information to the media, members of the public 
and the community.

5 Duty to provide sufficient resources to the Interim/Appointed 
Monitoring Officer and Interim/Appointed Chief Finance Officer

5.1 The Shadow Council will provide these officers with such officers, 
accommodation and other resources as are in their opinion sufficient to allow 
their duties to be performed in their statutory roles.

6 Conduct

6.1 Officers will comply with any Protocol on Member/Officer Relations that has 
ben adopted by the Shadow Council.

7 Employment

7.1 The recruitment, selection and dismissal of officers will comply with the Staff 
Employment Procedure Rules as set out in this Constitution.

Page 28



Draft v1.6

26

Article 12 - Decision Making

1 General

1.1 The Shadow Council will keep an up-to-date record, which shall be available 
for public inspection, of who has responsibility for making decisions in relation 
to Shadow Council functions and services.

1.2 All decisions of the Shadow Council will be made in accordance with the law, 
this Constitution and the principles set out below.

2 Types of Decision and the Decision-Takers

2.1 The Shadow Council will take all decisions which it has reserved to itself or 
which it is required to take by law.

2.2 The Shadow Executive Committee will take all decisions including Key 
Decisions which it is required to determine as required by law or because the 
Shadow Council has decided to delegate the matter to the Shadow Executive 
Committee.

2.3 Other Committees, Sub-Committees, Officers of the Central Implementation 
Team and Officers of the Shadow Council will take such decisions as are 
delegated to them by the Shadow Council or the Shadow Executive 
Committee.

3 Decision Making Procedures

3.1 In taking decisions the full Shadow Council, the Shadow Executive 
Committee, Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and other Committees and 
Sub-Committees will follow the Shadow Council’s Procedure Rules and in 
particular as follows:

(a) Shadow Council – Meeting Procedure Rules Parts A and C;

(b) Shadow Executive Committee - Shadow Executive Committee Procedure 
Rules and Meeting Procedure Rule Part C;

(c) Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules, and Meeting Procedure Rules Parts B and C; and

(d) Committees and Sub-Committees - Meeting Procedure Rules Parts B and 
C.

4 Definition of Key Decision

4.1 A Key Decision means:

“a decision which, is likely –

Page 29



Draft v1.6

27

(a) to result in the relevant local authority incurring expenditure which is, or 
the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the relevant 
local authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision 
relates; or

(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in 
an area comprising two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area of 
the relevant local authority.”

In determining the meaning of “significant” for these purposes the Shadow 
Council will have regard to any guidance for the time being issued by the 
Secretary of State in accordance with section 9Q of the Local Government Act 
2000 Act .

Page 30



Draft v1.6

28

Article 13 - Legal Matters

1 Legal Proceedings

1.1 The Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer is authorised to institute, defend or 
participate in any legal proceedings or to take such other action where such 
action is necessary to give effect to decisions of the Shadow Council or in any 
case where he/she considers that such action is necessary to protect or 
further the Shadow Council’s interests.

2 Document Authentication

2.1 Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or proceedings on 
behalf of the Shadow Council, it will be signed by the Interim/Appointed 
Monitoring Officer or other person authorised by him/her unless any 
enactment otherwise authorises or requires, or the Shadow Council has given 
requisite authority to some other person.

2.2 In the absence of any authority given to a specific officer, whether by this 
Constitution or in any other manner, all contracts entered into on behalf of the 
Shadow Council. may be signed by any one or more of the following:

(a) the Interim/Appointed Head of Paid Service;

(b) the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer; and/or

(c) the Interim/Appointed Section 151 Officer.

3 Address for service of documents

3.1 Documents to be served on the Shadow Council may be addressed to the 
Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer at the main office of the Shadow Council.  
For this purpose and all purposes connected with this Constitution the 
Shadow Council’s main office is at the main office of the Council employing 
the Interim Head of Paid Service or the Appointed Head of Paid Service once 
employed by any of the Councils mentioned in Article 2 paragraph 1.1.

Page 31



Draft v1.6

29

Article 14 - Review, Revision, Suspension, Interpretation and 
Publication of the Constitution

1 Review

1.1 The Interim/Appointed/ Monitoring Officer and Interim/Appointed Chief 
Finance Officer will monitor and review the operation of the Constitution to 
ensure that the aims and principles of the Constitution are given full effect.

2 Changing the Constitution

2.1 The:

(a)    Shadow Council;

(b) the Leader; and

(c)    the Shadow Executive Committee,

may all authorise changes to the Constitution to the extent that the 2018 
Order and the law allows provided only that the Leader may not alter the 
voting arrangements of the Shadow Executive Committee as set out in this 
Constitution save with the approval of the Shadow Executive Committee.

  
2.2 The Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer may make amendments to the 

Constitution in consultation with the Leader:

(a)  where he/she considers this necessary and/or expedient to reflect 
legislative change, secure consistency, address any legal ambiguity 
and/or other legal issue and/or address any uncertainty in interpretation; 
or

(b) for any other reason, provided that any such amendment does not seek to 
remove any reserved power of the Shadow Council and/or the Shadow 
Executive Committee and confirmation of such amendments are reported 
to the next available meeting of the Shadow Council.

3 Suspension of the Constitution

3.1 The Articles of this Constitution may not be suspended. However, the 
Procedure Rules set out in this Constitution may be suspended by the full 
Shadow Council to the extent permitted within those Rules and the law.

3.2 A motion to suspend any rules cannot be moved without notice, unless at 
least one half of the whole number of Shadow Councillors is present. The 
extent and duration of suspension will be proportionate to the result to be 
achieved, taking into account the purposes of the Constitution set out in 
Article 1.

Page 32



Draft v1.6

30

4 Interpretation

4.1 The ruling of the Chairman of the Shadow Council as to the construction or 
application of this Constitution or as to any proceedings of the Shadow 
Council shall not be challenged at any meeting of the Shadow Council. Such 
interpretation will have regard to the purposes of this Constitution.

5 Publication

5.1 The Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer:

(a) will give each Shadow Councillor access to an electronic copy of this 
Constitution;

(b) will ensure that a copy of this Constitution is made available on the 
Shadow Council’s website;

(c) will ensure that copies are available for inspection at Shadow Council 
Main Office, and other appropriate locations, and can be purchased by 
members of the local press and the public on payment of a reasonable 
fee;

(d) will ensure that the summary of the Constitution is made widely available 
within the area and is updated as necessary; and

(e) will provide to any Shadow Councillor, upon request, a copy of the 
Constitution.

Page 33



Draft v1.6

31

PART 3 - 

RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS

Page 34



Draft v1.6

32

Responsibility for Functions

1 General

1.1 The Shadow Council has the functions set out in Part 6 of the 2018 Order and 
in particular it will have the following responsibilities:

(a) to commence and sustain its running as a Shadow Council;

(b) to prepare the Shadow Council for the assumption of local government 
functions and full local authority functions and powers on 1 April 2019;

(c) to prepare any budgets or plans required beyond 1 April 2019 when those 
functions and powers are assumed;

(d) to liaise with East Dorset District Council; North Dorset District Council; 
Purbeck District Council; West Dorset District Council; Weymouth and 
Portland Borough Council and Dorset County Council; and the 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council Shadow Council for the 
purposes of ensuring continuity of public service delivery on and after 1 

April 2019;

(e) to take all such practical steps as are necessary or expedient to liaise with 
the other local authorities within its area for the purposes of ensuring 
continuity of public service delivery on and after 1 April 2019; and

(f) to exercise any of the Local Government Act 1972 functions referred to in, 
and in accordance with, Part 6 of the Order.

1.2 The powers and functions of the Shadow Council are therefore limited and, 
consequently, the powers and functions of its Shadow Executive Committee, 
committees, sub-committees and other decision-making bodies are similarly 
limited. The responsibilities for functions described in this Part of the 
Constitution must therefore be considered in this context. However, upon the 
assumption of full local authority functions and powers on 1 April 2019, these 
responsibilities will increase. 

Until that date, Dorset County Council and the district/borough councils within 
the Shadow Council’s area will continue to have responsibility for local authority 
functions within their areas.

1.3 The Shadow Council is required in this Constitution to set out the allocation of 
responsibilities for its functions.

1.4 The following paragraphs cover functions which are:

(a) the responsibility of the Leader and the Shadow Executive Committee;

(b) the responsibility of Portfolio Holders; and

Page 35



Draft v1.6

33

(c) the responsibility of the Shadow Council and/or its Committees/Sub-
Committees; and
 

(d) the responsibility of Officers.

1.5 Where a function is not specified as being the responsibility of the Shadow 
Council, a Committee, Sub-Committee, or officer that function shall, unless 
otherwise proved to the contrary by law, be the responsibility of the Leader.

1.6 The exercise of any power or duty is subject to compliance with the law, the 
provisions of this Constitution, sufficient budgetary provision having been 
made. 

1.7 Any reference to a function or matter includes a reference to all statutory 
powers about that function or matter whether directly or indirectly and 
authority to exercise all such powers. 

1.8 Any reference in the scheme of delegation to an Act of Parliament or statutory 
instrument includes a reference to any amendment, modification or statutory 
re-enactment (with or without modification). 

1.9 Where a power or duty of the Council has been delegated the delegation 
includes any action that may be incidental to the exercise of the power or 
duty. 

2 Functions of the Leader and the Shadow Executive Committee

2.1 The functions to be exercised by the Leader or Shadow Executive Committee 
are set out in Article 7 of this Constitution.  Where the Leader or the Shadow 
Executive Committee is exercising a Shadow Executive Committee function, 
in whole or in part, the Leader or the Shadow Executive Committee is 
empowered to take all necessary and appropriate decisions to fulfil the 
obligations placed upon them subject to any restrictions or constraints 
imposed by the law or this Constitution

3 Responsibilities of Portfolio Holders.

3.1 Where the Leader has allocated a portfolio to an individual member of the 
Shadow Executive Committee and the Portfolio Holder is exercising a function 
falling within the scope of the Portfolio, in whole or in part, they are 
empowered to take all necessary and appropriate decisions to fulfil the 
obligations placed upon them by the Leader subject to any restrictions or 
constraints imposed by the law or this Constitution.

4 Responsibilities of committees of the Shadow Executive Committee

4.1 Where the Leader has arranged for an executive function to be exercised by a 
committee of the Shadow Executive Committee the committee is empowered 
to take all necessary and appropriate decisions to fulfil the obligations placed 

Page 36



Draft v1.6

34

upon it by the Leader subject to any restrictions or constraints imposed by the 
law or this Constitution.

5 Functions of the Shadow Council

5.1 The functions of the Shadow Council are set out in Article 4 of Part 2 but 
include:

(a) approving a budget for the Dorset Council and the setting of the council 
tax for its area; 

(b) adopting the Shadow Council’s Constitution in accordance with the 
requirements of section 9P of the Local Government Act 2000;

(c) appointing the:

 Chairman of the Shadow Council;

 Vice Chairman of the Shadow Council;

 Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of Committees, Sub-Committees and 
Special Committees; and

 such other offices as may be required by or under the 2018 Order or 
this Constitution;

(d) adopting the Shadow Council’s Codes of Conduct for Shadow Councillors 
and Officers and the Protocol on Member/Officer Relations;

(e) where permitted by the law, will make arrangements for appointments to 
outside bodies;

(f) carrying out all duties specified in and comply with the2018 Order where 
the Shadow Executive Committee has given notice under Article 37 of the 
2018 Order;

(g) approving the Shadow Councillors Allowance Scheme including any 
pension provision for Members following advice from any Independent 
Remuneration Panel;

(h) appointing/dismissing the Interim/Appointed Head of Paid Service, 
designating an officer to act as Interim Monitoring Officer and Interim/ 
Chief Finance Officer, and the appointment/dismissal of a person to the 
position of appointed Monitoring Officer and appointed Chief Finance 
Officer in accordance with the 2018 Order; and

(i) may determine other matters which may from time to time be submitted to 
it for determination, either by resolution or through approved procedures, 
where such matters do not fall within the functions of the Shadow 
Executive Committee.

Page 37



Draft v1.6

35

6 Regulatory Committees

6.1 Until the Shadow Council assumes local government functions and full local 
authority powers on 1 April 2019, in accordance with the 2018 Order, the 
Shadow Council will not exercise any regulatory powers and functions. The 
Shadow Council will, however, take such practical steps as are necessary or 
expedient to prepare the Shadow Council for the assumption of such 
regulatory functions and powers.

7 Responsibility of the Senior Appointments Committee

7.1 The Senior Appointments Committee normally has responsibility for:

(a) Undertaking the selection process for the appointment, and formulating 
recommendations to the Shadow Council in relation to the appointment 
and dismissal of the Head of the Paid Service; and before 1 April 2019 the 
appointmentof persons to be the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance 
Officer of the Dorset Council in accordance with the with the appropriate 
procedures set out in the Staff Employment Procedure Rules;

(b) undertaking the selection, appointment and dismissal processes for any 
other staff in accordance with the appropriate procedures set out in the 
Staff Employment Procedure Rules;

(c) hearing and determining any appeals by staff under the Shadow Council’s 
approved personnel policies and procedures including through any 
appointed Sub-Committee;

(d) hearing and dealing with disputes registered with the Shadow Council by 
recognised Trade Unions.

7. Responsibility of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

7.1 The Shadow Council shall have one Overview and Scrutiny Committee, which 
may commission task and finish groups to undertake scrutiny projects. The 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee will specifically:

(a) discharge the Shadow Council’s functions under Section 9F of the Local 
Government Act 2000;

(b) oversee the Shadow Council’s overall overview and scrutiny function 
including the preparation, implementation, monitoring and review of an 
annual work programme for overview and scrutiny;

(c) establish such task and finish groups, appointing the Chairman with such 
membership as it sees fit, to undertake overview and scrutiny on a task and 
finish basis;

(d) ensure that officers discharge their responsibilities effectively and 

Page 38



Draft v1.6

36

efficiently in relation to the overview and scrutiny function;

(e) scrutinise decisions of the Shadow Executive Committee, and offer advice 
or make recommendations on the matter under scrutiny once the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee have considered the issues;

(f) refer to the Shadow Council, the Shadow Executive Committee or 
appropriate Committee/Sub- Committee any matter which, following 
scrutiny, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee determines should be brought 
to the attention of the Shadow Council, Shadow Executive Committee or 
the Committee or Sub-Committee;

(g) if requested, offer any views or advice to the Shadow Executive 
Committee in relation to any matter referred to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for consideration;

(h) undertake general policy reviews with a cross-service and milti- 
organisational approach wherever possible and make recommendations 
to the Shadow Council or the Shadow Executive Committee to assist in 
the development of future policies and strategies;

(i) in performing its role, the Committee may consult and involve the local 
community and other local public, private and voluntary bodies or 
organisations;

(j) review the Shadow Council’s response to its obligations in respect of the 
overall performance management regime and where appropriate advise 
the Shadow Executive Committee and the Shadow Council of its findings;

(k) scrutinise decisions after implementation to examine their effect and 
outcomes;

(l) develop, maintain and monitor policies and procedures for handling 
complaints made against the Shadow Council and monitor on a regular 
basis the level and nature of complaints received and ensure that advice 
is formulated regarding action to be taken to address areas of concern;

(m) monitor the level and nature of Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman complaints and advise the Shadow Executive Committee, 
Committees, Sub-Committees and officers on remedial action as 
appropriate; and

(n) ensure that the Shadow Council has in place appropriate mechanisms to 
protect organisational Integrity including the development of appropriate 
policies and guidance.

8. Responsibility of the Standards Committee

8.1 The Standards Committee is responsible for assessing and determining 
allegations that Shadow Councillors have breached the Shadow Council’s 

Page 39



Draft v1.6

37

Code of Conduct in accordance with Article 10 of this Constitution.  

9 Independent Remuneration Panel

9.1 The 2018 Order requires the Shadow Council to prepare and make a scheme 
for the payment of allowances to its Shadow Councillors.  The Independent 
Remuneration Panel shall have the functions given by Regulation 21 of the 
Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003.

10 Powers of Officers

10.1 The Shadow Council and its Shadow Executive Committee may delegate 
such powers, responsibilities and decisions to any of its own officers, or to any 
officers of the Dorset County Council or the District Councils as defined in the 
2018 Order. 

10.2 The Interim/Appointed Head of Paid Service shall have the power to take:

(a) all necessary action for the effective day-to-day management, operation 
and/or administration of the Shadow Council and for the efficient 
discharge of the professional responsibilities of his/her office; 

(b) any action required to implement a decision of the Shadow Council, the 
Leader, the Shadow Executive Committee, a Portfolio Holder or any 
committee or sub-committee; 

(c) in consultation with the Leader, unless the Leader is unavailable or 
absent, any urgent action as may be appropriate in connection with any of 
the executive or non-executive functions of the Shadow Council; and

(d) without prejudice to the above, any action for the purposes of agreeing  
the terms and entering into any secondment agreements under section 
113 of the Local Governmenta Act 1972 and/or any arrangements for the 
purposes of securing the provisions of any goods and/or services whether 
pursuant to the Local Authorities (Goods and Services) Act 1970 or 
otherwise. 

10.3 The Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer, and the Interim/Appointed Chief 
Finance Officer have the statutory powers which are set out in the 2018 Order 
together with the power:

(a) to take all necessary action within their areas of responsibility for the 
effective day-to-day management, operation and/or administration of the 
Shadow Council and for the efficient discharge of the professional 
responsibilities of their office; 

(b) to take any action within their areas of responsibility required to implement 
a decision of the Shadow Council, the Leader, the Shadow Executive 
Committee, a Portfolio Holder or any committee or sub-committee;

Page 40



Draft v1.6

38

(c) without prejudice to the above, to take any action for the purposes of 
agreeing the terms and entering into any secondment agreement under 
section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972 and/or any arrangements 
for the purposes of securing the provision of any goods and/or services 
whether pursuant to the Local Authorities (Goods and Services) Act 1970 
or otherwise; and

(d)  to exercise any power of the interim/Appointed Head of Paid Service if 
unavailable, absent and/or any such post is vacant.

7.1.When exercising delegated powers officers:

(a) must comply with the Shadow Council’s Financial and other relevant 
Procedure Rules and with the law;

(b) may authorise expenditure only which is in accordance with approved 
estimates and which does not require an approval which has not been 
authorised or received; 

(c) save to the extent that the determining officer considers necessary in 
order to give effect to a matter to which delegation 10.3 (c) above relates 
shall comply with approved policies, schemes or directions of the Shadow 
Council, Leader. Shadow Executive Committee or of any Committee and 
shall not depart from such policies, schemes or directions; and 

(d) shall consult with the appropriate professional or technical officer(s) of the 
Shadow Council or the Dorset Councils (as defined in the 2018 Order).

7.3. Delegation to officers does not affect the powers of the Shadow Council, 
Leader, Shadow Executive Committee or any Committee at any time to 
decide upon any delegated matter.

7.4. Officers may refer issues on which they have delegated power to the body or 
person by whom the.delegation was given.

7.5. Authority to take decisions and other action including the signing of 
documents and the requirement to arrange consultations shall be undertaken 
on behalf of the Shadow Council in the name of the officer to whom the 
authority to act is given, but need not necessarily be personally by them.

7.6. Any specific delegation to the Interim/Appointed Head of Paid Service, 
Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer or the Interim/Appointed Chief Finance 
Officer (including power to act as the Proper Officer), may be exercised by 
another Officer specifically designated in writing by the Interim/Appointed 
Head of Paid Service, Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer or the 
Interim/Appointed Chief Finance Officer to whom the delegation applied 
initially, in accordance with any general directions issued and included in such 
written authorisation.

Page 41



Draft v1.6

39

7.7. Neither the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer’s nor the Interim/Appointed 
Chief Finance Officer’s statutory responsibilities may be delegated, although 
they may each appoint a member of their staff to carry out those functions in 
their absence. 

Page 42



Draft v1.6

40

PART 4-
PROCEDURE RULES

Page 43



Draft v1.6

41

A. Access to Information Procedure Rules

1 General

1.1 These rules apply to all meetings of the Shadow Council, its Committees and 
Sub-Committees and to public meetings of the Shadow Executive Committee.

1.2 In these Rules the word “meeting” means a meeting or meetings of any of 
those bodies unless specifies otherwise.

1.3 These rules do not affect any other specific rights to information contained 
elsewhere in this Constitution or the law.

1.4 Members of the public may attend all public meetings subject to the 
exceptions contained in these Rules.

1.5 Members of the press and public are also entitled to film, audio record and 
report on meetings of the Shadow Council, Committees and Shadow 
Executive Committee, except in circumstances where the public have been 
excluded as permitted by law.  Any such filming, audio recording or reporting 
shall be in accordance with any guidelines published by the Shadow Council 
on its website or made available at the meeting.

2 Notice of Meetings

2.1 The Shadow Council will give, wherever possible, at least five clear working 
days’ notice of any such meeting by publicising, including by electronic 
means, relevant details.

2.2 A copy of the official notice will also be published on the Shadow Council’s 
website.

3 Agenda and Supporting Papers - Rights of Access

3.1 Copies of the Agenda and supporting papers will be made available on the 
Shadow Council’s website, for inspection by the public at least five clear 
working days before the meeting. Where an item is added to an Agenda at a 
later date, a supplementary agenda will be made available, with any 
supporting papers, to the public as soon as possible.

3.2 The Shadow Council will supply on request copies of any agenda and reports 
which are open to public inspection, and if the Interim/Appointed Monitoring 
Officer thinks fit, copies of any further documents supplied to Shadow 
Councillors relating to that item.

3.3 The Shadow Council may require any person to make a payment in advance 
covering postage and costs connected to the supply of the papers in Rule 3.2 
above.

Page 44



Draft v1.6

42

4 Access to Decision Records, Minutes, Agenda and Supporting 
Papers after a meeting

4.1 The Shadow Council will make electronically available, for a period of six 
years from the date of the meeting:

(a) the minutes of the meeting where, under these rules or the Constitution 
Minutes are required to be made, excluding any part of the minutes 
relating to the conduct of business when the public were not present or 
where exempt or confidential information would be disclosed;

(b) the records of decisions taken, together with reasons by the Shadow 
Executive Committee, excluding any part of the record relating to the 
conduct of business when the public were not present or where exempt or 
confidential information would be disclosed.

(c) where information relating to a decision is considered in private, a 
summary of the proceedings to provide a reasonably fair and coherent 
record will be provided excluding any information which is of a confidential 
or exempt nature; and

(d) the agenda and supporting papers covering items which were considered 
when the public were entitled to be present.

5 Background Documents

5.1 The Officer, in whose name an item is to be submitted for decision, will set out 
in the agenda a list of the background documents which in his/her opinion:

(a) relates to the subject matter of the item in question;

(b) discloses any facts or matters on which the agenda item or an important 
part of it has been based; and 

(c) has been relied upon to a material extent in preparing the agenda item.

5.2 The requirements in Rule 5.1 above do not apply to or include any published 
works or any document in whole or in part which would disclose confidential or 
exempt information.

5.3 Background documents which have been made available for public inspection 
will continue to be available for a period of four years from the date the 
decision is made.

6 Definition of Confidential and Exempt Information

6.1 For the purposes of these Rules the definitions of confidential and exempt 
information are set out below.

Page 45



Draft v1.6

43

6.2 Confidential Information means information supplied or given to the Shadow 
Council by a Government Department on terms which forbid its disclosure to 
the public or is information which cannot be disclosed to the public by Order of 
the Courts.

6.3 Exempt Information is information falling within any of the categories set out in 
Appendix 1 subject to the conditions noted in that Appendix.

7 Exclusion of the Public from Meetings 

Confidential Information – Requirement to Exclude

7.1 The public will be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely, in view of the 
nature of the business to be transacted or the proceedings, that confidential 
information, as described in Rule 6.2 above will be disclosed.

Exempt Information – Discretion to Exclude

7.2 In the case of exempt information, the public may be excluded from a meeting 
where Rule 6.3 and Appendix 1 applies.

8 No public right of access to agenda papers

8.1 The Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer, where he/she considers it 
necessary, may refuse access by the public to any agenda or supporting 
papers which in his/her opinion relate to items during which, in accordance 
with Rule 7 above, the meeting is likely not to be open to the public. Any such 
papers will be clearly marked “Not for Publication” and will contain the 
category of information to be disclosed as set out in Appendix 1 to these 
Rules. Similar provisions apply to the disclosures of documents related to 
decisions of the Shadow Council, including the Shadow Executive Committee.

9 The Shadow Executive Committee: Application of these Rules

9.1 Rules 10 to 20 will apply to the Shadow Executive Committee and any 
Committees or Sub-Committees which it may establish from time to time.

9.2 Where the Shadow Executive Committee, including a Committee or Sub-
Committee of the Shadow Executive Committee meet to discuss a Key 
Decision, with an officer or officers present, within 28 days of the date 
according to the Forward Plan by which it is to be decided, then the Shadow 
Executive Committee must comply with Rules 1 to 8 above unless Rules 12 
(general exception) or 13 (special urgency) apply. This requirement does not 
apply where the sole purpose of the meeting is for officers to brief Shadow 
Councillors.

Page 46



Draft v1.6

44

10 Procedure before taking a Key Decision

10.1 Subject to Rules 12 or 13, a Key Decision cannot be taken unless:

(a) a notice (“the Forward Plan”) has been published in connection with the 
matter in question and made available by the public at the main office of 
the Shadow Council ; 

(b) at least 28 clear calendar days have elapsed since publication of the 
Forward Plan, and

(c) where the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Shadow Executive 
Committee, including a Committee or Sub-Committee of the Shadow 
Executive Committee, public notice of the meeting has been given under 
Rule 2 above.

11 The Forward Plan

11.1 The Forward Plan will be prepared on behalf of the Leader on a monthly basis 
to cover a four-month period beginning with the first day of any month. The 
Forward Plan will be rolled forward and published each month to cover the 
four-month period beginning again with the new date of publication. There will 
be instances where it is impracticable to include an item in the Forward Plan. 
In this case Rule 12 or 13 below will apply

11.2 The Forward Plan will contain such matters as the Leader has reason to 
believe will be Key Decisions to be taken by the Leader, the Shadow 
Executive Committee, a Portfolio Holder, a Committee or Sub-Committee of 
the Shadow Executive Committee, an Officer in the course of the discharge of 
an Shadow Executive Committee function during the period covered by the 
Forward Plan.

11.3 The Forward Plan will describe in respect of each matter the following 
particulars:

(a) the matter relating to the decision to be made;

(b) the name and title of the decision taker if an individual, or the name and 
details of the membership where the decision taker is a body;

(c) the date on which, or the period within which, the decision will be taken;

(d) the identity of the principal groups whom the decision taker proposes to 
consult before taking the decision;

(e) the means by which any such consultation is proposed to be undertaken;

(f) the steps any person might take to make representations to the Shadow 
Executive Committee or decision taker about the matter before the 

Page 47



Draft v1.6

45

decision is made, and the date by which those steps must be taken; 

(g) a list of the documents to be submitted to the decision taker for 
consideration in relation to the matter;

(h) the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction on their 
disclosure, copies of, or extracts from, any document listed in the forward 
plan is available;

(i) that other documents relevant to the matter may be submitted to the 
decision taker; and 

(j) the procedure for requesting details of those documents (if any) as they 
become available.

11.4 Where in relation to any matter where the public may be excluded from a 
public meeting under Rule 7, or documents relating to the decision need not 
be disclosed to the public, the Forward Plan must contain the particulars of 
the matter, but may not contain any confidential information, exempt 
information or particulars of the advice of a political adviser or assistant.

12 General exception for Key Decisions

12.1 If a matter which is likely to be a Key Decision has not been included in the 
Forward Plan then, subject to Rule 13, the decision may still be taken if:

(a) the decision has to be taken by such a date that it is impracticable to defer 
the decision until it can be included in the next Forward Plan and until the 
start of the first month to which the next Forward Plan relates;

(b) the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer has informed the Chairman of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, or if there is no such person, each 
member of that Committee in writing, by notice, of the matter to which the 
decision is to be made;

(c) the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer has made copies of that notice 
available to the public at the main office of the Shadow Council; and

(d) at least five clear working days have elapsed since the Interim/Appointed 
Monitoring Officer complied with his/her obligations under this paragraph.

12.2 Where such a decision is taken by the Shadow Executive Committee, it must 
be taken in public subject to any requirements relating to the disclosure of 
confidential or exempt information and the exclusion of the public.

13 Special urgency for Key Decisions

13.1 If by virtue of the date by which a key decision must be taken, the 
requirements of Rule 12 above cannot be followed, then the decision can only 
be taken if the decision taker (if an individual) or the Chairman of the body 

Page 48



Draft v1.6

46

taking the decision, obtains the agreement of the Chairman of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee that the taking of the decision cannot be reasonably 
deferred. If there is no Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or if 
he/she is unable to act, then the agreement of the Chairman of the Shadow 
Council, or in his/her absence the Vice Chairman will suffice.

13.2 In addition to the requirement for the Chairman to agree to the matter being 
dealt with as urgent business, the Chairman and Spokespersons of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be consulted, and may comment, on 
the subject matter of the decision itself

14 Report to Shadow Council

14.1 If the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is of the opinion that a Key Decision 
has been taken which was not:

(a) included in the Forward Plan; or

(b) the subject of the general exception procedure under Rule 12 above; or

(c) the subject of an agreement with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Chairman, or the Chairman/Vice Chairman of the Shadow Council under 
Rule 13 above;

the Committee may require the Shadow Executive Committee to submit a 
report to the Shadow Council within such reasonable time as the Committee 
specifies.

14.2 In response to any requirement under Rule 14.1 above, the Shadow 
Executive Committee will prepare a report for submission to the next available 
meeting of the Shadow Council. However, if the next meeting of the Shadow 
Council is within 7 days of the resolution of the Committee, then the report 
may be submitted to the subsequent meeting. The report to the Shadow 
Council will set out particulars of the decision, the individual or body taking the 
decision, and if the Shadow Executive Committee is of the opinion that it was 
not a key decision, the reasons for that opinion.

15 Record of  decisions of the Shadow Executive Committee

15.1 After any meeting of the Shadow Executive Committee or any of its 
Committees or Sub- Committees, whether held in public or private, the 
Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer or their nominee, or or, where no officer 
was present, the person presiding at the meeting, will normally produce as 
soon as practicable an electronic record of every decision taken at that 
meeting. The record will include:

(a) a record of the decision including the date it was made;

(b) a record of the reasons for the decision;

Page 49



Draft v1.6

47

(c) details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the
decision taker;

(d) a record of any conflict of interest relating to the matter decided which is 
declared by any member of the decision taker; and

(e) in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of any dispensation 
granted by the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer.

16 Shadow Executive Committee Meetings relating to matters which 
are not Key Decisions

16.1 The Shadow Executive Committee will decide whether meetings relating to 
matters which are not key decisions will be held in public or private.

17 Meeting of the Shadow Executive Committee in private

17.1 Where a meeting of the Shadow Executive Committee, including a Committee 
or Sub- Committee of the Shadow Executive Committee, is to be held in 
private under these Rules, at least 28 clear days before the meeting, the the 
Shadow Executive Committee shall make available at the main office of the 
Shadow Council a notice of its intention to hold a meeting in private giving 
reasons as to why the meeting is to be held in private.

17.2 At least five clear days before the meeting, the Shadow Executive Committee 
must make available at the main office of the Shadow Council a further notice 
of its intention to hold a meeting in private containing: the reasons as to why 
the meeting is to be held in private; details any representations received by 
the Shadow Executive Committee about why the meeting should be open to 
the public; and a statement of the Shadow Executive Committee’s response 
to any such representations.

17.3 All Members of the Shadow Executive Committee shall be entitled to be given 
five clear working days’ notice of the meeting, whether or not they are 
summoned to attend, unless the meeting is convened at shorter notice on 
urgency grounds.

17.4 Copies of the notices required by Rules 17.1 and 17.3 shall be sent to the 
Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

17.5 Where the date by which a private meeting must be held makes compliance 
with Rules 17.1 and 17.2 impracticable, the meeting may only be held in 
private where the Shadow Executive Committee has obtained agreement 
from:

(a) the chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; or

(b) if there is no such person, or if the chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 
committee is unable to act, the chairman of the Shadow Council; or

Page 50



Draft v1.6

48

(c) where there is no chairman of either the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or of the Shadow Council able to act, the vice-chairman of the 
Shadow Council,

that the meeting is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred.

18 Attendance at private meetings of the Shadow Executive 
Committee

18.1 Any Member of the Shadow Executive Committee may attend a private 
meeting of a Committee or Sub-Committee of the Shadow Executive 
Committee whether or not they are members of that body unless the body 
determines otherwise.

18.2 Any Shadow Executive Committee member who is not a member of such a 
Committee or Sub-Committee shall be entitled to speak with the consent of 
the person presiding but not to vote.

19 Officer attendance at Shadow Executive Committee Meetings

19.1 The Head of the Paid Service, the Interim/Appointed Chief Finance Officer 
and the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer, or their nominees, are entitled to 
attend any meeting of the Shadow Executive Committee. The Shadow 
Executive Committee cannot meet unless the Interim/Appointed Monitoring 
Officer has been given reasonable notice that a meeting is to take place. This 
provision also applies to Committees and Sub-Committees of the Shadow 
Executive Committee.

19.2 A private meeting of the Shadow Executive Committee, including a Committee 
or Sub- Committee of the Shadow Executive Committee, may only take place 
in the presence of the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer or his/her 
nominee, who shall have responsibility for recording and publicising any 
decisions.

20 Decisions by Portfolio Holders

20.1 Where an individual member of the Shadow Executive Committee receives a 
report which he/she intends to take into account in making any key decision, 
then he/she will not make the decision until at least five clear working days 
after receipt of that report.

20.2 On giving of such a report to a Portfolio Holder, the person who prepared the 
report will give a copy of it to the chair of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
as soon as reasonably practicable, and make it publicly available at the same 
time.

20.3 As soon as reasonably practicable after an executive decision has been taken 
by a Portfolio Holder, a written record of the decision must be produced which 
must include the following:

Page 51



Draft v1.6

49

a)  a record of the decision including the date it was made;

b) a record of the reasons for the decision;

c) details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the member;

d) a record of any conflict of interest relating to the matter decided which is 
declared by any member of the Shadow Executive Committee who is 
consulted by the member which relates to the decision; and

e) in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of any dispensation 
granted by the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer.

20.4 The provisions of Rules 4 and 5 will also apply to the making of decisions by 
Portfolio Holders. This does not require the disclosure of exempt or 
confidential information or advice from a political assistant.

21 Record of executive and non-executive decisions taken by officers

21.1 As soon as reasonably practicable after an officer has made a decision which 
is an executive decision (ie the responsibility of the Shadow Executive 
Committee) a written statement will be prepared including:

(a) a record of the decision including the date it was made;

(b) a record of the reasons for the decision;

(c) details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the officer 
when making the decision;

(d) a record of any conflict of interest declared by any executive member who 
is consulted by the officer which relates to the decision; and

(e) in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of dispensation 
granted by the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer.

21.2 Any record prepared in accordance with Rule 21.1 and any report considered 
by the officer and relevant to the decision will be available for public 
inspection at the main office of the Shadow Council and on the Shadow 
Council's website.

21.3 Rules 21.1 to 21.2 do not apply to day to day administrative or operational 
decisions taken by officers in connection with the discharge of functions which 
are the responsibility of the Shadow Executive Committee.

21.4 As soon as reasonably practicable after an officer has made a decision under 
an express delegation from the Shadow Council, its Committees, Sub 
Committees or any Joint Committee in which the Shadow Council is involved 
or under a general delegation from one of these bodies where the effect of the 

Page 52



Draft v1.6

50

decision is to grant a permission or licence, affect the rights of an individual or 
award a contract or incur expenditure, which in either case materially affects 
the Shadow Council’s position a written statement will be prepared including:

(a) a record of the decision including the date it was made;

(b) a record of the reasons for the decision;

(c) details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the officer 
when making the decision;

(d) a record of the name of any Shadow Councillor or local government body 
who has declared an interest (for decisions taken under an express 
delegation).

21.5 Any record prepared in accordance with rule 21.4 together with any 
background papers considered by the officer and relevant to the decision will 
be available for public inspection at the main office of the Shadow Council and 
on the Shadow Council's website.

21.6 Rules 21.4 to 21.5 do not apply to:

(a) routine administrative and organisational decisions;

(b) decisions on operational matters such as day to day variations in services;

(c) decisions if the whole or part of the record contains confidential or exempt 
information; and

(d) decisions that are already required to be published by other legislation, 
provided the record published includes the date the decision was taken 
and the reasons for the decision.

22 Access to documents - Overview and Scrutiny Committee

22.1 Subject to Rule 22.4 below, any  member of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is entitled to copies of any document which is in the possession or 
control of the Leader, the Shadow Executive Committee including its 
Committees and Sub-Committees and which contains material relating to:

(a) any business transacted at a public or private meeting of the Shadow 
Executive Committee including any of its Committees and Sub-
Committees; 

(b) any decision taken by an individual member of the Shadow Executive 
Committee; or 

(c) any executive decision taken by an officer in accordance withPart 3 of this 
Constitution.

Page 53



Draft v1.6

51

22.2 Where a member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee (including its sub-
committees) requests a document which falls within Rule 22.1 the Leader 
must provide that document as soon as reasonably practicable and in any 
case no later than 10 clear working days after the Leader receives the 
request.

22.3 Subject to Rule 22.4 the chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 
entitled to see papers in relation to private decisions of the Shadow Executive 
Committee before the decision is made.

22.4 Where the Leader so determines, a member of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee will not be entitled to:

(a) any document that is in draft form;

(b) any such document or part of a document that contains exempt or 
confidential information, unless that information is relevant to an action or 
decision he/she is reviewing or scrutinising or any review contained in any 
programme of work of the Committee; 

(c) the advice of a political advisor.

Where the Leader determines that a member of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is not entitled to a copy of a document, or part of any such 
document, for the reasons set out above the Leader must provide the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee with a written statement setting out their 
reasons for that decision.

23 Additional rights of access for Shadow Councillors

23.1 All Shadow Councillors will be entitled to inspect any document which is in the 
possession or under the control of the Leader and or the Shadow Executive 
Committee including its Committees or Sub-Committees and contains material 
relating to any business to be transacted at a public meeting; any business 
previously transacted at a private meeting; any decision made by an individual 
member; or an executive decision by an officer unless in the opinion of the 
Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer it contains exempt information falling 
within the categories of exempt information as set out in the Appendix; or it 
contains the advice of a political advisor.

23.2 All Shadow Councillors will be entitled to inspect any document (except those 
available only in draft form) in the possession or under the control of the 
Leader or the Shadow Executive Committee including its Committees and 
Sub-Committees which relates to any Key Decision unless Rule 22.1 above 
applies.

23.3 In relation to public meetings, where a document is required to be available 
for inspection by all Shadow Councillors under Rule 23.1 it must be available 
for at least 5 clear working days before the meeting except where the meeting 
is convened at shorter notice or an item is added to an agenda at shorter 

Page 54



Draft v1.6

52

notice in which case the document must be available for inspection when the 
meeting is convened or the item is added to the agenda.

23.4 In relation to private meetings, decisions made by an individual member or 
executive decisions made by an officer, where a document is required to be 
available for inspection by all Shadow Councillors under Rule 23.1 it must be 
available within 24 hours of the meeting concluding or where an executive 
decision is made by an individual member or an officer within 24 hours of the 
decision being made.

23.5 These rights of a Shadow Councillor are additional to any other right he/she 
may have.

Page 55



Draft v1.6

53

Appendix 1 - Descriptions of Exempt Information

Exempt information means information falling within the following categories (subject 
to any qualification):

(1) Information relating to any individual.

(2) Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.

(3) Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information).

(4) Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 
consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter 
arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or 
office holders under, the authority.

(5) Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings.

(6) Information which reveals that the authority proposes—

(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements 
are imposed on a person; or

(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment.

(7) Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime.

Qualifications

Information falling within the above descriptions is not exempt information if it is 
required to be registered under:

(a) the Companies Act 1985;

(b) the Friendly Societies Act 1974;

(c) the Friendly Societies Act 1992;

(d) the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 1978;

(e) the Building Societies Act 1986; or

(f) the Charities Act 1993.

Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed development for which 
the local planning authority may grant itself planning permission pursuant to 

Page 56



Draft v1.6

54

regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992.

Information which

(a) falls within any of the descriptions above; and

(b) is not prevented from being exempt by the previous two qualifications is 
exempt information if and so long, as in all the circumstances of the case, the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information.

Page 57



Draft v1.6

55

B. Shadow Executive Committee Procedure Rules

1 Meetings of the Shadow Executive Committee

1.1 The Shadow Executive Committee will meet as indicated in the Shadow 
Council’s programme of meetings. The Shadow Executive Committee or the 
Leader may agree to change the date of any programmed meeting, to cancel 
a meeting or to arrange additional meetings as it/he/she sees fit. Locations of 
meetings will be published in the calendar of meetings.

1.2 The Shadow Executive Committee may meet in public or in private, subject to 
legal requirements and the Access to Information Procedure Rules set out in this 
Constitution.

1.3 The Leader will chair meetings of the Shadow Executive Committee or in 
his/her absence, the Deputy Leader will preside. Where both the Leader and 
Deputy Leader are absent, the Members present, may appoint one member of 
the Shadow Executive Committee to chair that meeting.

1.4 All Members of the Shadow Executive Committee shall be entitled to attend 
meetings of the Shadow Executive Committee unless the Shadow Executive 
Committee determine otherwise.

1.5 Attendance by other Members of the Shadow Council or the public shall be in 
accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules, by invitation 
under Rule 1.6 below, or as set out Rules 4.1 to 4.2 below.

1.6 The Shadow Executive Committee may invite any person it/he/she consider 
appropriate, to its meetings to discuss matters of mutual interest or concern or 
to advise. Such persons may only be given access to confidential and/or 
exempt information on terms to be decided by the Interim/Appointed 
Monitoring Officer so as to ensure that the Access to Information Procedure 
Rules are observed

2 Quorum at meetings of the Shadow Executive Committee 

2.1 No business shall be transacted where at any time during the meeting of the 
Shadow Executive Committee, or a committee or sub-committee established 
by the Shadow Executive Committee, there are fewer than one third of 
members of the Shadow Executive Committee, a committee or sub-committee 
of the Shadow Executive Committee present or less than three Dorset 
Councils are represented at that meeting.

3 Taking of decisions by the Shadow Executive Committee

3.1 Shadow Executive Committee decisions, including those taken under 
delegated powers, shall not take effect until they have been recorded in 
writing, as required under the Access to Information Procedure Rules, and 
shall not be implemented where the right of call-in has been exercised until 

Page 58



Draft v1.6

56

the call-in process has been concluded. Records of Shadow Executive 
Committee decisions must be confirmed at the next meeting.

4 Members attending and speaking at Shadow Executive Committee 
Meetings

4.1 The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to 
attend any formal public meeting of the Shadow Executive Committee and to 
speak to any matter on the agenda for that meeting.

4.2 Other Members not previously described above may also speak at such 
meetings with the permission of the Leader or person presiding in his/her 
absence.

5 Business at Shadow Executive Committee Meetings

5.1 The business to be transacted at meetings of the Shadow Executive 
Committee will be set out in an Agenda for the meeting in question, subject to 
any requirements or exemptions under the Access to Information Procedure 
Rules.

5.2 The Agenda may be supported by additional papers prepared by the Officers 
or by or on behalf of other bodies, subject to requirements about disclosure of 
confidential or exempt information.

5.3 The Shadow Executive Committee is obliged to consider matters referred to it 
by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, or by the Full Shadow Council for 
consideration under the Scrutiny Rules.

5.4 The Access to Information Procedure Rules will apply to notice of meetings, 
agendas, and access to reports and background papers.  Where matters are 
for decision, the Agenda must stipulate those which are Key Decisions and 
those which are not, in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure 
Rules.

5.5 The Shadow Executive Committee will, at each formal meeting, confirm the 
record of decisions taken at its previous meeting as a correct record.

5.6 The Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer or his/her nominated Officer shall be 
responsible for preparing and distributing the Agenda for Shadow Executive 
Committee meetings, attending meetings for the purpose of advising the 
Shadow Executive Committee on matters within his/her area of responsibility 
and recording decisions as required under this Constitution.   

5.7 In taking decisions, the Shadow Executive Committee must satisfy itself that it 
has before it adequate and appropriate advice from its service, legal and 
financial advisers who shall be present at any meeting where a decision is 
being taken and that that advice is taken into consideration in determining the 
matter. Where there is any doubt about vires or probity then advice must be 

Page 59



Draft v1.6

57

obtained from the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer and the 
Interim/Appointed Chief Finance Officer.

5.8 Any member of the Shadow Executive Committee may require the 
Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer to place an item on the Agenda for a 
stipulated meeting of the Shadow Executive Committee.

5.9 The Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer will ensure that any matters referred 
to the Shadow Executive Committee by the Shadow Council or the Shadow 
Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee are placed on the Agenda for the 
next appropriate meeting of the Shadow Executive Committee.

5.10 Any Shadow Councillor may request the Leader to place an item on the 
agenda of a meeting of the Shadow Executive Committee. The Leader shall 
have sole discretion as to whether or not to accede to such a request and, if 
such a request is granted, whether the Member in question can speak to the 
item at the meeting in question.

5.11 The Head of the Paid Service, the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer and/or 
the Interim/Appointed Chief Finance Officer can include an item for 
consideration on the agenda of a Shadow Executive Committee Meeting. In 
pursuance of their statutory duties they can require that a special meeting of 
the Shadow Executive Committee be convened.

5.12 Business cannot be conducted at formal meetings of the Shadow Executive 
Committee unless it is included in the agenda for the meeting. Where it is 
urgent, the requirements of the Access to Information Procedure Rules must 
be complied with.

5.13 The Shadow Executive Committee will report to the Shadow Council as 
required under the Access to Information Procedure Rules on any matter 
which is classified as a Key Decision and is dealt with under special urgency 
procedures.

5.14 Questions can be submitted by members of the public at meetings of the 
Shadow Executive Committee in accordance with Shadow Council Procedure 
Rule 35 and Appendix 6 of the Shadow Council Procedure Rules.

6 Voting at Shadow Executive Committee Meetings

6.1 Voting at Shadow Executive Committee meetings will be by a show of hands 
and any Member may require, immediately after the vote is taken, that the 
Minutes of the meeting record how he/she voted or abstained. Where there 
are equal votes cast, the Leader or in his/her absence, the person presiding 
will have a second and casting vote. 

6.2 Voting for any office or appointment, including any paid appointment, where 
more than one person is nominated shall be in accordance with Shadow 
Council Meeting Procedure Rule 16.

Page 60



Draft v1.6

58

7 Shadow Executive Committee Committees/Sub-Committees

7.1 The Shadow Executive Committee may appoint such Committees or Sub-
Committees as it considers necessary and appropriate to assist in the 
discharge of its functions. In making such appointments, the Shadow 
Executive Committee must specify the name of the Committee/Sub-
Committee, its membership (including its Chairman and, if appropriate, Vice-
Chairman) and the terms of reference of the body.

8 Motion under Meeting Procedure Rule 12

8.1 a mover of a motion under Meeting Procedure Rule 12 which has been 
referred to the Shadow Executive Committee for consideration may attend the 
meeting of the Shadow Executive Committee when his/her motion is under 
consideration and explain the motion. The mover of the motion will be advised 
of the date and time of the meeting when the matter is to be considered and 
he/she will be sent an electronic copy of the relevant papers.

9 Resolving disputes

9.1 In the case of any dispute during the proceedings of the Shadow Executive 
Committee the relevant parts of this Constitution will apply and after 
considering the application of the relevant provisions, the person presiding at 
the meeting will rule on the issue in question and his/her ruling will be final.

10 Reserves/substitute members

10.1 There shall be no reserve or substitute members of the Shadow Executive 
Committee.

11 Approval of urgent  business

11.1 Where any matter is urgent and cannot await the next meeting, the lead 
officer of the Central Implementation Team may take the necessary action, 
provided that he/she has first consulted the Leader (or Deputy Leader if 
he/she is not available).

12 Conflicts of Interest

12.1 Where the Leader or any Shadow Executive Committee Member has a 
conflict of interest, he will follow the requirements of the Shadow Council’s 
Code of Conduct for Members.

12.2 If all (or a majority) of the Members of the Shadow Executive Committee 
present have a conflict of interest then consideration will be given to applying 
to the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer for a dispensation from the 
provisions of the Code.

Page 61



Draft v1.6

59

12.3 If the discharge of a Shadow Executive Committee function has been 
delegated to another body or individual and a conflict of interest arises, then it 
will fall to the body or individual who delegated the matter to take the decision. 
Where that body or individual also has a conflict of interest then action set out 
in Rule [3.2] shall be considered.

Page 62



Draft v1.6

60

C. Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules

1 Work Programme

1.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will consult with other parts of the 
Shadow Council as appropriate, including the Shadow Executive Committee, 
on the preparation of any work programme.

1.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will take into account any views 
expressed following consultation under Rule 3.1 above in drawing-up and 
agreeing any work programme. It should also take into account the resources, 
both officer and financial, available to support its proposals.

1.3 Once any programme has been approved, a copy will be sent to all Members 
of the Shadow Council and all relevant officers.

1.4 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall respond, as soon as it may 
consider it is possible to do so, to requests from the Shadow Council and the 
Shadow Executive Committee, to review particular areas of Shadow Council 
activities. Where it does so, it will report its findings and any recommendations 
back to the Shadow Executive Committee and/or Shadow Council in 
accordance with Rule 4 below.

2 Agenda for meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

2.1 Matters to be considered will be set out in an Agenda, together with 
appropriate and relevant supporting papers.

2.2 Any member of the Committee shall be entitled to require, in writing, that an 
item be included on the agenda, and such item shall appear on the agenda for 
the next meeting of the Committee in question. The Committee will decide 
how the item should be considered and whether or not it can be included in its 
work programme.

2.3 Similarly, the Leader or a Portfolio Holder may give notice in writing requiring 
an item to appear on an agenda of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
relating to their area of responsibilities. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
will decide how the item should be considered and whether or not it can be 
included in its work programme.

2.4 Subject to Shadow Council Procedure Rule 34 and Appendix 5 of the Shadow 
Council Procedure Rules, any other Shadow Councillor may give notice in 
writing to the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer, requesting an item to 
appear on an agenda of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The item shall 
be included after consulting the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.

2.5 Any Shadow Councillor raising an item under Rules 2.2, 2.3 or 2.4 above shall 
be precluded from raising the matter again for a period of 12 months from the 

Page 63



Draft v1.6

61

date it is considered by the Committee.

3 Policy Review and Development

3.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has a key role in policy and budget 
development in the approach to the creation of the Dorset Council.

4 Reports from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

4.1 Once recommendations have been formed, the overview and scrutiny 
committee will submit a formal report for consideration by the Shadow 
Executive Committee or where the Leader has delegated decision-making to 
a Portfolio Holder, the Portfolio Holder (if the proposals relate to an executive 
function and are consistent with the existing budgetary and policy framework), 
or to the Shadow Council as appropriate (if the recommendation would 
require a departure from or a change to the agreed budget and policy 
framework).

4.2 The Shadow Council or the Shadow Executive Committee shall consider the 
report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee within two months (or next 
available meeting in the case of the Shadow Council) of it being submitted.

4.3  Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee submit a report for 
consideration by a Portfolio Holder, the Portfolio Holder must consider the 
report and respond in writing to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee within 
two months of receiving it. The Portfolio Holder will also attend a future 
meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to present their response.

5 Access to the Forward Plan

5.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will have access to the Shadow 
Executive Committee’s Forward Plan and timetable for decisions and 
intentions for consultation.

6 Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Committee members to 
documents

6.1 In addition to their rights as Shadow Councillors, members of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee have the additional right of access to documents, and 
to notice of meetings as set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules 
in Part 4 of this Constitution.

7 Shadow Councillors and Officers giving account

7.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may scrutinise and review decisions 
made or actions taken in connection with the discharge of any Shadow 
Council function. As well as reviewing the documentation, in fulfilling its 
scrutiny role, it may require the Leader or anyPortfolio Holder, to attend before 
it to explain in relation to matters within their remit:

Page 64



Draft v1.6

62

(a) any particular decision or series of decisions;

(b) the extent to which the actions taken implement Shadow Council policy; 
and/or

(c) their performance,

and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required.

7.2 Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee requires an officer to attend to 
answer questions or discuss issues, this will be agreed with the lead officer of 
the Central Implementation Team.

Where it is agreed that an officer should appear to answer questions, their 
evidence should, as far as possible, be confined to questions of fact and 
explanation relating to policies and decisions. Officers may explain:

(a) what the policies are;

(b) the justification and objectives of those policies as the Shadow Executive 
Committee sees them;

(c) the extent to which those objectives have been met; and

(d) how administrative factors may have affected both the choice of policy 
measures and the manner of their implementation.

7.3 Officers may be asked to explain and justify advice they have given to the 
Shadow Executive Committee prior to decisions being taken. They may also be 
asked to explain and justify decisions they have taken under delegation powers 
from the Shadow Executive Committee.

7.4 Officers should not be expected and should avoid being drawn into 
discussions of politically contentious matters and any officer input should be 
consistent with the requirements for political impartiality.

7.5 The requirements of any protocols on Member/Officer relationships and the 
Code of Conduct must be adhered to where an officer is attending the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

7.6 Where any Shadow Councillor or Officer is required to attend the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee under this provision, the Chairman of that Committee 
will inform the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer, who will inform the 
Shadow Councillor or Officer in writing giving at least ten clear working days’ 
notice of the meeting. The notice will state the nature of the item on which 
he/she is required to attend to give account and whether any papers are 
required to be produced for the Committee. Where the account to be given to 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will require the production of a report, 
then the Shadow Councillor or Officer concerned will be given reasonable and 

Page 65



Draft v1.6

63

sufficient notice to allow for its preparation.

7.7 Where, in exceptional circumstances, the Shadow Councillor or Officer is 
unable to attend on the required date, then the Committee shall, in 
consultation with the Shadow Councillor or Officer, arrange an alternative date 
for attendance.

8 Attendance by others

8.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may invite individuals other than those 
referred to in Rules 7.1 and 7.2 to address it, discuss issues of local concern 
and/or answer questions.

9 Call-in

9.1 This Rule shall apply to a decision of the Shadow Executive Committee, the 
Leader, Portfolio Holder or an officer that is a Key Decision and there are 
reasonable grounds to suggest that it has not been made in accordance with 
the law.

9.2 When a decision is made by the Shadow Executive Committee, or a 
Committee or Sub- Committee of the Shadow Executive Committee, or a Key 
Decision is made by an officer with delegated authority from the Shadow 
Executive Committee, the decision shall be published, by electronic means, 
and shall be available at the main offices of the Shadow Council normally 
within 2 clear working days of being made. All members of the Shadow 
Council will be sent an electronic record of all such decisions within the same 
timescale.

9.2 Subject to Rules 9.3, 9.4 and any urgency provisions a decision taken and to 
which Rule 9.1 above refers will not come into force, and may not be 
implemented, until the expiry of 5 clear working days after the decision was 
made and recorded.

9.3 Where a decision referred to in Rule 9.1 has been made, any 20 or more 
Shadow Councillors, who are not members of the Shadow Executive 
Committee, provided those Shadow Councillors include members from more 
than one political party may submit a call-in notice, in writing, within the period 
specified in Rule 9.2 above, to the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer. 
Where the notice is valid, the decision cannot be implemented until the 
procedures in this section have been followed. Where a valid notice is 
received the decision shall stand referred to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for advice

9.4 Where as a result of a corporate electronic system failure or planned 
shutdown, which prevents the issuing of or access to Shadow Executive 
Committee decisions or the submission of a call-in notice by electronic means 
in accordance with the Shadow Council’s call-in provisions, the periods for 
notification or submission shall be extended by the period of delay, provided 
that period is in excess of four hours. When, in the opinion of the 

Page 66



Draft v1.6

64

Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer, the period of delay is likely to extend 
beyond two clear working days, he/she shall agree with the Chairman of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, alternative arrangements to avoid any 
delay in implementing Shadow Executive Committee decisions not subject to 
“call-in”.

9.5 The decision will be referred to the first available meeting of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, subject to the Access to Information Procedure Rules.

9.6 The Committee, having considered the matter, may decide to offer no advice 
and in which case the decision may be implemented immediately. Where 
advice is offered, the Shadow Executive Committee will reconsider the 
decision as set out in Rule 9.8.

9.7 Once the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has decided to offer advice or not 
to offer advice, no further call-in notices may be served in respect of that 
matter subject to the decision in question. This does not prevent the matter 
being scrutinised further by the Committee after the decision has been 
implemented in accordance with these rules.

9.8 Where a matter is considered and advice is offered by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, its advice will be submitted to the Shadow Executive 
Committee for a decision to be made on the matter. The Shadow Executive 
Committee shall consider the advice, but shall not be bound to accept it in 
whole or in part. It shall have sole discretion to decide on any further action to 
be taken in relation to the decisions in question, including confirming with or 
without amendment, of the original decision or deferment pending further 
consideration, or making a different decision. There are no further rights to 
enable a Shadow Councillor to submit a call-in notice. The decision may then 
be implemented.

9.9 A submitted call-in notice can only be withdrawn with the written consent of all 
of its signatories.

9.10 The “call-in” facility does not apply to the determination of a Motion under 
Meeting Procedure Rule 12 (Notices of Motion) – Appendix 2

.
10 Call-in and Urgency

10.1 The call-in procedure set out above shall not apply where the decision being 
taken by the Shadow Executive Committee the Leader, Portfolio Holder or an 
officer is urgent. A decision will be urgent if any delay, caused by the call-in 
process, would be likely to seriously prejudice the Shadow Council’s or the 
public’s interests. The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or, 
in his/her absence, the Chairman of the Shadow Council must agree that the 
decision should be treated as urgent, and that the call-in procedure should not 
apply. In the absence of the Chairman, the Vice-Chairman’s consent shall be 
required. In the absence of both, the Interim/Appointed Head of Paid Service 
or his/her nominee’s consent shall be required.

Page 67



Draft v1.6

65

11 Councillor Call for Action

11.1 Any member of the Shadow Council may submit a Councillor Call for Action 
using the appropriate form. The Councillor Call for Action is intended to be a 
process of last resort and therefore a member must demonstrate that 
reasonable steps have been taken to resolve the matter including a response 
from the relevant Portfolio Holder and the Interim/Appointed Head of Paid 
Service or his/her nominee. The Councillor Call for Action will be placed on 
the agenda of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. It is for the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee to determine how it wishes to respond to the 
Councillor Call for Action and in the case of refusal to undertake a review then 
reasons must be provided.

12 The Party Whip

12.1 It is generally accepted that the Party Whip should be suspended in respect of 
Scrutiny matters. However, when considering any matter in respect of which a 
member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is subject to a formal party 
whip, the Shadow Councillor must declare the existence of the whip, and the 
nature of it before the commencement of the Committee’s deliberations on the 
matter. The declaration, and the detail of the whipping arrangements, shall be 
recorded in the Minutes of the meeting.

13 Task and Finish Panels

13.1 The Committee may appoint such task and finish panels as it considers 
appropriate to undertake specific tasks on its behalf, with the same powers as 
the Committee. Whilst these will be on a task and finish basis in most cases, 
the Committee is not precluded from establishing such Panels on a more 
permanent basis subject to regular review. Task and finish panel members do 
not have to be members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, but may 
not be members of the Shadow Executive Committee.

13.2 Where the Committee establish any Panel under Rule 13.1 above, it will set 
out the name of the Panel, its membership (including the Chairman and, if 
appropriate, the Vice-Chairman) and the terms of reference including relevant 
dates for completion of the task or review.

14 Procedure at Overview and Scrutiny Committee Meetings

14.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall consider the following business:

(a) record of the last meeting;

(b) consideration of any matter referred to the Committee by the Shadow 
Council or by the Shadow Executive Committee;

(c) consideration of any matter referred to the Committee for advice in 
relation to call-in or a decision;

Page 68



Draft v1.6

66

(d) responses of the Shadow Executive Committee on reports of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and

(e) the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting.

14.2 Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee conducts investigations (e.g. 
with a view to policy development), the Committee may also ask people to 
attend to give evidence at its meetings, which are to be conducted in 
accordance with the following principles:

(a) the investigation be conducted fairly and all members of the Committee be 
given the opportunity to ask questions of attendees, and to contribute and 
speak;

(b) those assisting the Committee by giving evidence be treated with respect 
and courtesy; and

(c) the investigation be conducted so as to maximise the efficiency of the 
investigation or analysis.

14.3 Following any investigation or review, the Committee shall prepare a report for 
submission to the Shadow Executive Committee and/or Shadow Council as 
appropriate and shall, unless there are exceptional reasons, make its report 
and findings public.

Page 69



Draft v1.6

67

D. Meeting Procedure Rules

Part A – Shadow Council meetings

1 Shadow Council meetings

1.1 The Shadow Council will decide when its meetings will take place. Details will 
be contained in a calendar of meetings which will be approved by the Shadow 
Council.

1.2 Meetings will be held at a time and a place (or places) to be agreed by the 
Shadow Council. The Chairman, or the Shadow Council, can agree to hold a 
meeting at a different place or time.

1.3 A special meeting can be called by resolution or by the Chairman, or 20 
Shadow Councillors comprising more than one political group can ask the 
Chairman, in writing, to call a special meeting. If the Chairman does not 
agree, then those Shadow Councillors can call the meeting by giving written 
notice to the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer. The Interim/Appointed 
Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Chairman, may also call a special 
meeting.

2 Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Shadow Council

2.1 At its first meeting, the Shadow Council will elect its Chairman and appoint its 
Vice-Chairman for the Shadow Period.

2.2 The Chairman of the Shadow Council, or in his/her absence the Vice- 
Chairman (who will have the same powers and duties as the Chairman), will 
preside at meetings of the Shadow Council. Where both the Chairman and 
Vice-Chairman are absent, the Shadow Council will appoint anotherShadow 
Councillor, other than a member of the Shadow Executive Committee, to chair 
the meeting, who will have the same powers and duties as the Chairman.

3 Quorum

3.1 No business shall dealt with at a Shadow Council meeting if there are fewer 
than one third of the number of Shadow Councillors present.  Where the 
meeting has started, and the number of Shadow Councillors present is fewer 
than one third of the number of Shadow Councillors, the Chairman will 
adjourn the meeting. Where the Chairman does not give a date and/or time, 
all business not completed will be considered at the next meeting.

4 What the Shadow Council can decide

4.1 The Shadow Council will decide such matters as required by the law, and 
those matters set out in Part 3 of this Constitution.

Page 70



Draft v1.6

68

5 Order of business 

5.1 Business shall be dealt with in the order in which it is set out in the agenda 
unless the Shadow Council decides otherwise.

6 Urgent business

6.1 Business cannot be dealt with at a Shadow Council meeting unless it is 
included in the Summons or unless the Chairman has agreed that it is urgent 
and cannot wait until the next meeting. The Chairman must give the reasons 
for urgency, which must be recorded in the Minutes of the meeting.

7 Confirmation of Minutes

7.1 Minutes of the last Shadow Council meeting must be confirmed at the next 
ordinary meeting of the Shadow Council.

7.2 Only matters relating to the accuracy of the Minutes can be raised, which 
must be done by way of a motion which is proposed, seconded and voted 
upon. Where no issues are raised, or after the motion has been dealt with, the 
Chairman shall sign the Minutes.

8 Record of Shadow Executive Committee Decisions and Minutes of 
Committees and Sub-Committees

8.1 The Record of Decisions of the Shadow Executive Committee and the 
Minutes of any other Committees will be submitted to the next ordinary 
meeting of the Shadow Council.

8.2 The Record of Decisions will be noted and the Minutes will be received by a 
decision of the Shadow Council.

8.6 Any question about the accuracy of any matter before the Shadow Council 
from the Shadow Executive Committee or a Committee must be considered 
and determined by the Shadow Executive Committee or that Committee at its 
next meeting. It is not a matter for the Shadow Council.

9 Matters for decision by the Shadow Council

9.1 All matters for decision by the Shadow Council (except any Notices of Motion 
under Meeting Procedure Rule 12 and any urgent items) shall be included 
with the agenda.

9.2 When the item is reached on the agenda, the Leader, the relevant Portfolio 
Holder or the Chairman of the relevant Committee will, where appropriate, 
move the recommendation or advice of the Shadow Executive Committee or 
Committee, or endorsement of a Shadow Executive Committee or a 
Committee decision. Another Shadow Councillor may second the motion and 
may reserve the right to speak until later in the debate.

Page 71



Draft v1.6

69

9.3 The Chairman cannot ask the Shadow Council to agree to withdraw a 
recommendation of the Shadow Executive Committee or a Committee under, 
Appendix 3, paragraph 10, unless new and relevant information has become 
available after the decision of the body concerned. The information must be 
disclosed to the Shadow Council.

10 Motions moved without notice

10.1 Appendix 1 lists those motions and amendments which can be moved at a 
Shadow Council meeting without notice.

11 Questions by Members at Shadow Council meetings

11.1 A Shadow Councillor may ask the Chairman, Leader, the Portfolio Holder or 
the Chairman of a Committee any question about a matter which the Shadow 
Council, the Shadow Executive Committee or the Committee has powers, 
duties or responsibilities.

11.2 Questions, which are to be limited to 50 words or fewer, must be sent in 
writing to the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer at least three clear working 
days before the meeting.  

11.3 The Chairman may agree to take urgent questions where he considers that it 
has not been possible for a Shadow Councillor to give the required notice, 
provided that a copy of the question is given to the Interim/Appointed 
Monitoring Officer before the meeting starts.

11.4 A question will be rejected by the Chairman in consultation with the 
Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer where it:

(a) does not relate to a matter for which the Shadow Council /committee has 
a responsibility or which affects the Shadow Council’s administrative area;

(b) is defamatory, frivolous, offensive, vexatious, unlawful or otherwise
improper: 

(c) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information;  

(d) names or identifies individual service users, members of staff or members 
of staff of partner agencies; or

(e) is considered to be inappropriate for the particular meeting.

11.5 A Shadow Councillor may ask no more than one question at any meeting. 

11.6 Subject to Rule 11.5 questions will be asked in the order of receipt and 
answered without discussion. In replying, the Shadow Councillor answering 
the question will use their reasonable endeavours to address the matters 
raised in the question. The Shadow Councillor to whom the question is 
addressed may decline to answer any question or may: reply direct, reply by 

Page 72



Draft v1.6

70

reference to a publication, or reply by written answer with a copy to such other 
Shadow Councillors as the Shadow Council agrees, or refer the question to 
an appropriate committee or to the Shadow Executive Committee.

11.7 Following the answer to each question, the questioner may, with the 
permission of the Chairman, ask a supplementary question which relates to 
the initial answer. A reply may not be given if the question is: not related to the 
initial answer; is unduly lengthy; or is inappropriate. The Shadow Councillor 
answering the supplementary question will decide whether or not to reply

11.8 Where a question submitted under this Rule relates to a matter that appears 
on the agenda for that meeting, the question shall be put and answered in 
accordance with this Procedure Rule, at the start of the consideration of that 
matter.

11.9 The time allowed for Members to ask questions under this Rule will be a 
maximum of 30 minutes, but is otherwise a matter for the discretion of the 
Chairman who, in exercising his/her discretion, will have regard to the 
business to be transacted at the meeting and the objective of ensuring that 
the meeting is managed efficiently.

11A Public participation at Shadow Council meetings

11A.1 A public speaking time and public question facility of up to a maximum of 30 
minutes will apply to Shadow Council meetings, as detailed in Appendix 6.

12 Notices of Motion

12.1 A notice of motion must relate to matters for which the Shadow Council has 
responsibility or which affect its area.

12.2 The arrangements for submitting and dealing with notices of motion are set 
out in Appendix 2.

13 Rules of Debate

13.1 The rules of debate to be followed at Shadow Council meetings are set out in 
Appendix 3.

14 Rescission of earlier resolution

14.1 Subject to Rule 14.2, at a meeting of the Shadow Council, no motion or 
amendment shall be moved to rescind any resolution of the Shadow Council 
which was passed within the preceding six months or which is to the same 
effect as one which has been rejected within that period.

14.2 Such a motion may be moved if:

(a) it is recommended by the Shadow Executive Committee or a Committee; 
or

Page 73



Draft v1.6

71

(b) notice of such motion has been given under Rule 12 and signed by at 
least 20 Shadow Councillors who include members from more than one 
political party.

15 Voting

15.1 Each Shadow Councillor has one vote except as provided for in Article 26(7) 
of the 2018 Order when the Shadow Councillors described in the Article shall 
have two votes on all questions coming or arising before the Shadow Council.

15.2 Voting will be by a show of hands or where practical and the means are 
available to those present, by electronic means.

15.3 When a Shadow Councillor asks for a recorded vote to be taken, and 20 other 
Shadow Councillors stand in their places to support the request, the vote will 
be recorded to show whether each Shadow Councillor voted for or against the 
motion or abstained.

15.4 A recorded vote will not be taken if the vote has already begun to be taken by 
a show of hands.

15.5 A Shadow Councillor may require, after a vote is completed, that the Minutes 
of the meeting record how he/she voted or abstained.

15.6 A Shadow Councillor may, immediately after the item of business is voted 
upon, request that a lost motion or amendment be recorded in the minutes.

15.7 Where there are equal votes cast for a motion or amendment the Chairman or 
the person presiding will have a second or casting vote

16 Offices and Appointments

16.1 Voting to elect or appoint the Chairman and Vice- Chairman of the Shadow 
Council, or Shadow Councillors to any office or position where more than one 
person is nominated shall be a show of hands or where practical and the 
means are available to those present, by electronic means.

16.2 If on a vote no person receives more than half of the votes cast, the name of 
the person with the least number of votes will be withdrawn. Further votes will 
be held until one person receives a clear majority.

16.3 The Chairman, or person presiding, will have a second or casting vote where 
the votes are equal.

17 Election of Chairman of Committees and Sub-Committees

17.1 The Chairman and Vice-Chairman of every Committee and Sub- Committee 
excluding the Shadow Executive Committee will be elected at the first meeting 
of the Shadow Council where possible.

Page 74



Draft v1.6

72

17.2 The Shadow Councillor elected to each office must be a member of the 
relevant Committee or Sub-Committee.

17.3 Where a vacancy occurs in any office, an election will be held at the next 
ordinary meeting of the Shadow Council unless the Shadow Council decides 
otherwise.

17.4 Unless the Shadow Council decides otherwise, the election will be conducted 
by a show of hands and may relate to a number of offices. Rule 16 will apply.

17.5 Where a Chairman and Vice-Chairman are absent from a meeting of the 
relevant body, a Chairman will be appointed from those members of the body 
present, provided the meeting is quorate and subject to any restrictions on the 
eligibility of Shadow Executive Committee members for appointment.

18 Urgent Business – Non-Shadow Executive Committee matters

18.1 An item of urgent business which has to be decided before the next meeting 
of the Shadow Council and which does not fall within the Shadow Executive 
Committee’s functions and responsibility can be determined by the lead officer 
of the Central Implementation Team, subject to the procedure in Appendix 4.

Part B – Committee and Sub-Committee Meetings

19 Programme of Meetings

19.1 Meetings of Committees and Sub-Committees will be set out in the calendar 
of meetings approved by the Shadow Council under Rule 1.1. There will be a 
presumption against alterations to the date, time and venue for meetings.

19.2 When it is necessary to alter the date, time and/or venue of a meeting, or to 
arrange a special meeting, the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer will 
consult the Chairman and Spokesmen of the relevant Committee or Sub-
Committee before any action is taken.

19.3 The Chairman of the Committee or Sub-Committee will then determine the 
matter.

20 Quorum at  Committees and Sub-Committees

20.1 No item of business will be transacted at a meeting of a committee or sub-
committee unless there are at least one third of the members of the body 
present. However, where the total membership of any committee or sub-
Committee comprises 11 or fewer members, the quorum shall be 3.

21 Minutes of Committees and Sub-Committees

21.1 The Minutes of a Committee or Sub-Committee must be confirmed at its next 
meeting.

Page 75



Draft v1.6

73

21.2 Only matters relating to the accuracy of the Minutes can be raised. Where 
accuracy is questioned, this must be by a motion which is proposed, 
seconded and voted upon.

21.3 Where no issues of accuracy are raised, or after any motion has been dealt 
with, the Chairman shall sign the Minutes.

21.4 The Minutes of any Sub-Committee must be submitted to the next meeting of 
the parent Committee by the Sub-Committee Chairman.

21.5 Members may ask a question or comment on any Minute. The Chairman of 
the Sub-Committee will then reply. There will be no debate on any question or 
comment raised under this procedure and no further motions can be moved.

21.6 Where a Member has a question or comment on an exempt, private or 
confidential Minute, the question or comment must be given in writing to the 
Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer at least one hour before the start of the 
meeting.

21.7 Any question about the accuracy of any minute of a body must be considered 
and determined by that body at its next meeting.

22 Motions moved without Notice at Committees and Sub- 
Committees

22.1 Appendix 1 lists those motions and amendments which can be moved without 
notice.

23 Rules of Debate at Committees and Sub-Committees

23.1 Appendix 3 sets out the rules of debate.

24 Voting

24.1 Voting at Committee and Sub-Committee meetings will be by a show of 
hands.

24.2 A recorded vote will not be taken if the vote has already begun to be taken by 
a show of hands.

24.3 A Shadow Councillor may require, after a vote is completed, that the Minutes 
of the meeting record how he/she voted or abstained.

24.4 A Shadow Councillor may request that a lost motion or amendment be 
recorded in the minutes by requesting this immediately after the vote is taken.

24.5 Where there are equal votes cast for a motion or amendment, the person 
presiding at the meeting will have, and must exercise, a second or casting 

Page 76



Draft v1.6

74

vote.

25 Not used

26 Mover of a Motion at Shadow Council under Rule 12: Attendance at 
Committee and Sub-Committee

26.1 Where a motion has been referred under Rule 12 from the Shadow Council to 
a Committee or Sub-Committee for consideration and report, the mover of the 
motion has the right to attend the meeting and to explain the motion.

26.2 The mover of the motion will be advised of the date and time of the meeting at 
which the matter is to be considered and he/she will be sent a copy of the 
relevant papers.

27 Requests by Members for items of business to be included on 
agendas of a Committee or Sub-Committee

27.1 Appendix 5 to these Procedure Rules sets out details of the process by which 
a Shadow Councillor can ask for an item of business to be included on the 
agenda of Committee or Sub- Committee meeting.

28 Questions Submitted by Members of the Public

28.1 The Shadow Council has a procedure to enable members of the public to 
submit questions at ordinary meetings of its Committees and Sub- 
Committees.  This is set out in Appendix 6.

29 Not used 

30 Committee and Sub-Committee Agenda - Urgent items of business

30.1 Generally, business will only be transacted at meetings of Committees and 
Sub-Committees which appears in the agenda and which has been available 
for public inspection at least five clear working days before the meeting or, 
where the meeting is convened at short notice, from the time the meeting is 
convened.

30.2 The Chairman of the Committee or Sub-Committee may agree to deal with an 
item of business at the meeting if, in his/her opinion, the matter is urgent given 
the circumstances requiring a decision. The Chairman’s ruling and the 
reasons for urgency will be recorded in the Minutes of the meeting.

31 Attendance of Shadow Councillors at Committees and Sub-
Committees of which they are not members

31.1 Notwithstanding their rights as a member of the public, a Shadow Councillor 
may attend any meeting of a Committee or Sub-Committee to which he/she 
has not been appointed, for the purposes of performing his/her duties as a 
Shadow Councillor, including when exempt or private and confidential 

Page 77



Draft v1.6

75

business is transacted.

31.2 A Shadow Councillor will be given, when he/she arrives at the meeting a copy 
of the agenda and relevant papers, subject to any restrictions imposed under 
the Access to Information Procedure Rules.

31.3 The Shadow Councillor has no right to vote, but may speak with the consent 
of the Chairman of the meeting.

32 Overview and Scrutiny Committees/Sub-Committees

32.1 In applying these Rules to Overview and Scrutiny Committees and Sub- 
Committees, regard shall be had to the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules which are contained in Part 4 of this Constitution.

Part C – General Provisions

33 Records of Attendance

33.1 The Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer will keep a record of Members 
attending any meeting of the Shadow Council, the Shadow Executive 
Committee, any Committee, or Sub-Committee.

34 Disclosure of Confidential/Exempt Matters

34.1 No Shadow Councillor shall disclose to any person the whole or any part of 
the contents of any agenda, report or other document which is marked 
“confidential” or “not for publication” unless and until the document has been 
made available to the public or the press by or on behalf of the Shadow 
Council, the Shadow Executive Committee, a Committee or Sub-Committee.

34.2 No Shadow Councillor shall disclose to any person other than a Shadow 
Councillor any matter arising during the proceedings of the Shadow Council, 
the Shadow Executive Committee, any Committee, or Sub-Committee and 
which comes to his/her knowledge by virtue of his/her office as a Member 
where such disclosure would prejudice the interest of the Shadow Council or 
would be contrary to law.

34.3 No Shadow Councillor shall, without the consent of the Chairman of the 
appropriate body, disclose to any person any decision or proceedings of that 
body except:
(a) when a report on the matter has been circulated to the Shadow Council by 

that body; or

(b) when the decision has become public knowledge; or

(c) when the matter comes within the powers of that body and a final decision 
has been made upon it;

Page 78



Draft v1.6

76

provided that this paragraph shall not authorise any disclosure which would 
contravene Rules 34.1 or 34.2.

35 Disorderly conduct by Members

35.1 If at a meeting any Shadow Councillor, in the opinion of the person presiding, 
misconducts themselves in any way, the person presiding or any other 
Shadow Councillor may move “That the Shadow Councillor be not further 
heard”. The motion, if seconded, shall be put and determined without 
discussion.

35.2 If the Shadow Councillor continues the misconduct after a motion under the 
Rule 35.1 has been carried, the person presiding may: either move “That the 
Shadow Councillor do leave the meeting” (in which case the motion shall be 
put and determined without seconding or discussion); or adjourn the meeting.

35.3 In the event of general disturbance by Shadow Councillors at any meeting 
which, in the opinion of the person presiding, renders the due and orderly 
dispatch of business impossible, the person presiding, will have the power to 
adjourn the meeting.

36 Disturbance by members of the Public

36.1 If a member of the public interrupts the proceedings at any meeting the 
person presiding shall warn him/her. If he/she continues, the person presiding 
shall order his/her removal from the meeting. In cases of general disturbance 
in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the person presiding shall 
order that part to be cleared.

37 Variation and revocation of Procedure Rules

37.1 Any motion to vary or revoke these Rules shall, when proposed and 
seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next ordinary meeting of 
the Shadow Council.

38 Suspension of Procedure Rules

38.1 Subject to Rule 38.2, any of the preceding Procedure Rules may be 
suspended in respect of any business at a meeting of the Shadow Council, a 
Committee or Sub-Committee where its suspension is moved.

38.2 A motion to suspend Procedure Rules shall not be moved without notice (that 
is under Procedure Rule 10) unless there shall be present at least one-third of 
the Members of the Shadow Council or that Committee or Sub-Committee 
respectively.

39 Interpretation of Procedure Rules

39.1 The ruling of the person presiding as to the construction or application of any 
of these Procedure Rules, or as to any proceedings of the Shadow Council, 

Page 79



Draft v1.6

77

shall not be challenged at any meeting.

40 Submission of Notices by Members – Electronic Means

40.1 A Shadow Councillor may communicate, by electronic means, any notice 
under any of the Shadow Council’s Procedural Rules to initiate any process or 
procedure provided it is clear that the notice has been originated by that 
Member.

Page 80



Draft v1.6

78

Appendix 1 - Procedure Rules relating to the Shadow Council: 
Meeting Procedure Rules 10 and 29 - Motions which may be moved 
without Notice

1. Appointment of a Chairman of the meeting at which the motion is made.

2. Motions relating to the accuracy of the minutes of the Shadow Council, a 
Committee or Sub-Committee.

3. That an item of business specified in the summons should have precedence.

4. Reference to the Shadow Council, a Committee, Sub-Committee, or the 
Shadow Executive Committee.

5. Appointment of or appointment to Committees, Sub-Committees, or the 
Shadow Executive Committee occasioned by an item mentioned in the 
summons to the meeting.

6. Receipt of Records of Decisions and Minutes of Committees and Sub- 
Committees

7. Adoption of recommendations of the Shadow Executive Committee, 
Committees and Sub- Committees and any consequent resolutions.

8. That leave is given to withdraw a motion.

9. Receipt of reports of officers and any consequent resolutions.

10. Extending the time limit for speeches.

11. Amendment to motions.

12. That the Shadow Council proceed to the next business.

13. That the question be now put.

14. That the debate be now adjourned.

15. That the Shadow Council do now adjourn.

16. Authorising the sealing of documents.

17. Suspending Procedure Rules, in accordance with Procedure Rule 57.

18. Motion under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 to exclude 
the press and public.

Page 81



Draft v1.6

79

19. That a Shadow Councillor named under Procedure Rule 46 should not be 
heard further or should leave the meeting.

20. Giving consent of the Shadow Council where consent of the Shadow Council 
is required by these Procedure Rules.

Page 82



Draft v1.6

80

Appendix 2 - Procedure Rules relating to the Shadow Council: 
Meeting Procedure Rule 12 - Notices of Motion

1 Procedure

Notice of every motion (other than a motion which under Procedure Rule 10 
may be moved without notice) shall be given in writing, signed by the 
Member(s) of the Shadow Council giving the notice, and delivered, at least 
seven clear working days before the next meeting of the Shadow Council, to 
the office of the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer by whom it shall be 
dated, in the order in which it is received.

2 Motions to be set out in Summons

The summons for every ordinary meeting of the Shadow Council will set out 
all motions of which notice has been duly given, unless the Member giving the 
notice has intimated in writing, when giving it, that he/she proposed to move it 
at some later meeting, or has since withdrawn it. The motions will be listed in 
the summons according to whether they relate to Shadow Executive 
Committee or non-Shadow Executive Committee functions but otherwise in 
the order in which they have been received.

3 Withdrawal of Motion which is before the Shadow Council

Where a notice of motion is before the Shadow Council having been formally 
moved and seconded and the mover wishes subsequently to withdraw it, 
he/she with the consent of the seconder may do so in writing and with the 
consent of the Chairman of the Shadow Council again in writing.

4 Motions not moved

If a motion set out in the summons is not moved either by a Shadow 
Councillor who gave notice of it or by some other Shadow Councillor on 
his/her behalf it shall, unless postponed by consent of the Shadow Council, be 
treated as withdrawn and shall not be moved without fresh notice.

5 Automatic reference to Shadow Executive Committee, 
Committee/Sub-Committee – Non Shadow Executive Committee 
Function

If the subject of any motion (which does not relate solely to any Shadow 
Executive Committee function or part of a function) comes within the powers, 
duties and responsibilities of any Committee or Sub-Committee or the 
Shadow Executive Committee, it shall, when it has been moved and 
seconded, stand referred without discussion to such of those bodies as the 
Chairman may determine, for consideration and report. However, if the 
Chairman considers it conducive to the despatch of business, the motion may 
be dealt with at the meeting at which it is brought forward. Unless the 
Chairman has indicated that he/she proposes to deal with the motion at the 

Page 83



Draft v1.6

81

meeting, the mover may formally move the motion and reserve the right to 
speak until the report on the motion comes before the Shadow Council.

Advice to the Shadow Council on any referred Notice of Motion under this 
section will be formulated by the Shadow Executive Committee and by such 
other bodies (Committees, Sub-Committees) as are deemed appropriate. The 
report to Shadow Council will set out the views of all bodies consulted on the 
Notice of Motion. The Minutes of a Committee or Sub-Committee containing 
advice to the Shadow Council on any referred Notice of Motion shall be dealt 
with separately from the other Minutes of those bodies.

6 Automatic reference to the Shadow Executive Committee – 
Shadow Executive Committee Function

If the subject of any motion of which notice has been duly given comes solely 
within the powers, duties and responsibilities of the Shadow Executive 
Committee, it shall, when it has been moved and seconded, stand referred to 
the Shadow Executive Committee to determine subject to the advice from any 
other body whose views are sought as determined by Shadow Council. The 
mover on formally moving the motion has the right to speak to the Motion. The 
seconder may also speak to the Motion. The Chairman will allow a period of 
fifteen minutes for a debate on any such notices of motion. This period shall 
include any speeches made by the mover and seconder of the motion in 
question. At the end of the debate if sooner or upon the expiration of the 
fifteen minutes, the appropriate Shadow Executive Committee Member shall 
have an opportunity to respond. No speeches including the response shall 
exceed five minutes. No amendments to the motion may be moved. The 
motion will then stand referred to the Shadow Executive Committee.

There are no rights of “call in” or “reference to the Shadow Council” where the 
Shadow Executive Committee has discharged a motion submitted under this 
Procedure Rule.

7 Deferment of a Notice of Motion

Where a notice of motion has been moved and seconded, and referred for 
advice, the consideration of the motion may be deferred where the mover and 
seconder signify in writing his/her agreement to the deferral and the Chairman 
of the Shadow Council indicates, in writing, his/her agreement on behalf of the 
Shadow Council.  The matter would then come to a subsequent meeting of 
the Shadow Council for report and decision.

Page 84



Draft v1.6

82

Appendix 3 - Procedure Rules relating to the Shadow Council; 
Committees and Sub-Committees - Meeting Procedure Rules 13 
and 2 3 - Rules of Debate

1 Motions and Amendments

No motion or amendment shall be discussed unless it has been proposed 
and seconded. Where required by the Chairman, motions or amendments 
shall be put in writing and handed to the Chairman before they are further 
discussed or put to the meeting. At meetings other than those of the full 
Shadow Council, the Chairman of that meeting may, at his/her discretion, 
allow a motion or amendment to be put which is not in writing, provided that 
the Chairman has concluded that the wording of the motion or amendment is 
understood by all members of the body concerned.  This requirement does 
not apply to motions submitted under Procedure Rule 12.

2 Seconder’s Speech

When seconding a motion or amendment a Shadow Councillor may advise 
the Chairman that he/she will reserve his/her right to speak until a later 
period in the debate.

3 Only one Shadow Councillor to stand at a time

When speaking at a Shadow Council meeting a Shadow Councillor shall 
stand and address the Chairman. While a Shadow Councillor is speaking the 
other Shadow Councillors will remain seated, unless rising on a point of 
order or in personal explanation.

4 Content and length of speeches

A Shadow Councillor will confine his/her speech to the question under 
discussion, a personal explanation or a point of order. Except as indicated 
below, in the case of speeches made by Shadow Councillors when the 
Shadow Council is agreeing a budget, or where the Shadow Council, 
Committee or Sub-Committee otherwise agrees, no speech will exceed three 
minutes.

In advance of the meeting at which the Shadow Council is due to agree a 
budget, the Shadow Council’s Political Groups may agree a protocol which 
makes provision for a limited number of speeches to be made on behalf of 
each Political Group, and which exceed the five minute limitation contained 
in these Rules. The Chairman will have discretion as to how such a protocol 
will be implemented at the meeting and, where no agreement can be 
reached between the Political Groups, whether and (if so) how any extension 
of the five minute limitation might be permitted to operate.

Page 85



Draft v1.6

83

5 When a Shadow Councillor may speak again

At a Shadow Council meeting a Shadow Councillor who has spoken on any 
motion shall not speak again whilst it is the subject of debate, except:

(a) to speak once on an amendment moved by another Shadow 
Councillor;

(b) if the motion has been amended since he/she last spoke, to move a 
further amendment;

(c) if his/her first speech was on an amendment moved by another 
Shadow Councillor, to speak on the main issue, whether or not the 
amendment on which he/she spoke was carried;

(d) in exercise of a right of reply given by paragraph 11 or 13 of this 
Appendix;

(e) on a point of order referring to the specific Procedure Rule;

(f) by way of personal explanation;

(g) to move one of the motions specified in 12(b) to (j), below when the 
procedure in those paragraphs shall be followed.

At Committees or Sub-Committees Shadow Councillors may, at the 
discretion of the Chairman, speak more than once.

6 Amendments to Motions

An amendment must be relevant to the motion and shall be either:

(a) to leave out words;
(b) to leave out words and add others;
(c) to insert or add words;

but such amendment shall not have the effect of negating the motion before 
the Shadow Council.

7 Number of Amendments

Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at a time. No further 
amendment shall be moved until the amendment under discussion has been 
disposed of, although the Chairman may allow two or more amendments to 
be discussed (but not voted on) together if this would facilitate the proper 
conduct of the business before the meeting.

Page 86



Draft v1.6

84

8 Status of Amendments

If an amendment is lost, another amendment may be moved on the original 
motion. If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended shall take the 
place of the original motion and shall become the motion upon which any 
further amendment may be moved.

9 Alterations to Motions or Amendments

A Shadow Councillor may alter a motion or amendment of which he/she has 
given notice and may also, with the consent of the seconder, alter a motion 
or amendment which he/she has moved. In both cases, the consent of the 
Shadow Council (the Committee or Sub-Committee) is required. There 
should be no discussion on whether consent should or should not be given.

10 Withdrawal of Motion

A motion or amendment may be withdrawn by the mover provided the 
seconder and the meeting, without discussion, agree. Once the mover has 
asked for permission to withdraw, there should be no further discussion, 
unless the meeting refuses to agree to the request.

11 Right of Reply

The mover of the motion shall have a right to reply at the close of the debate 
on the motion, immediately before it is put to the vote. If an amendment is 
moved, the mover of the original motion shall have a right of reply at the 
close of the debate on the amendment but shall not otherwise speak on it. 
The mover of the amendment shall have no right of reply to the debate on 
his/her amendment.

12 Motions which may be moved during debate

When a motion is under debate no other motion shall be moved except the 
following:

(a) to amend the motion;

(b) to adjourn the meeting;

(c) to adjourn the debate;

(d) to proceed to the next business;

(e) to suspend Procedure Rules;

(f) to refer a matter to the Shadow Council, Shadow Executive 
Committee, a Committee or Sub- Committee for consideration or 
reconsideration;

Page 87



Draft v1.6

85

(g) that the question be now put;
(h) that a Shadow Councillor be not further heard;

(i) by the Chairman under Procedure Rule 35.2, that a Shadow 
Councillor do leave the meeting;

(j) a motion under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 to 
exclude the public.

13 Closure Motions

A Shadow Councillor may move, without comment, at the conclusion of a 
speech of another Shadow Councillor, “That the Shadow Council proceed to 
the next business”, “That the question be now put”, “That the debate be now 
adjourned”, or “That the Shadow Council do now adjourn”. When one of 
these Motions has been seconded the Chairman shall proceed as follows:

(a) on a motion to proceed to next business - unless in his/her opinion the 
matter before the meeting has been insufficiently discussed, he/she 
shall first give the mover of the original motion the right of reply, and 
then put to the vote the motion to proceed to next business;

(b) on a motion that the question be now put - unless in his/her opinion 
the matter before the meeting has been insufficiently discussed, 
he/she shall put to the vote the motion that the question be now put 
and, if it is passed, give the mover of the original motion the right of 
reply before putting the motion to the vote;

(c) on a motion to adjourn the debate or the meeting - if in his/her opinion 
the matter before the meeting has been insufficiently discussed on 
that occasion he/she shall put the adjournment motion to the vote 
without giving the mover of the original motion the right of reply on 
that occasion.

14 Points of Order

A Shadow Councillor may rise on a point of order or in personal explanation 
and shall be entitled to be heard immediately. A point of order shall relate 
only to an alleged breach of a Procedure Rule or statutory provision and the 
Shadow Councillor shall specify the Procedure Rule or statutory provision 
and the way in which he/she considers it has been breached. A personal 
explanation shall be confined to some material part of a former speech by 
him/her which may appear to have been misunderstood in the current 
debate.

15 Ruling of Chairman on a Point of Order/Personal Explanation

The ruling of the Chairman of the meeting on a point of order or on the 
admissibility of a personal explanation shall not be open to discussion and 
shall be final.

Page 88



Draft v1.6

86

16 Respect for the Chair

At the Shadow Council meeting whenever the Chairman rises during a 
debate a Shadow Councillor then standing shall sit down and the Shadow 
Council shall be silent. In Committee or Sub-Committee meetings, whenever 
the Chairman rises from his/her seat, the Shadow Councillors should remain 
in their seats and the Committee or Sub-Committee shall be silent.

Page 89



Draft v1.6

87

Appendix 4 - Procedure Rules Relating to the Shadow Council, 
Committees and Sub-Committees: Meeting Procedure Rules 18 and 
30 - Urgent Business

Non-Shadow Executive Committee Functions

1 Approval of urgent business

Where any matter is urgent and cannot await the next meeting, the lead 
officer of the Central Implementation Team may take the necessary action, 
provided that he/she has first consulted the relevant Chairman (or Vice- 
Chairman if he/she is not available).

2 Consultation

A copy of the consultation document shall be sent to the appropriate Shadow 
Executive Committee Member, the Chairman and Spokespersons of the 
appropriate Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the party group leaders and 
the local Shadow Councillors.

3 Written approval

Any such approval shall be in writing, consideration being given after 
consultation with the Interim/Appointed Chief Finance Officer and the 
Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer.

4 Obligations of the Interim/Appointed/ Monitoring Officer

The Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer shall forthwith supply a copy of any 
approval requiring a report to a Committee or Sub-Committee which has been 
given by him/her to the lead officer of the Central Implementation Team and 
the Interim/Appointed Chief Finance Officer.

5 Report to Committee

A report of any action under paragraphs 1 to 4 above of this Procedure Rule 
shall be made available by electronic means to all Shadow Councillors of the 
Shadow Council.

Shadow Executive Committee functions

6 Consultation

The lead officer of the Central Implementation Team shall have sole discretion 
to decide the matter, having first taken into account any views of Shadow 
Councillors consulted under this procedure. A copy of the consultation 
document under this procedure shall also be sent to the Chairman and 
Spokespersons of the appropriate Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the 
appropriate Shadow Executive Committee Member and the local Shadow 

Page 90



Draft v1.6

88

Councillor.

7 Written Approval

Any such approval shall be in writing, and shall only be given after 
consultation with the Interim/Appointed Chief Finance Officer and the 
Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer.

8 Obligations of the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer

A copy of any approval which has been obtained under paragraphs 6 to 8 
above shall be supplied forthwith to the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer 
and Interim/Appointed Chief Finance Officer.

9 Report to Shadow Executive Committee

A report of any decision under paragraphs 6 to 8 above shall be made 
available by electronic means to all.

10 Access to Information

In processing and deciding any matter under paragraphs 6 to10 above, the 
relevant requirements of the Access to Information Procedure Rules will 
apply, as set out in this Constitution.

Page 91



Draft v1.6

89

Appendix 5 - Procedure Rules relating to Committees and Sub 
Committees: Meeting Procedure Rule 27 - Agenda items submitted 
by Shadow Councillors

1 This Rule does not apply to special meetings of Committees and Sub-
Committees or to the Shadow Executive Committee.

2 A Shadow Councillor may, by notice given to the Interim/Appointed Monitoring 
Officer no later than ten clear working days before the appropriate meeting, 
request that an item of business be included on the agenda of a Committee or 
Sub-Committee.

3 A Shadow Councillor may not give notice of more than one item of business 
for any one meeting. The notice shall state the nature of the business and 
shall include the signature of that Shadow Councillor.

4 This procedure shall not apply where the item of business, if agreed, would 
have the effect of rescinding or amending any resolution passed by a 
Committee or Sub-Committee of the Shadow Council within the preceding 12 
months.

5 Items arising from such notices shall appear on the agenda at the end of the 
Part 1 or 2 business.

6 This procedure will apply to Shadow Councillors of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee exercising their rights under Section 9FC of the Local Government 
Act 2000 and Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 32 to have an item, 
within the remit of that particular body, included on the Agenda and discussed 
at the next meeting of that body. Tthe restrictions in paragraph 3 on the 
number of items shall not apply.

Page 92



Draft v1.6

90

Appendix 6 - Procedure Rules relating to Shadow Council 
Meetings, Committees and Sub-Committees: Meeting Procedure 
Rules 11A and 28

1. Members of the public may ask questions at meetings of the full Shadow 
Council, Shadow Executive Committee, and Committees of the Shadow 
Council. The protocol for questions is as follows:

(a) Subject to the requirements of this protocol, a member of the public who 
lives or works in the area of the Shadow Council may submit a written 
question to the Leader of the Shadow Council, a portfolio holder or the 
Chairman of the Shadow Council or of a Committee of the Shadow 
Council.

(b) A person wishing to ask a question shall submit the question in writing 
which must be received by the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer at the 
main office of the Shadow Council by 10.00 am three clear working days 
before the meeting of the Shadow Council at which it is to be asked. The 
person's name and address must be included.

(c) A question shall relate to Shadow Council business, shall not normally 
exceed 50 words in length and shall be so framed as to elicit information 
rather than make a statement. No member of the public may ask more 
than four questions in any one financial year.

(d) Questions shall be printed in order of receipt and circulated to Shadow 
Councillors prior to the commencement of the Shadow Council meeting. 
No discussion shall be allowed upon questions or answers.

(e) The person asking the question shall normally attend the meeting to read 
out their question and to hear the answer. However, persons may, if they 
prefer, ask for an officer of the Shadow Council to read out their question.

(f) If questions are unsuitable in form, frivolous, defamatory, derogatory or 
relate to a matter which the Shadow Council would be likely to consider in 
the absence of the press and public, the Chairman of the Shadow Council 
shall have the right to rule the question out of order.

(g) No supplementary questions will be permitted.

2. Members of the public may make statements at meetings of the full Shadow 
Council, Shadow Executive Committee, and Committees of the Shadow 
Council. The protocol for statements is as follows:

(a) Subject to the requirements of this protocol, a member of the public who 
lives or works in the the area of the Shadow Council may submit a written 
statement to the Leader of the Shadow Council, a portfolio holder or the 
Chairman of the Shadow Council or of a Committee of the Shadow 
Council.

Page 93



Draft v1.6

91

(b) A person wishing to make a statement under this protocol shall submit the 
statement in writing which must be received by the Interim/Appointed 
Monitoring Officer at the main office of the Shadow Council by midday the 
day before the meeting of the Shadow Council at which it is to be raised. 
The person's name and address must be included.

(c) A statement put under this protocol shall relate to Shadow Council 
business, shall not normally exceed 100 words in length.

(d) Statements shall be printed in order of receipt and circulated to Shadow 
Councillors prior to the commencement of the Shadow Council meeting. 
No discussion shall be allowed upon statements.

(e) The person making the statement shall normally attend the meeting to 
read out their statement and to hear the answer. However, persons may, 
if they prefer, ask for an officer of the Shadow Council to read out their 
statement.

(f) If statements are unsuitable in form, frivolous, defamatory, derogatory or 
relate to a matter which the Shadow Council would be likely to consider in 
the absence of the press and public, the Chairman shall have the right to 
rule the statement out of order.

3. The time for questions and statements from members of the public shall 
normally commence immediately after the item 'Code of Conduct' on the 
Shadow Council agenda and shall be restricted to a total of 30 minutes, or at 
the discretion of the Chairman of the Shadow Council or the chairman of the 
meeting, provided that where a question to which an answer is to be given is 
not reached within the time limit, a written answer shall be provided to the 
questioner within two working days of the meeting and a copy e-mailed to all 
Shadow Councillors.

Page 94



Draft v1.6

92

E. Financial Procedure Rules

1. Introduction

1.1. The Local Government Act 1972 Section 151 requires the Shadow Dorset 
Council to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial 
affairs. The Shadow Council has allocated this responsibility to the Section 
151 Officer (Chief Financial Officer) for the new Dorset Council.  

1.2. References to Section 151 Officer also apply to the Interim appointment until 
a permanent appointment is made to the post.

1.3. These Financial Procedure Rules set out the financial responsibilities of the 
Shadow Council, the Shadow Executive, Section 151 Officer and the Head of 
Paid Service (Designate or the appointed Chief Executive) and their 
nominated representatives as appropriate, in relation to the Shadow Dorset 
Council prior to the creation of Dorset Council on the 1 April 2019.

1.4. Should any uncertainty or dispute arise about these Procedure Rules, the 
matter must be referred to the Section 151 Officer for interpretation and 
arbitration.

1.5. The Section 151 Officer has the authority to delegate matters under these 
Financial Procedure Rules, where appropriate, and records will be 
maintained of any such delegations.

2. Financial Transactions

2.1. The Shadow Council will not incur any payments or receive any income.

2.2. Any expenditure incurred or income received on behalf of the Shadow 
Council will be undertaken and accounted for by the existing councils, 
namely Dorset County Council, East Dorset District Council, North Dorset 
District Council, Purbeck District Council, West Dorset District Council and 
Weymouth and Portland Borough Council, herein and after referred to as the 
“Existing Councils”. 

3. Employees

3.1. Interim appointments to the three statutory posts made by the Shadow 
Dorset Council will be made on a secondment basis and the appointed 
employees will remain employed by their existing councils on their existing 
terms and conditions.

3.2. The appointment to permanent posts by the Shadow Council on behalf of the 
Dorset Council will be employed by Dorset County Council under terms and 
conditions to be agreed by the Shadow Executive.

Page 95



Draft v1.6

93

4. Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer

4.1. Under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, to undertake the 
duties of the Responsible Financial Officer to the Shadow Council in 
preparing for a legally compliant Dorset Council on the 1 April 2019.

4.2. As Responsible Financial Officer, under Section 114 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988, making a report to the Shadow Council, the 
Shadow Executive and external auditor if the Shadow Council or one of its 
appointed officers:

a. has made, or is about to make, a decision which involves committing one 
of the Existing Councils to unlawful expenditure on behalf of the Shadow 
Council; or

b. has taken, or is about to take, an unlawful action on behalf of the Shadow 
Council, which has resulted or would result in a loss or deficiency to the 
Existing Councils or the future Dorset Council.

4.3. As Responsible Financial Officer, under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2015, to comply with internal control requirements as far as they are 
applicable to the creation of Dorset Council.

4.4. Reporting to the Shadow Executive any significant decisions of the Existing 
Councils that would be to the detriment of the Shadow or Dorset Council.

4.5. Working with the Budget Task and Finish Group and the Shadow Executive 
to provide advice and financial information on the emerging financial position 
of Dorset Council and on the key financial controls necessary to secure 
sound financial management in the new organisation.

4.6. Maintaining and updating a medium term financial strategy.

4.7. Preparing the revenue budget and capital programme; advising on the level 
of council tax; and preparing treasury management, banking and exchequer 
functions.

5. Policies, Strategies and Plans

5.1. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for preparing the following documents 
for consideration by the Shadow Executive and approval by the Shadow 
Council at the same time as the 2019/20 budget is approved and council tax 
set:

a) Capital Programme;

b) Treasury Management Strategy including:

i) Capital Prudential Indicators and Limits for 2019/20 to 2023/24;

ii) Minimum Revenue Provision Statement;

Page 96



Draft v1.6

94

iii) Treasury Prudential Indicators; 

iv) Authorised Limit Prudential Indicator; and

v) Debt and Investment Strategy 2019/20 and associated criteria. 

c) Treasury Management Policy Statement; 

d) Capital Strategy 2019-2024; and

e) Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019–2024.

5.2. The Head of Paid Service is responsible for preparing Dorset Council’s Pay 
Policy Statement for 2019/20, for consideration by the Shadow Executive and 
approval by the Shadow Council at the same time as the budget is set.

6. Budget Setting for 2019/20

6.1. The revenue budget should reflect the corporate aims and priorities of the 
Shadow Council and is set in the context of the proposed Medium Term 
Financial Strategy. 

6.2. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for preparing a balanced 2019/20 
budget in accordance with the Local Government Act 1992, as amended, in 
particular by the Localism Act 2011.  To achieve this the Section 151 Officer 
is responsible for:

a) preparing a 2019/20 budget strategy and timetable for engagement with: 
the Shadow Executive; Shadow Council; and the public, for consideration 
by the Shadow Executive; 

b) setting a timetable for receipt of local precept information from town and 
parish councils in the Dorset Council area;

c) determining the detailed form of revenue estimates;

d) consolidating the first draft 2019/20 budget from the budget information 
prepared by the Existing Councils;

e) developing the draft budget, taking into account the revenue implications 
of the proposed capital programme and the council tax harmonisation 
policy, to identify the budget gap and recommend ways to close this gap, 
in liaison with the Budget Task and Finish Group, having regard for 
achieving best use of resources and value for money; 

f) undertaking consultation on the budget proposals and reporting the 
outcome of the consultation to the Budget Task and Finish Group for 
consideration; 

g) reporting the final draft budget, along with proposals to balance the 
budget and the outcome of the consultation, to the Shadow Executive for 
consideration.

Page 97



Draft v1.6

95

6.3. The Shadow Executive must consider the draft budget and agree budget 
proposals which will be submitted to the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for review, before the end of January 2019.

6.4. The Shadow Executive must make recommendations on the final, 
scrutinised, budget and council tax proposals to the Shadow Council for 
approval by the third week of February 2019.

7. Capital Programme

7.1. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for undertaking financial appraisals of 
schemes, if required, and collating the capital estimates to form the capital 
programme, identifying the required financing and taking into account the full 
year revenue effect of each scheme and report this to the Shadow 
Executive.

7.2. The Shadow Executive will make recommendations on the capital 
programme and on any associated financing requirements to the Shadow 
Council as part of the budget setting process.

8. Council Tax Base

8.1. Each of the existing billing authorities comprising the five district/borough 
councils (East Dorset District Council; North Dorset District Council; Purbeck 
District Council; West Dorset District Council and Weymouth and Portland 
Borough Council) is responsible for calculating the council tax base for each 
of the towns and parishes within its administrative area and aggregating 
these figures to provide a council tax base for the district/borough in 
accordance with the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) 
(England) Regulations 2012.

8.2. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for:

a) aggregating the council tax base information provided by each of the 
districts and boroughs to create a council tax base for the administrative 
area of Dorset Council (the billing authority), in early December;

b) promptly notifying the major preceptors and local preceptors of the 
relevant tax base for their purposes.

9. Setting the Council Tax

9.1. In order to raise sufficient council tax to meet the needs of Dorset Council, 
the major preceptors and local preceptors, the Section 151 Officer is 
responsible for:

a) using the tax base to calculate the average band D council tax and all of 
the council tax bands for Dorset Council and each of the major and local 
preceptors in the billing authority’s area in accordance with the Local 
Government Act 1992, as amended, in particular by the Localism Act 
2011; 

Page 98



Draft v1.6

96

b) agreeing the council tax leaflet for inclusion with the bills, with the Leader 
of the Shadow Council;

c) promptly publishing the list of council tax bands, once approved by the 
Shadow Council; and 

d) applying any alternative notional amounts to the council tax comparators 
for 2018/19, when undertaking the comparison with the 2019/20 council 
tax, for the purposes of identifying if the council tax referendum limit has 
been breached.  A statement as to the outcome of this calculation to be 
approved by the Shadow Council.

9.2. The Shadow Council is responsible for approving the council tax bands in 
respect of Dorset Council and the aggregation of the bands to arrive at the 
actual council tax chargeable in each town and parish area and the average 
council tax bands for the billing authority area.

10. Collection Fund

10.1. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for:

a) creating a Collection Fund for the Dorset Council area one day after the 
Shadow Authority sets the 2019/20 budget and council tax; and

b) undertaking council tax and national non-domestic rates billing, as soon 
as the Shadow Council has approved the council tax.

11. Reserves and Balances

11.1. Financial reserves and balances are maintained as a matter of prudence 
against unforeseen events and future contingencies. They will enable Dorset 
Council to provide for unexpected events and thereby protect it from future 
extraordinary expenditure and overspends. Reserves for specific known 
purposes are also maintained and it is reasonable to build reserves in 
anticipation of a known call on resources in future years.

11.2. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for advising the Shadow Executive 
and Shadow Council on the prudent level of reserves and balances for 
Dorset Council as part of the annual budget setting process based on an 
assessment of risk. 

11.3. The purpose, usage and basis of transactions must be clearly set out in 
respect of each of the reserves and balances held by Dorset Council.

12. Returns and Grant Claims

The Section 151 Officer is responsible for submission of all returns and grant 
claims in respect of Dorset Council prior to the 1 April 2019.  These returns 
include:

a) CTB1 – Calculation of Council Tax Bases

Page 99



Draft v1.6

97

b) NNDR1 – National Non-Domestic Rates Return

c) CTR1 – Council Tax Requirement Return

d) RA – Revenue Account Form

e) Benefit Subsidy Claim

13. Financial Control

Under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the Section 151 Officer is 
responsible for ensuring that appropriate systems and financial controls are 
in place on the 1 April 2019 to provide effective management information, 
financial stewardship and control for Dorset Council. 

14. Banking Arrangements

14.1. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for:

a) Identifying the bank accounts required and opening these accounts in 
the name of Dorset Council by the 1 April 2019;

b) authorising bank signatories and setting up authorised accesses and 
roles; 

c) putting in place the arrangements required for the transmission of funds 
and collection of cash;

d) agreeing procedures for managing the transition from the existing bank 
accounts and banking arrangements to those of Dorset Council.  

15. Treasury Management

The Section 151 Officer is responsible for putting in place all necessary 
arrangements to enable Dorset Council to invest or borrow monies on the 1 
April 2019.

16. Insurances

The Section 151 Officer is responsible for putting in place adequate 
insurance arrangements for Dorset Council in readiness for the 1 April 2019.

17. Taxation

The Section 151 Officer is responsible for liaising with HM Revenues and 
Customs to obtain appropriate taxation and VAT reference numbers, 
including a separate PAYE reference for Dorset Council’s Returning Officer.

18. Audit

The Section 151 Officer is responsible for liaising with Dorset Council’s 
appointed internal and external auditors prior to the creation of the new 
Dorset Council on the 1 April 2019.

Page 100



Draft v1.6

98

F. Staff Employment Procedure Rules

1 General

1.1 The Shadow Council has limited powers in connection with the employment 
and designation of staff.  It relies upon staff resources provided by all of the 
Dorset local authorities to carry out its work. These Rules must therefore be 
read in that context.

1.2 Staff within the organisation are employed, appointed, designated or engaged 
on behalf of the whole Shadow Council and not by parts of the organisation or 
individuals.

1.3 The employment, appointment, designation or engagement of all staff will be 
in compliance with the law and any policies and practices of the Shadow 
Council.

1.4 Generally (except for certain senior staff appointments) the function of 
appointment and dismissal of, and taking disciplinary action against a member 
of staff of the Shadow Council must be discharged on behalf of the authority 
by the Head of the Paid Service or by an officer nominated by him/her.

2 Recruitment and Appointment of Staff

2.1 Subject to the provisions of these Procedures, the recruitment, designation 
and appointment of staff will be conducted in accordance with the law and the 
Shadow Council’s policies and procedures.

2.2 Any candidate for any designation or appointment with the Shadow Council 
who knows that he/she is related to a Shadow Councillor or employee of the 
Shadow Council shall, when making application, disclose, in writing, that 
relationship to the Central Implementation Team Lead Officer for Human 
Resources. A person who deliberately fails to disclose such a relationship 
shall be disqualified from designation or appointment and, if designated or 
appointed, shall be liable to dismissal.

2.3 Every Shadow Councillor and employee of the Shadow Council shall disclose 
to the Central Implementation Team Lead Officer for Human Resources any 
relationship known to him/her to exist between him/herself and any person 
he/she knows is a candidate for a designation or appointment by the Shadow 
Council.

2.4 Any candidate for designation or appointment who directly or indirectly seeks 
the support of a Shadow Councillor or officer of the Shadow Council in any 
designation or appointment shall be disqualified and, if designated or 
appointed, shall be liable to dismissal. A Shadow Councillor shall not solicit for 
any person in respect of any designation or appointment with the Shadow 
Council, but may give a written testimonial of a candidate’s ability, experience 
or character.

Page 101



Draft v1.6

99

2.5 Persons shall be deemed to be related to a candidate or officer if they are a 
spouse, partner (i.e. member of a couple living together) parent, parent-in-law, 
grandparent, child, stepchild, adopted child, grandchild, child of partner, 
brother, sister, uncle, aunt, nephew or niece or the spouse or partner of any of 
the preceding persons.

2.6 In the case of a dispute under paragraph 2.5 above about the status of a 
relationship in relation to an appointment, the Central Implementation Team 
Lead Officer for Human Resources will rule and such ruling will be applied.

2.7 The Central Implementation Team Lead Officer for Human Resources will 
ensure that the provisions of these Rules are reflected, as appropriate, in 
application forms or in any accompanying detailed procedures for each post, 
following advertisement.

3 Responsibility for Human Resources Matters

3.1 Subject to any matters reserved to the Shadow Council, the Shadow 
Executive Committee is responsible for the development of corporate 
personnel policies and for determining and monitoring such policies and for 
the operational implementation of those policies, including the development of 
practices and procedures to support those policies.

4 Responsibility of the Senior Appointments Committee

4.1 The responsibilities of the Senior Appointments Committee are set out in Part 
3.

4.2 Subject to the provisions of these Rules, the Committee is also responsible for 
hearing and determining appeals under the Shadow Council’s employment-
related policies, the suspension of sick pay and the review and determination 
of matters relating to any fixed term contracts. In determining these matters 
the Committee will have regard to the appropriate provisions of this 
procedure. The Committee may agree to discharge some of these functions 
through a Sub-Committee.

4.3 The Shadow Executive Committee Member with responsibilities for individual 
Departments or Services and the associated resources is required to ensure 
that corporate personnel policies and procedures are applied by the Shadow 
Council, including training, matters relating to discipline, workforce 
performance management, and grievance (other than determining appeals).

5 Appointment of Head of the Paid Service

5.1 The appointment of head of the paid service is subject to specific 
requirements as set out below.

5.2 Where the Shadow Council proposes to appoint to the Head of the Paid 

Page 102



Draft v1.6

100

Service, the Senior Appointments Committee will oversee the arrangements 
for filling the vacancy. For this purpose the Committee shall include at least 
one member of the Shadow Executive Committee in its membership.

5.3 The Senior Appointments Committee shall:

(a) draw up a statement specifying the duties of the officer concerned and 
any qualifications or guidelines to be sought in the person to be 
appointed;

(b) make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is likely 
to bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply for it;

(c) make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned above to be 
sent to any person on request;

(d) where a post has been advertised as required above, the Committee will 
select from the applications a short list of qualified candidates and will 
then interview those included in the short list.

5.4 Following the interview of candidates, the Committee will come to a view as to 
the most suitable person for the position.

5.5 The Committee must advise the Central Implementation Team Lead Officer 
for Human Resources of:

(a) the name of the person in question; and

(b) any other particulars which the Committee consider are relevant to the 
appointment.

5.6 Within two clear working days of receiving the notification in paragraph 5.5 
above, the Central Implementation Team Lead Officer for Human Resources 
will notify each member of the Shadow Executive Committee of:

(a) the information notified under paragraph 5.5 above; and

(b) the period within which any objection to the making of the offer is to be 
made by the Leader on behalf of the Shadow Executive Committee to the 
Central Implementation Team Lead Officer for Human Resources; such 
period shall not exceed five clear working days.

5.7 An offer of appointment must wait until:

(a) the Leader has, within the period of the notice under paragraph 5.6 above, 
notified the Committee through the Central Implementation Team Lead 
Officer for Human Resources that neither he/she nor any member of the 
Shadow Executive Committee has any objection to the making of the 
offer; or

Page 103



Draft v1.6

101

(b) the Central Implementation Team Lead Officer for Human Resources has 
notified the Committee that no objections have been received by her within 
the period of the notice under paragraph 5.6 above; or

(c) the Committee is satisfied that any objection received from the Leader 
within the notice period is not material or is not well founded. In this 
regard, where necessary, the advice of the Interim/Appointed Monitoring 
Officer should be sought.

5.8 Where following the above procedure there are no objections to the proposed 
appointment or any objections are not up-held, the Committee will recommend 
that person for appointment at the next meeting of the full Shadow Council or 
at a specially convened meeting of the Shadow Council. If the Shadow 
Council approve the recommendation, then a formal offer of appointment can 
be made.

5.9 Where following the interviews the Committee are of the view that there is no 
suitable candidate, it will re-advertise the post.

5.10 Where the Shadow Council do not approve the recommendation of the 
Committee, it shall indicate how it wishes to proceed.

6 Appointment/dismissal of Interim/Appointed Head of Paid 
Service, Statutory Chief Officers, Non-Statutory Chief Officers and 
Deputy Chief Officers

The requirements of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders)(England) 
Regulations 2001 (“the Regulations”) will be followed  in respect of those 
posts which fall within the definitions of Head of Paid Service, Statutory Chief 
Officer, Non-Statutory Chief Officer and Deputy Chief Officer. 

7 Appointments/dismissal of other officers

Where any appointments are made to postions other than those referred to 
in paragraph 6 above, or where such persons are dismissed, these shall be 
the responsibility of the head of the paid service, or another officer to whom 
he/she has delegated that responsibility.

Page 104



Draft v1.6

102

PART 5 -
CODE OF CONDUCT AND 

MEMBER/OFFICER PROTOCOL

Page 105



Draft v1.6

103

Code of Conduct for Shadow Councillors 

The Code of Conduct, as set out below, was adopted by the Shadow Council with 
effect from * June 2018.

1 Introduction

1.1 The Shadow Council has a duty to promote and maintain high standards of 
conduct by its councillors.  This Code of Conduct sets out the conduct that is 
expected of councillors when carrying out Shadow Council business or 
representing the Shadow Council.

1.2 The Code of Conduct is to be interpreted in a way that is consistent with the 
following principles:

Selflessness Councillors should act solely in terms of the public 
interest.

Integrity Councillors must avoid placing themselves under any 
obligation to people or organisations that might try 
inappropriately to influence them in their work. They 
should not act or take decisions in order to gain 
financial or other material benefits for themselves, their 
family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve 
any interests and relationships.

Objectivity Councillors must act and take decisions impartially, 
fairly and on merit, using the best evidence and 
without discrimination or bias.

Accountability Councillors are accountable to the public for their 
decisions and actions and must submit themselves to 
the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.

Openness Councillors should act and take decisions in an open 
and transparent manner. Information should not be 
withheld from the public unless there are clear and 
lawful reasons for so doing.

Honesty Councillors should be truthful.
Leadership Councillors should exhibit these principles in their own 

behaviour. They should actively promote and robustly 
support the principles and be willing to challenge poor 
behaviour wherever it occurs.

2 General obligations

2.1. A Shadow Councillor must 

(a) comply with this Code of Conduct and any other of the Shadow Councill’s 
policies, protocols and other procedures relating to the conduct of 
councillors

(b) treat others with respect 

Page 106



Draft v1.6

104

(c) when using or authorising the use by others of the Shadow Council 
resources act in accordance with the Shadow Council’s reasonable 
requirements. 

(d) take into account any relevant advice provided by the Chief Finance 
Officer; or Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer, when reaching decisions 
on any matter 

(e) inform the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer of the receipt of any gifts 
and hospitality that they estimate has a value of more than £50 and the 
name of person providing the gift or hospitality

2.2 A Shadow Councillor must not –

(a) do anything which may cause the Shadow Council to breach any of the 
equality enactments (as defined in section 33 of the Equality Act 2006);

(b) bully any person;

(c) intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or is likely to be –

(i) a complainant,

(ii) a witness, or

(iii) involved in the administration of any investigation or proceedings, in 
relation to an allegation that a councillor (including them) has failed 
to comply with this Code of Conduct; or

(d) do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the impartiality 
of those who work for, or on behalf of, the Shadow Council.

(e) disclose information given to them in confidence by anyone, or information 
acquired by them which they believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is 
of a confidential nature, except where –

(i) they have the consent of a person authorised to give it;

(ii) they are required by law to do so;

(iii) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining 
professional advice provided that the third party agrees not to 
disclose the information to any other person; or 

(iv) the disclosure is reasonable and in the public interest; and is made 
in good faith and in compliance with the Shadow Council’s 
reasonable requirements;

Page 107



Draft v1.6

105

(f) prevent another person from gaining access to information to which that 
person is entitled by law; or

(g) behave in a way which could reasonably be regarded as bringing their 
office or the Shadow Council into disrepute;

(h) use or attempt to use their position improperly to confer on or secure for 
them or any other person, an advantage or disadvantage; or 

(i) use the Shadow Council’s resources improperly for political purposes 
(including party political purposes).

3. Interests

3.1 A Shadow Councillor must register any disclosable pecuniary interest (see 
Appendix A) that they or their husband or wife, civil partner or any person that 
they are living with as husband or wife or civil partner, as if they are their own 
interests, when they know about them.

3.2 A Shadow Councillor must declare their membership of or any positions of 
general control or management in the following bodies referred to in this code 
as ‘local interests’ in accordance with paragraph 3.4 below.

(a) Bodies to which they have been appointed as a representative of a Parish 
or Town Council;

(b) Public authorities or bodies exercising functions of a public nature;

(c) Companies, industrial and provident societies, charities or bodies directed 
to charitable purposes;

(d) Bodies whose principal purposes include the influence of public opinion or 
policy; and

(e) Trade unions or professional associations.

3.3 A Shadow Councillor must register any disclosable pecuniary interests and 
local interests with the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of:

(a) being elected or appointed to office;

(b) this Code of Conduct being adopted; 

(c) declaring an unregistered interest at a meeting of the Shadow Council; 
and

(d) becoming aware of any new interests or changes in those interests

3.4 A Shadow Councillor who is aware or ought reasonably to be aware that they 
have a disclosable pecuniary interest or a local interest in any business of the 

Page 108



Draft v1.6

106

Shadow Council who attends a meeting of the Shadow Council at which that 
business is discussed, must disclose to the meeting the existence and nature 
of the interest at the beginning of the meeting or when it becomes apparent 
that they have such an interest.  Where information about an interest has 
been agreed with the Monitoring Officer to be sensitive, the Shadow 
Councillor need only declare the existence of the interest.

3.5 A Shadow Councillor who has a disclosable pecuniary interest in any 
business of the Shadow Council must not take part in the consideration of that 
business and must withdraw from the room where the meeting is being held 
unless they have been granted a dispensation by the Interim/Appointed 
Monitoring Officer

4. Monitoring and review

4.1. This Code will be kept under review by the Shadow Council.

APPENDIX A

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

1. For the purposes of this Appendix

“the Act” means the Localism Act 2011;

“body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in 
which the relevant person is a partner or a body corporate of which the 
relevant person is a director, or in the securities of which the relevant person 
has a beneficial interest;

“director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial 
and provident society;

“land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which 
does not carry with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with 
another) to occupy the land or to receive income;

“M” means the person M referred to in section 30 of the Act;

“member” includes a co-opted member;

“relevant authority” means the authority of which M is a member;

“relevant period” means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which 
M gives a notification for the purposes of section 30(1) of the Act;

“relevant person” means M or any other person referred to in section 30(3)(b) 
of the Act; and 

Page 109



Draft v1.6

107

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, 
units of a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial 
Services and Markets Act 2000(b) and other securities of any description, 
other than money deposited with a building society.

2. The following are disclosable pecuniary interests.

Subject Prescribed description
Employment, office, trade, 
or vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or 
vocation carried on for profit or gain

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial 
benefit (other than from the relevant authority) 
made or provided within the relevant period in 
respect of any expenses incurred by M in 
carrying out duties as a member, or towards the 
election expenses of M. This includes any 
payment of financial benefit from a trade union 
within the meaning of the Trade Union and 
Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992

Contracts Any contract which is made between the 
relevant person (or a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest) and the 
relevant authority–
(a) under which goods or services are to be
         provided or works are to be executed; and
(b)    which has not been fully discharged

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within 
the area of the relevant authority

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to 
occupy land in the area of the relevant authority 
for a month or longer

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to M’s knowledge)–
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and
(b)   the tenant is a body in which the relevant 

person has a beneficial interest
Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body 

where-
(a) that body (to M’s knowledge) has a place 

of business or land in the area of the 
relevant authority; and

(b) either-
(i) the total nominal value of the securities 

exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more 
than one class, the total nominal value of 
the shares of any one class in which the 

Page 110



Draft v1.6

108

relevant person has a beneficial interest 
exceeds one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that class

Page 111



Draft v1.6

109

Protocol on the relationship between Councillors and Officers 

1. Introduction

1.1 The purpose of this Protocol is to guide Shadow Councillors and Officers of 
the Shadow Council in their relations with one another in such a way that 
ensures that the Shadow Council runs smoothly. 

1.2 The relationship between Shadow Councillors and Officers is based on the 
following principles:
(a) the purpose of the Shadow Council is to prepare for the transition to the 

new Dorset Council and it is in the interests of all of the inhabitants of the 
Shadow Council’s area that this is achieved seamlessly and without 
favouring one part over another;

(b) the Shadow Council is a single entity;
(c) the separate functions of the Shadow Council are part of the Shadow 

Council as a corporate body;
(d) in everything they do, Shadow Councillors and Officers must act within the 

law and comply with relevant codes of conduct;
(e) dealings between Shadow Councillors and Officers are based on mutual 

trust and respect;
(f) the relationship must exist on a professional basis only so that the ability 

of an officer to deal impartially with Shadow Councillors or political groups 
cannot be questioned; and

(g) Officers should not approach Shadow Councillors on matters to do with 
employment matters except as agreed by the Interim/Appointed Head of 
Paid Service.

1.3 Shadow Councillors and Officers each have their own roles to play in the work 
of the Shadow Council and care should be taken to avoid one encroaching 
upon the other.

The role of Councillors
(a) To provide the political direction and leadership of the Shadow Council.  
(b) As part of the controlling group to see that the transformation is achieved 

in accordance with the policies and plans approved by the Shadow 
Council.

(c) To receive appropriate professional advice from officers and to have that 
advice recorded, so that all Shadow Councillors are fully aware of the 
implications of their decisions and have the assurance that their decisions 
comply with the law.

(d) To make reasonable comment and ask questions about the Shadow 
Council’s decisions and performance both at formal meetings and 
informally. An officer’s seniority and area of responsibility will determine 
what are reasonable comments and questions.

Page 112



Draft v1.6

110

The role of Officers
(a) To serve the whole Shadow Council as a single corporate body.
(b) To provide wherever practicable, support to all Shadow Councillors in 

their representational role and act to uphold the rights of councillors in law 
and under this Constitution.

(c) To take decisions within their area of responsibility which have been 
delegated to them but recognising that, where functions have not been 
delegated to officers, it is the right of Shadow Councillors to take the final 
decisions in the light of officers’ advice.

(d) To provide factual, honest and objective advice. The advice and the 
actions officers take should be politically neutral and should serve the 
interests of the Shadow Council as a whole.  Officers do not give advice 
on party political matters.

2. Officer advice to Shadow Councillors and Party Groups

2.1 For the proper functioning of the Shadow Council as a whole, officers will 
normally be permitted to share information freely between them. 

2.2 Where the information has been given on the basis of party political 
confidentiality:

(a) officers will respect that confidentiality unless they believe that any action 
appears to be in conflict with the law, or would amount to an abuse of the 
processes of the Shadow Council and in those circumstances may share 
that information with other officers where they believe it to be necessary to 
check the legality, financial probity or procedural regularity of any action 
disclosed by that information. 

(b) The request for party political confidentiality will be honoured by any 
officers with whom the information is shared. 

2.3 Where party political confidentiality has been requested, officers may invite 
those councillors requesting confidentiality to agree to the information being 
shared with the other political groups on the grounds that it would assist the 
more effective functioning of the Shadow Council; however, in the absence of 
any such agreement to waive confidentially, officers will continue to respect it. 
 

3. Support services to Councillors and Party Groups

3.1 Support services and resources must only be used on Shadow Council 
business and should never be used in connection with any political or 
campaigning activity or for private purposes.

4. Councillors' access to information and to Shadow Council documents

4.1    Councillors may ask the Officers for such information, explanation and advice 
as they may reasonably need in order to assist them in discharging their role 
as a Shadow Councillor.  This can range from a request for general 

Page 113



Draft v1.6

111

information about some aspect of the Shadow Council’s activities to a request 
for specific information on behalf of a constituent. 

4.2 A Shadow Councillor does not have a right to "a roving commission" to 
examine documents of the Shadow Council. Mere curiosity is not sufficient.  
The crucial question is the determination of the "need to know".  This question 
must initially be determined by the Officer holding the document in question.  
In the event of dispute, the question falls to be determined by the 
Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer.

4.3 In addition to the above a Shadow Councillor may request information under 
the Freedom of Information Act 2000, and the Local Government Act 1972 
provides a statutory right of access to documents. Any document which is in 
the Shadow Council’s possession and contains material relating to any 
business to be transacted at a meeting of the Shadow Council, a Committee 
or Sub Committee or the Shadow Executive Committee is to be open to 
inspection by any Shadow Councillor. However, there is no right of inspection 
where it appears to the Interim/Appointed Monitoring Officer that a document 
discloses certain classes of exempt information as set out in Access to 
Information Procedure Rules.

4.4 The Code of Conduct limits the ability of a Shadow Councillor to disclose 
confidential information.

5. Correspondence

5.1 Correspondence between an individual Shadow Councillor and an Officer 
should not normally be copied by the Officer to any other Councillor.  Where 
exceptionally it is necessary to copy the correspondence to another Shadow 
Councillor, this should be made clear to the original Councillor.  In other 
words, a system of "silent copies" should not be employed.

Page 114



Draft v1.6

112

PART 6 -
MEMBERS ALLOWANCES SCHEME

Page 115



Draft v1.6

113

[To be inserted when agreed]

Page 116



Date of Meeting 7 June 2018

Subject of Report Process and appointment of interim statutory officers to the 
Dorset Council Shadow Authority

Executive Summary The Structural Change Order requires that at the first meeting of 
the Shadow Authority, Members designate interim statutory 
officers for the shadow period, to include:

 Interim Head of Paid Service
 Interim Monitoring Officer
 Interim Chief Finance Officer

At its meeting on 21 March the Dorset Area Joint Committee 
agreed the recruitment the appointments process for the Shadow 
Authority to designate officers to these interim roles.  The 
interviews for these roles will be completed by 7 June

As interviews have not yet taken place at the time of writing this 
report, a verbal update will be given at the meeting on the 
selected appointees. 

Budget and risk 
implications The cost of external HR advice is estimated at £5,000.

Recommendations That the Shadow Council:

1. Approve the appointment of the selected interim statutory 
officers with immediate effect.

Appendices  Appendix 1 - Extract from the minutes of the Joint Committee 
Meeting of 31 March 2018, Appointments Process of Interim 
Statutory Officers

Appendix 2 - Role profiles/person specs for the three roles

Background papers Dorset Area Joint Committee papers 21 February 2018:

 Shadow Authority Arrangements

Page 117

Agenda Item 6



2

 Process to appoint interim and permanent statutory 
officers to Dorset Council

Dorset Area Joint Committee minute 21 March 2018

 Appointment Process of Interim Statutory Officers

Report Originator and 
Contact

Name:       Nicola Houwayek, Strategic HR Lead, Local 
Government Reorganisation Programme, Dorset Area

Tel: 01305 224497

Email: nicola.houwayek@dorsetcc.gov.uk

Page 118



3

1.         Background

1.1      On 21 February 2018, the Dorset Area Joint Committee received reports from the
    Dorset Monitoring Officers regarding Shadow Authority arrangements, including the 
 appointment of interim statutory officers for the Shadow period to 1 April 2019.

1.2 The reports referenced the requirement, as stated in the Structural Change Order, 
that at the first meeting of the Shadow Authority, Members designate interim 
statutory officers for the shadow period, to include:

 Interim Head of Paid Service
 Interim Monitoring Officer
 Interim Chief Finance Officer

1.3 The Structural Change Order also specifies that these interim roles be assigned to 
officers of the County Council or one of the District Councils.

1.4 On 21 March 2018, the Dorset Area Joint Committee agreed the appointments 
process for the interim statutory officers and that the six Leaders of the Dorset Area 
Councils would work with the Programme Director in line with this process in 
preparation for the first meeting of the Shadow Authority.

1.5 This report sets out the process that was undertaken for the Shadow Authority to 
meet the requirements of the Structural Change Order to designate interim statutory 
officers.  This includes:

 Defining the roles in the context of the Shadow Authority
 Developing objective selection criteria
 Designing a proportionate selection process, recognising that these are interim 

roles
1.6 Interviews for the three roles will take place week commencing 4 June, with the 

final interviews taking place on 7 June.  
1.7 The substantive roles will be subject to separate recruitment processes, the first 

of which is the Chief Executive post which will commence as soon as the Shadow 
Council is in place.

2.   Defining the roles

2.1 As required by the Structural Change Order, interim statutory roles for the Shadow 
Authority will be taken up by existing officers of the Dorset area councils. Once 
designated, the individuals will continue to operate in their substantive posts and it is 
envisaged that the amount of time needed for their interim responsibilities will vary 
throughout the duration of the programme.

 2.2 The Structural Change Order references specific legislation and indicative 
responsibilities for each statutory role.  These have been developed into detailed role 
profiles and person specs, as set out in Appendix 2 to this report.  

2.3 The roles will be in operation from the establishment of the Shadow Authority to 1 
April 2019 or until a person to perform those functions is appointed by the Council 
and takes up that appointment.  The duration of individual interim roles will potentially 

Page 119



4

be longer in the case of the Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer than Head of 
Paid Service.

3. Selection Process

3.1 Expressions of interest were invited from potential external suppliers to support the 
process and South West Councils were appointed.  It was made clear that these time 
limited roles are different from their substantive equivalents in the new council and 
that it should therefore not be assumed that any individual selected for an interim 
post will automatically be successful should they also apply for the substantive role.  

3.2 It was agreed that current Chief Executives, Monitoring Officers and Section 151 
Officers would be in scope for consideration and they were invited to express an 
interest in the roles on 15 May.  

3.3 As they are all experienced local government managers, very capable of undertaking 
the respective interim roles a proportionate selection process was designed, 
recognising that these are interim roles of limited duration.  The process consisted of:

 Expressions of interest submitted where applicants were asked which of the roles 
they wished to be considered for and answering the following questions:

1.         Why are you applying and what can you bring to the role(s)?

2.         How will you balance the demands of the interim role with your 
substantive role to ensure that you successfully contribute to both the 
formation of the new council and ensure business as usual within your 
existing authority? 

 Panel interviews were set-up with membership consisting of 3-6 Leaders assisted 
by either Bryony Houlden, Chief Executive of SW Councils, or Ian Morgan, Head 
of HR Services for SW Councils, and Nicola Houwayek, Strategic HR Lead, LGR 
Programme, Dorset Area

 At the panel interview, candidates were also asked to give a presentation.

4. Successful Candidates

4.1 At the time of writing this report, the interviews have not taken place.   The Chair will 
give a verbal update at the meeting to enable the final decision on appointments to 
be confirmed.

Page 120



5

Appendix 1

Minute from Dorset Area Joint Committee Meeting – 31 March 2018

Page 121



6

Appendix 2

Interim Head of Paid Service

Job Description

Purpose

To ensure the smooth continuance and delivery of the LGR Programme for the 
Dorset Council area, enabling the successful transition to the new Council.

Key Responsibilities

1. Accountable for the delivery of the LGR Programme, acting as chair of the 
Programme Board.

2. Lead and manage the Dorset Implementation Team including the Interim 
Section 151 Officer, Interim Monitoring Officer and Programme Director.

3. Build effective working relationships with Elected Members and senior officers 
within the constituent authorities and national policy makers.

4. Exert influence at the most senior levels across the constituent authorities 
when necessary to overcome potential barriers/issues to ensure the delivery 
of the Programme. 

5. Represent the Programme through a visible presence and be responsible for 
regular and appropriate communications to constituent authorities, 
Government, Local MP’s and the Ministry for Housing, Communities and 
Local Government regarding the Programme’s progress.

6. Establish options for potential operating models for the new Council in 
consultation with the constituent authorities.

7. Where he or she considers it appropriate, prepare a report to the Shadow 
Council setting out his or her proposal for:

 The manner in which the discharge by the Shadow Council of their 
different functions is coordinated

 The number and grades of staff required for the discharge of these 
functions

 Organisation of the Shadow Council’s staff
 Appointment and proper management of the Shadow Council’s staff

Page 122



7

Person Specification

Qualifications

• Relevant degree or professional qualification. 
• Evidence of work related continuing managerial and professional 

development.

Specialist Knowledge & Experience

• Substantial leadership and managerial experience and skills gained at 
a senior level, including contributing to the corporate management of 
an organisation.

• Track record of promoting, leading and managing change.
• Substantial experience of successfully working with Elected or Board 

Members on complex issues, and the ability to work productively and 
closely with Members, and provide clear advice on policy options.

• A successful track record in corporate performance management and 
participation in the formulation of corporate objectives, policies and 
strategies within a large multi-disciplined organisation with comparable 
scope, responsibilities, budgets and resources.

• Track record of operating strategically on corporate projects and policy 
development.

• The ability to think creatively and innovatively in developing, 
recommending and leading strategic initiatives and policies to assist in 
the achievement of organisational goals 

• The ability to work corporately and manage resources effectively in a 
complex environment, including the ability to interpret and understand 
complex financial and budgetary information, and to negotiate and 
influence to direct resources 

• Demonstrable experience of partnership working, including the ability 
to influence and lead corporate and multi-agency projects and 
initiatives effectively.

• Demonstrable experience of taking difficult or contentious decisions and 
the ability to constructively manage conflict 

• In-depth knowledge and understanding of the statutory, policy, strategic 
and service delivery framework in which local government operates, and 
the major issues facing local government.

• Experience of influencing Government Departments and Ministers.

Personal Attributes

Page 123



8

• A high degree of political awareness and sensitivity and commitment to 
working closely with all councillors, local organisations and communities

• Highly developed diplomatic skills, particularly in motivating, negotiating 
and persuading others outside the span of control, including partner 
organisations 

• Actively promotes the need for change and acts as a role model for 
change.

• Positive, committed, adaptable, robust and confident approach.
• Ability to work under pressure and to motivate others to work quickly, 

without undue stress, and demonstrate a duty of care.
• Innovative and creative approach to change.
• Personal integrity.
• Drive and self-motivation – “can do” attitude.
• Sound judgement in devising and evaluating options and dealing with 

complex issues.

Page 124



9

Interim Section 151 Officer

Job Description

Purpose

As a member of the Dorset Implementation Team, coordinate the work of the 
Finance Officers’ workstream to establish proper arrangements for the administration 
of the new Council’s financial affairs.

Key Responsibilities

1. Take overall accountability for the financial probity of the Shadow Council by 
carrying out the statutory responsibilities under S151 of the Local Government 
Act for the proper conduct of the Council’s financial activities.

2. Provide the Shadow Executive Committee and Dorset Implementation Team 
with robust strategic financial analysis and advice on the effective allocation of 
resources.

3. Ensure the establishment of the new Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan 
and Annual Budget for 2019/20.

4. Ensure that appropriate financial standards and processes for the new 
Council are in place and operational through the development of the following:

• The Medium Term Financial Planning and Budget Setting Process
• Financial Regulations and Procedures
• Contract Management Framework
• Procurement Strategy
• Risk Management Strategy
• Treasury Management Strategy
• Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy
• Money Laundering Policy
• The Budget Management Framework
• Annual Audit Plan
• Debt Management Strategy
• Council Tax Benefit Scheme
• Business Rate Scheme
• Capital Strategy
• Corporate Debt Policy

5. Maintain a strategic overview of all aspects of the Dorset Pension Fund, 
including ensuring that the funding and investment strategy is monitored and 

Page 125



10

reviewed and that appropriate governance and quality assurance procedures 
are in place.

Person Specification

Qualifications

• Relevant degree or professional qualification. 
• Evidence of work related continuing managerial and professional 

development.

Specialist Knowledge & Experience

• Extensive experience of managing, setting and monitoring budgets and 
financial management information, including developing and using 
management information.

• A successful track record in corporate performance management and 
participation in the formulation of corporate objectives, policies and 
strategies within a large multi-disciplined organisation with comparable 
scope, responsibilities, budgets and resources.

• Substantial leadership and managerial experience and skills gained at 
a senior level, including contributing to the corporate management of 
an organisation.

• Track record of promoting, leading and managing change.
• Significant experience of successfully working with Elected or Board 

Members on complex issues, and the ability to work productively and 
closely with Members, and provide clear advice on policy options.

• Track record of operating strategically on corporate projects and policy 
development.

• Demonstrable experience of partnership working, including the ability 
to influence and lead corporate and multi-agency projects and 
initiatives effectively.

• Understanding of Government Accounting with a demonstrable level of 
commercial acumen.

• Knowledge of effective an innovative financial planning and controls 
across a diverse organisation.

• In-depth knowledge and understanding of the statutory, policy, 
strategic and service delivery framework in which local government 
operates, and the major issues facing local government.

Personal Attributes

Page 126



11

• Actively promotes the need for change and acts as a role model for 
change.

• Positive, committed, adaptable, robust and confident approach.
• Ability to work under pressure and to motivate others to work quickly, 

without undue stress, and demonstrate a duty of care.
• Innovative and creative approach to change.
• Personal integrity.
• Drive and self-motivation – “can do” attitude.
• Sound judgement in devising and evaluating options and dealing with 

complex issues.

Page 127



12

Interim Monitoring Officer

Job Description

Purpose

As a member of the Dorset Implementation Team, coordinate the work of the 
Monitoring Officers’ workstream to establish the constitutional arrangements for the 
new Council.

Key Responsibilities

1. Take overall accountability for the probity of the Shadow Council by carrying 
out the statutory responsibilities as Monitoring Officer, as follows:

(a) Decision-making:  Ensures all decisions taken by members and officers 
are lawful.

(b) The Constitution:  Responsibility for the design, implementation and 
maintenance of the Council’s Constitution including the Full Council 
Procedural Rules, the schemes of delegation/scrutiny/ and partnership 
arrangements - in accordance with the requirements of the members, 
ensuring legal requirements are met.

(c) Proper Officer for access to information:  Ensures that member 
decisions (and officer decisions where required), together with the 
reasons for those decisions (as required) and relevant Officer reports 
and background papers are properly recorded and  made publicly 
available as soon as possible and retained for public access in 
accordance with legislative requirements.

(d) Provides high level advice and guidance to the Shadow Executive 
Committee and Dorset Implementation Team on the scope of powers 
and authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety 
(in conjunction with the Interim Section 151 Officer), standards and 
probity and Budget and Policy Framework issues.

2. Provides ‘trouble shooting’ expertise to the Shadow Executive Committee and 
Dorset Implementation Team as necessary where expert knowledge and 
sound interpretation of democratic processes, statutory guidance and/or 
Constitution of the Council is vital to the resolution of issues/problems.

3. Lead Officer for the management of the Council’s Strategic Risk Register, its 
operational risk registers and ensuring that action to mitigate risk is taken 
across all services.

Page 128



13

4. Lead officer for ensuring that appropriate impact assessments in support of 
decision-making are prepared and published ensuring that all statutory 
requirements are met. 

5. Leads and manages the preparations for the new Council’s first elections.

6. Leads and manages the Council’s involvement in the review of the Council’s 
electoral arrangements as required by the Local Government Boundary 
Commission for England ensuring that legislative requirements are met and 
that any resulting changes reflect the needs of the Council.

Person Specification

Qualifications

• Relevant degree or professional qualification. 
• Evidence of work related continuing managerial and professional 

development.

Specialist Knowledge & Experience

• Extensive experience of providing strategic legal advice to a large and 
diverse organisation.

• A successful track record in corporate performance management and 
participation in the formulation of corporate objectives, policies and 
strategies within a large multi-disciplined organisation with comparable 
scope, responsibilities, budgets and resources.

• Substantial leadership and managerial experience and skills gained at 
a senior level, including contributing to the corporate management of 
an organisation.

• Track record of promoting, leading and managing change.
• Significant experience of successfully working with Elected or Board 

Members on complex issues, and the ability to work productively and 
closely with Members, and provide clear advice on policy options.

• Track record of operating strategically on corporate projects and policy 
development.

• Demonstrable experience of partnership working, including the ability 
to influence and lead corporate and multi-agency projects and 
initiatives effectively.

• In-depth knowledge and understanding of the statutory, policy, 
strategic and service delivery framework in which local government 
operates, and the major issues facing local government.

Page 129



14

Personal Attributes

• Actively promotes the need for change and acts as a role model for 
change.

• Positive, committed, adaptable, robust and confident approach.
• Ability to work under pressure and to motivate others to work quickly, 

without undue stress, and demonstrate a duty of care.
• Innovative and creative approach to change.
• Personal integrity.
• Drive and self-motivation – “can do” attitude.
• Sound judgement in devising and evaluating options and dealing with 

complex issues.

Page 130



Page 1 – PROCESS TO APPOINT A PERMANENT CHIEF EXECUTIVE TO DORSET 
COUNCIL

Date of Meeting 7 June 2018

Officer Proper Officer for the Shadow Dorset Council: Debbie Ward, 
Chief Executive – Dorset County Council

Subject of Report Process to appoint a permanent Chief Executive to Dorset 
Council

Executive Summary Following a presentation by the LGA in February, Dorset Area 
Joint Committee authorised the Monitoring Officers to appoint 
external recruitment consultants to assist in designing and 
implementing the recruitment of a permanent Chief Executive.  
GatenbySanderson were appointed following a competitive 
procurement process.  

Following the presentation of a paper on 15 May (attached), the 
Joint Committee agreed that the Leaders continue to work with 
the Programme Director and appointed consultants to agree final 
recommendations to the Shadow Dorset Council for the job 
description, person specification and terms and conditions of 
employment.

A timeline has been developed and, subject to agreement from 
the Shadow Dorset Council, the aim is to launch the recruitment 
campaign with immediate effect and have completed the selection 
process by mid-September.

Development and design of the recruitment campaign and 
selection process has started but needs authority from the 
Shadow Dorset Council before being launched.

Once the selection process has been completed, the final 
decision on the appointment of the Chief Executive will be 
presented to the Shadow Dorset Council.

Equalities Impact Assessment: N/A

Budget: None

Impact Assessment:

Risk Assessment: 

Page 131

Agenda Item 7



Page 2 – PROCESS TO APPOINT A PERMANENT CHIEF EXECUTIVE TO DORSET 
COUNCIL

Having considered the risks associated with this decision using 
the LGR Programme risk management methodology, the level of 
risk has been identified as:
Current Risk: HIGH
Residual Risk: MEDIUM
(i.e. reflecting the recommendations in this report and mitigating 
actions proposed)

Recommendation The Shadow Dorset Council is asked to agree:

1. The job description, person specification and terms 
and conditions of employment, at appendices 1, 2 and 
3 to the attached report. 

2. For the Shadow Executive Committee to be given 
authority to agree the most appropriate approach for 
the remuneration for the Chief Executive’s post, either 
as a spot salary or a salary scale with defined 
performance measures, based on the guidance 
provided by the LGA to the Dorset Area Joint 
Committee. 

3. For the recruitment process for the permanent Chief 
Executive for Dorset Council to commence with 
immediate effect.

Reason for 
Recommendation

It is critical that the new Chief Executive is confirmed and 
appointed as soon as possible

Appendices Dorset Area Joint Committee Paper 15 May 2018 – Process to 
appoint a permanent Chief Executive to Dorset Council.

Background Papers
As appended

Officer Contact Name: Nicola Houwayek
Tel: 01305224497
Email: Nicola.houwayek@dorsetcc.gov.uk

Page 132



Page 3 – PROCESS TO APPOINT A PERMANENT CHIEF EXECUTIVE TO DORSET 
COUNCIL

Appendix

Dorset Area 
Joint Committee

Page 133



Page 4 – PROCESS TO APPOINT A PERMANENT CHIEF EXECUTIVE TO DORSET 
COUNCIL

Subject of Report Process to appoint a permanent Chief Executive to Dorset 
Council.

Executive Summary Following a presentation by the LGA to the Dorset Area Joint 
Committee in February, Members requested that a report be 
brought back to the May meeting to include the following 
information for consideration:

 Salary and terms and conditions of employment
 Job description and person specification
 Timetable for recruitment

Members authorised the Monitoring Officers to appoint external 
recruitment consultants to assist in designing and implementing 
the recruitment and GatenbySanderson have been appointed 
following a competitive procurement process.

The LGA have provided a draft person specification and job 
description for the role and have recommended a salary in the 
range of £160k - £175k.

Budget Implications None

Recommendation The Joint Committee is asked to agree that the Leaders continue 
to work with the Programme Director and appointed consultants 
to agree final recommendations to the Shadow Council for:

1. The job description, person specification and terms 
and conditions of employment, the current version of 
which is set out at appendices 1, 2 and 3 to this report. 

2. The remuneration for the Chief Executive’s post, either 
as a spot salary or a salary scale with defined 
performance measures.  

Appendices Appendix 1 – Draft job description for the Dorset Council Chief  
                      Executive role

Appendix 2 -  Draft  person specification for the Dorset Council 
                      Chief Executive role

Appendix 3 – Draft terms and conditions for Chief Executive
                      for consideration

Appendix 4 - Comparative pay data provided by LGA.

Page 134



5

1. Background

1.1 On 21 February 2018, professional officers from the LGA attended the meeting of the Dorset 
Area Joint Committee to give a presentation to Members relating to the appointment of a 
Chief Executive for Dorset Council. 

1.2 Following the presentation, Members requested that a report be brought back to the May 
meeting of the Joint Committee to include the following information for consideration:

 Salary and terms and conditions of employment
 Job description and person specification
 Timetable for recruitment

1.3 As the decision had been taken to invite applications from existing Chief Executives in 
addition to going to the open market, Members authorised the Monitoring Officers to appoint 
external recruitment consultants to assist in designing and implementing the recruitment and 
selection process.  Use of external advisers helps to underpin the integrity and objectivity of 
the appointment decision and avoids any perception of bias that might otherwise be levelled 
should internal HR advisers be closely involved. 

1.4 Members also approved the continued involvement of the LGA in providing independent 
guidance to officers managing the process, including helping to define the role and the 
person specification, and recommending levels of pay and terms and conditions of 
employment. 

1.5 It was agreed that the Leaders’ Group should act as a Task and Finish Group to oversee the 
work.

1.6 The Joint Committee is asked to make recommendations to the shadow council on the 
matters referred to in paragraph 1.2. As explained below, these may be refined with the 
advice of the external advisers.

2. Job description and Person Specification

2.1 The job description and person specification for the role of Chief Executive will be the first 
created for the Dorset Council.  They will be used as the template for other roles in the new 
authority.  They will also be important in marketing the role to potential applicants and need 
to capture the aspirations and expectations of the Council, reflecting the principles of the 
21st Century Public Servant and other relevant practice.

2.2 An initial draft job description and person specification for the role of Chief Executive have 
been provided by the LGA and are attached at Appendix A.  Some additions have been 
made to the original documents supplied by the LGA to reflect early visioning work 
undertaken by the Joint Committee in April but further work is needed.  The external 

Report Originator and 
Contact

Keith Cheesman, Programme Director

Contact: keith.cheesman@dorsetcc.gov.uk 

Page 135



6

advisers engaged to support the recruitment and selection process have experience in this 
field and will be able to help refine and develop these documents as part of their brief.

3. Terms and conditions of service

3.1 At their meeting in February, Members received market information from the LGA regarding 
salary range and terms and conditions.  They have advised a salary in the range of £160k - 
£175k for a Chief Executive for a unitary authority of this size.  This range would compare 
well with other similar positions recently filled in the sector and attract candidates of 
appropriate quality. A copy of the comparative pay data previously shown to the committee 
is attached at Appendix 4.

3.2 The opportunity to be the first Chief Executive for Dorset Council will be attractive to many, 
but the available pool of candidates may influence the final decision regarding salary, as 
well as the level of experience and range of skills considered essential to the role.  Members 
will also need to decide whether they wish to offer a spot salary or a salary range with the 
opportunity for incremental progression linked to delivery of specific targets. Members may 
feel that it is difficult to specify contractual performance targets on behalf of the new council. 
Some existing Chief Executives in Dorset are employed on a spot salary and others have 
access to incremental progression. 

3.3 The LGA recommend national Chief Executives terms and conditions for this role.  This may 
be an expectation of any potential candidates currently working in local government.  
Additional draft terms and conditions are attached at Appendix C for consideration, including 
the offer of relocation expenses if appropriate.  In deciding the shape of the total offer for the 
Chief Executive role Members will wish to balance the offer of an attractive package with the 
potential risk for negative publicity.  Dorset is an attractive location and will play a part in the 
effective marketing of the role.

4. Appointment of External Advisers and Timetable for Recruitment

4.1 Following a competitive selection process, GatenbySanderson have been appointed to work 
with Dorset Shadow Council Members on the Chief Executive recruitment and selection 
process.

4.2 They have extensive experience in the successful appointment of Chief Executives across a 
wide range of sectors, including local government and understand the market for very senior 
roles and how to get the best candidates to apply.

4.3 GatenbySanderson have been commissioned to: 

 design and deliver the recruitment campaign
 undertake candidate search activities including targeted contact with individual 

candidates
 contribute to and advise on the design of the selection process
 undertake an assessment of all applicants against objective selection criteria to create a 

longlist

Page 136



7

 work with and advise elected Members to assess longlisted candidates against objective 
selection criteria and agree a shortlist

 notify all applicants who are not shortlisted and provide feedback if requested
 draft appropriate questions for Member interview panel.  These would be shared and 

agreed with Members in advance of the panel interview.
 attend any interview panel to advise Members in the selection of the preferred 

candidate, recording the basis for decision making and providing feedback to 
unsuccessful candidate

4.4 The job description, person specification and terms and conditions, including salary will 
need to be finalised in advance of recruitment activity. The final version of these documents 
will be reported to the first meeting of the shadow council. 

5. Timetable 

5.1 An indicative timetable for recruitment and selection of the Chief Executive for Dorset 
Council is set out below.  Taking account of the need to recruit across the summer months, 
the agency have recommended an extended period for the longlisting and shortlisting 
process to ensure the best availability of candidates and other stakeholders involved in the 
process.

5.2 Identifying stakeholder groups and Members to be involved in the selection process at an 
early stage will help in setting the date for interviews in good time.  This information would 
be included in any recruitment advertising. 

Job description, person spec, salary and 
other terms and condition agreed

Early June

Soft search activity by agency Early June
Development/design of recruitment 
campaign and selection process with 
Programme Director and Leaders

May/June 2018

Recruitment campaign go live 11 June 2018, following authorisation by 
Shadow Council Members

Longlisting, technical interviews and 
shortlisting

Mid July – end August 2018

Selection process runs w/c 3 or 17 September 
Shadow Council decision on appointment w/c 17 or 24 September

Page 137



8

Appendix 1

Dorset Councils Chief Executive
Role Descriptor

This is a unique role with far reaching impact and influence.  The Chief Executive (CEO) will 
shape and grow a new organisation, building its capacity and capability, establishing its brand 
and enhancing its reputation – and delivering the promised benefits.  Influencing across the 
Dorset Area, with tangible benefits to the workforce and to the public, this role requires a dynamic 
balance of strategic vision and pragmatism.

Beyond forging the unitary authority, and inspiring new colleagues, the CEO is responsible for 
designing the Strategic Leadership team, ensuring that the authority is fit for purpose and 
delivering on its commitments to the Leader, Members and its communities.

Working effectively with elected Members to provide leadership, vision and strategic direction for 
the Council and ensure the Council is appropriately structured, managed and resources directed 
to deliver corporate priorities and objectives. 

Specifically, the CEO is responsible for:

• Building and leading a highly competent and delivery focused Strategic Leadership team and 
ensuring high levels of performance and inclusive leadership behaviours

• Exerting influence at the most senior levels across an extensive range of government 
departments, public bodies and suppliers – establishing credibility and building the Authorities 
business and reputation

• Leading the Strategic Leadership team with a clear identity in terms of its flexible and 
responsive ways of working, inclusive and diverse culture, and high levels of employee 
engagement in order to encourage commitment.  Attracting, developing and retaining 
employees with the right skills and experience will be key.  It is really important that candidates 
are able to demonstrate successful leadership experience at this level and an ability to shape 
the culture, leadership and talent of an organisation

• Advising members on strategic direction and performance 

• Maintaining effective corporate governance, financial, performance, risk and assurance 
systems and processes

• Maintaining networks, through reputation and achievement, across an extensive field of 
stakeholders

• Accountable for the effective strategic direction and performance of the workforce. Supporting 
the development of a learning and performance management culture which sets clear 

Page 138



9

objectives for individual and service level performance, is based on the principles of 
partnership and cross service working, is linked as appropriate to outcomes determined by 
national and local performance indicators, and strives for continuous improvement across 
services. 

• Demonstrating and leading a commitment to a customer-focused and innovative 
organisational culture, taking controlled risks to achieve greater success and to maintain an 
environment where employees are inspired and motivated to give their best. 

• Hold Strategic Directors to account for delivery of their corporate priorities, improvement 
priorities and other key responsibilities. 

• Maintain effective communications and reporting protocols with all Statutory Officers and 
respond appropriately to recommendations made by Statutory Officers 

• Chair and develop the Strategic Leadership Team and develop broader organisational 
capability, ensuring resources within the organisation are appropriately targeted and 
managed and applying flexibility where necessary to achieve future objectives. 

• Maximise the resources available to the Council by levering the funds required for the 
organisation to meet its short and longer-term objectives. 

• Support the development of a learning and performance management culture which sets clear 
objectives for individual and service level performance, is based on the principles of 
partnership and cross service working, is linked as appropriate to outcomes determined by 
national and local performance indicators, and strives for continuous improvement across 
services. 

• Demonstrate and lead a commitment to a customer-focused and innovative organisational 
culture, taking controlled risks to achieve greater success and to maintain an environment 
where employees are inspired and motivated to give their best. 

• Act as a lead ambassador for the Council, representing and promoting the Authority at a local, 
regional and national level in order not only to raise the profile of the Dorset area and further 
its objectives, but also to identify, share and apply best practice from a range of sources, and 
to influence national policy making. 

• Understand, develop and manage complex partnerships involving other public sector 
agencies, business and community and voluntary groups in order to advance the development 
of Dorset area and improve the quality of life for its citizens

• Ensure services are effective, efficient and responsive to local circumstances and meet best 
value principles, and that departments are rigorous about service quality, apply standards 
fairly and consistently, and have robust mechanisms to monitor the impact of service delivery. 

Page 139



10

• Value the diversity of Dorset’s communities, ensuring equality of access and treatment in 
service delivery and employment. 

• Take lead responsibility for the health and safety of all employees or others who may be 
affected by the activities and functions of the Council, and ensure adequate resources are 
made available so the Council can meet its legal obligations under the Health and Safety at 
Work etc. Act 1974. 

• Undertake statutory duties as Head of Paid Service and properly exercise the authorities 
delegated to the role of Chief Executive according to the Council’s Constitution.  Acting as 
Returning Officer and Electoral Registration Officer. 

Draft 2 13/4/18

Page 140



11

Appendix 2

Dorset Councils Chief Executive
Person Specification

As part of their application, candidates must ensure that they provide examples to evidence 
their knowledge, skills and experience against the following essential criteria:

Qualifications

• Educated to degree level or equivalent
• Evidence of relevant continuing managerial and professional development 

Specialist Knowledge & Experience

• Extensive experience of working successfully in a senior management role in a complex 
organisation, such as a significant Local Authority

• Experience of successfully leading large scale and complex transformation programmes 
involving structural and cultural change. 

• A record of achievement in leading and making a sustained contribution to strategic 
leadership, decision making, policy formulation and service delivery 

• Knowledge of the range of issues facing individuals, communities and government, both 
local and central, and their implications for planning and delivering services 

• The ability to work corporately and manage resources effectively in a complex 
environment, including the ability to interpret and understand complex financial and 
budgetary information, and to negotiate and influence to direct resources 

• The ability to establish effective individual and service performance measures and 
evaluate service quality and individual performance to deliver significant improvements to 
secure best value 

• Extensive management experience and success in leading and managing organisational 
and cultural change 

• The ability to keep track of and interpret national and other major developments as they 
impact on the work of the Council and to present them to Elected Members in a timely and 

Page 141



12

effective manner in order to maximise the capacity of the Council to lead and influence 
events rather than simply reacting to them 

• Success in developing effective working relationships, building trust and influencing 
partnerships to deliver services 

• Demonstrable experience of taking difficult or contentious decisions and the ability to 
constructively manage conflict 

Practical and Intellectual Skills 

• The ability to develop and articulate a vision of how the organisation should operate in 
future, and to unite others to work together to realise that vision 

• The ability to think creatively and innovatively in developing, recommending and leading 
strategic initiatives and policies to assist in the achievement of organisational goals 

• The ability to provide inspirational leadership and to support, motivate and enable a large 
and diverse group of people at all levels within the organisation 

• The ability to provide effective and citizen focused services and promote collaboration, 
innovation and flexibility, fostering a positive organisational culture in an ever changing 
environment 

• The ability to deliver successful outcomes through others using leadership, inspirational 
and motivational skills as well as direct support and intervention to develop high 
performance in direct reports 

• The tenacity and professional courage to oversee the successful resolution of significant 
issues and projects 

• Highly developed political sensitivity and an understanding of, or the ability to acquire an 
understanding of the political context including devolved responsibilities and legislative 
differences 

Personal Attributes

• A high degree of political awareness and sensitivity and commitment to working closely 
with all councillors, local organisations and communities 

Page 142



13

• Exceptional communication skills in order to be a credible and convincing advocate for the 
Council and to be able to relate to people at all levels both inside and outside the Council 

• An open, facilitative and persuasive manner with highly developed interpersonal skills 

• Highly developed diplomatic skills, particularly in motivating, negotiating and persuading 
others, including partner organisations 

• Professional personal presentation and a level of self-awareness that helps build rapport 
and credibility, trust and confidence 

• Proven ability to challenge others constructively and improve others’ performance through 
coaching/mentoring skills 

• Demonstrable flexibility in their thinking and actions to help build an effective and efficient 
organisation 

• Self-motivated with a strong sense of purpose and drive for achievement 

• Consistently demonstrates resilience under pressure

• Personal commitment and evidence of achievement in the promotion of equality and 
diversity both in service delivery and employment 

Draft 2 13/4/18

Page 143



14

Appendix 3

Terms and Conditions

The appointment is within the terms of the JNC for Local Authority Chief Executives.

Working hours

Nominally 37 hours per week.  Due to the nature and seniority of this post there is a 
requirement to work longer hours as necessary.  No additional payment/enhancement for 
any hours worked in excess of 37 hours per week or hours undertaken outside of normal 
office hours are applicable. 

Annual leave entitlement

33 days annual leave plus 8 public holidays.

Pension entitlement

Local Government Pension Scheme.

Relocation expenses

Subject to qualification, the authority offers a relocation package.

Reimbursement of removal fees (legal fees, estate agent fees and one building society 
survey fee) up to a maximum of £6,533.

Disturbance allowance (i.e. for general costs of moving and resettlement, e.g. reconnection 
charges, replacement carpets etc) up to a maximum of £935.

A maximum of £97 per week towards temporary accommodation for a period of up to six 
months.  (This applies to those employees separated from dependants with whom they 
would normally live or while two homes are maintained).

Annual Medical

An annual medical examination is required

Annual Performance and Development Review

The Chief Executive has an externally facilitated annual PDR conducted by a Panel of 
Elected Members comprising the Leader of the Council and the political group leaders.

Commitment to Continued Professional Development

The Council is committed to staff development. Payment of fees for relevant training courses 
is available, subject to approval.

Page 144



15

Sickness Scheme

The National sick pay scheme provisions apply - one month at full pay and two months of 
half pay in the first year of service, rising to six months at full pay and six months of half pay 
after five years’ service.

(April 2018)

Page 145



16

Appendix 4

Comparative Pay data report for senior roles at the new 
Shadow Dorset Council

Introduction

We have been asked to provide comparative pay data that will inform and assist the new 
council when determining its pay structure and remuneration for senior management posts.

The new unitary council which comprises all of the old Dorset County excluding 
Bournemouth, Poole and Christchurch is at the eastern end of the south West region. The 
region is an extremely attractive area in terms of its local amenities and environment; which, 
combined with its proximity to London and quality of life make it one of the most expensive 
areas in the UK to buy or rent accommodation. In this context if the new Council wishes to 
attract the best quality candidates to apply for its new senior manager roles it should 
consider comparative pay data from the London region as well as the South West. 

Methodology 

To provide a picture of current pay levels we have provided details broken down at senior 
levels. This includes a recent analysis in 2015, of the data submitted to the Epaycheck pay 
database by participating local authorities; and, also published data from authorities of a 
similar size and type. While the Epaycheck data is now nearly three years old, the climate of 
low inflation; austerity; and very low national pay awards has resulted in very little movement 
in this market. If anything the trend has been to reduce rather that increase pay when senior 
management posts become vacant or local reviews are undertaken.

We have provided data for tier 2 or 1st tier director posts but this comes with the following 
caveat; 

 when analysing comparative data for first tier directors it is important to recognise 
that the final structure that the Council agrees will impact on levels of remuneration.  
As can be seen from the analysis of similar unitary councils from around England, 
there are a range of different strategic management and organisational structures. 
The number of posts and structure of the team will impact on relative job size and 
consequently should be considered when determining salary level.

Information has also been collated on other additional elements of remuneration offered to 
senior managers in local Government.

Page 146



17

Comparative pay data.

From the Epaycheck survey the following pay data showed:

 The median for Chief Executive Posts for unitary authorities was £147,489 in 2014/15 
(compared to £160,000) in 2010. A breakdown in the South West is shown below. 

South West 

Chief 

Lower quartile 
£s

Median Upper 
quartile

No of posts

Chief Executive 
Tier 1

£137,175 £150,314 £159,409 15

London 
Boroughs

Chief 

Lower quartile Median Upper quartile No of posts

Chief Executive 
Tier 1

£164,364 £175,313 £188,978 29

Median pay for tier 1 posts in shire /county single tier authorities was highest in London 
(£175,313) closely followed by East Midlands (£173,528) and East of England (£171,313). 
The lowest pay was in Wales (£127,642) and the North East £149,373)

Tier two Roles 

The median for tier 2 (directors) for all unitary authorities was £107,156 in 2014/15. 

South West Lower quartile Median Upper quartile No of posts

Tier 2 £98,202 £109,375
0006,314

£122,500 64

London 
Boroughs

Lower quartile Median Upper quartile No of posts

Tier 2 £126,076 £128,300 £138,175 87

Median pay for tier 2 posts in shire /county single tier authorities was highest in London 
(£128,300) closely followed by East Midlands (£124,562) and West of England (£117,186. 
The lowest pay was in Wales (£97,958) and the North of England £107,732)

Analysis of current pay for senior managers at comparative Councils is set out below.

Page 147



18

Authority Chief 

Executive 

Strategic Directors 3rd and 4th tier roles

Bournemouth £126,627 3 £103,850- £110,000

Plymouth £153,015 People £132,306

Place £125,641

Trans(2) £102,345

Excluded PH,s

11 3rd tier roles £55,118 
to £101,429

North Tyneside £146,300 2 excluding PH

£121,050 Dep CX

Health Education Care  
Safeguarding £101,067

20 posts ranging from 
£74,255 to £96,740

Wirral £177,456 Asst CX £111,117

Dir Children £140,00

Corporate Dir £124,255

Dir Health and Care£115,117

11 posts ranging from 
£68,690 to £103,606

Sunderland £177,456 3 Exec Dir £118,996 to £130,000 2 posts to £100,267

44 posts £59,999 to 
£99,999

Southampton £176,087 Under review pay grade £119,399 
to £143,258

13 posts £62,377 to 
£111,175

Bristol £160,000

(prev 
salary)

Subject to review proposal  Exec 
Dir £135 to £165.00

Level 2 £94,000 to 
£120,000

Level 2 

£85,000 to £105,00

Redcar and 
Cleveland

£148,158 3 Strategic Dir £119,075 8 Dir posts  1 at 
£102,157

Others £78,723

Derby £163,216 People £121,280

Place £115,771

14 posts from £70,430 - 
£84667 plus 41 Hds 
Serv up to £60,005

Page 148



19

Darlington £155,000 3 Dirs £120,999 11 posts £75,999 to 
£90,999

St Helens £141,399 £118,209 Snr Asst Dir £76,555

Asst Dir £71,904

North East Linc £135,000 Deputy CX Children’s and Adults 
£120,00

9 Dir posts £80-£90k (1 
on £95k)

Sefton £140,00 2 Exec Dir £115,000

Dir Social Care £125k

52 posts ranging from 
£50k up to £90k

Dudley £166,650 2 Exec Dir  £125,000 & £118,170 8 posts  £90,000

32 posts from £53,916 
to £67,586.

Gateshead £161,490 £112,569 (5) 21 service Directors 
salary ranges from 
£60,000 to £95,000

Bolton £188,719 £137,714 (3) 16 posts £85,842 - 
£127,513

Tameside £168,578 £125,243 (3) 13 Asst Dir £77,554 - 
£87,856

Additional elements to the remuneration package for senior staff

The following table shows where Authorities indicated a range of a number additional 
payments

No of 
Councils

% of 

Respondents

No of 
Posts

% of posts 

Covered 

Upper quartile 

Additional pay 

P R P 15 6% 155 4% £6,,565

Essential 
Car User 
Allow

47 18% 351 9% £1,239

Lease Car 

Allow

47 18% 245 6% £4,395

Other pay 36 14% 250 6% £6,320

Page 149



20

Conclusion

All Councils are faced with the challenge of recruiting and retaining senior staff in what is a 
relatively small pool of appropriately qualified individuals, e.g. children’s and adult’s services. 
They face continuing challenges for the necessary skills and experience from the private 
sector and other public sector bodies. 

Analysis of the pay data contained in this report suggest that if the new Council is to be 
competitive in the market and attract candidates of the appropriate quality the salary for the 
chief executive post should be pitched somewhere within the range of £160,000-£175,000.

Importantly, research also shows that individuals are attracted; retained; and, engaged by a 
range of both financial and non-financial rewards. As a consequence a coherent link 
between reward; an overall positive approach to people management; regional attraction; 
and, the challenge of leading a new organisation should provide the Council with a strong 
shortlist of candidates for these critical posts.

Senior adviser

LGA February 2018

Page 150



Date of Meeting 7 June 2018

Subject of Report High-Level Implementation Plan for Dorset Council 

Executive Summary This report provides the outline Implementation Plan for Dorset Council 
as required by the The Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole (Structural 
Changes) Order 2018 which came into force on May 26 2018.

The nature of the size, complexity and speed of this programme means 
that the ‘Shaping Dorset Council Plan’ is a live document and will be 
updated to reflect the data, information and issues that will be 
established and arise during the process.    

This plan describes the scope, planning process, organisation and 
resources of the programme, its governance and leadership and also 
sets out the high-level timeline, estimated budget, reporting process 
and risks identified. 

Finally, this paper details the proposed Implementation Team, required 
by the Structural Change Order, and seeks approval from Shadow 
Council that these arrangements described meet the obligation of the 
Order. 

Budget Implications None directly for the Shadow Council. 

Recommendation The Shadow Council is asked to:
1) Adopt this plan and note that further iterations and updates on 

progress against this plan will be brought forward and overseen 
through the Shadow Executive Committee arrangements at 
intervals to be agreed.

2) Approve the proposed Implementation Team 

Appendices

Report Originator Name: Keith Cheesman, Programme Director
Contact:       01305 221227

Page 151

Agenda Item 8



Introduction

The Future Dorset Proposal set out a clear proposal to radically review and improve public services in Dorset and to deliver cost efficiencies 
from this. Benefits are expected to be realised throughout public services with more co-ordination strategically and operationally across health 
and care, infrastructure, housing and education sectors.  New councils will be better placed to work with town and parish councils, embracing 
proposals to set up a new Town Council for Weymouth. 21st Century councillors will be digitally capable, strategic and connected with their 
communities.

The Local Government Reorganisation Programme – “Shaping Dorset Council” is setting out to deliver, as a minimum, the changes required to 
meet the requirements of the Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole (Structural Changes) Order 2018, insomuch as the new Dorset Council is 
created in time to deliver its services safely, legally and without break in continuity from the 1st April 2019. 

There is little time for the delivery of transformational change in this period and so the profile of the delivery of the savings will be adjusted, but 
here is no less ambition to achieve the fully expected savings set out in the proposal. A plan for the convergence of activity and the 
transformational change will be prepared during the life of this programme and forms a substantial part of the Phase 3 delivery described in 
more detail in this plan. 

A core team has been recruited to plan and manage the process of understanding the changes required by the act of closing and 
decommissioning the six preceding councils in order to create a brand new council.  Our collective workforce is providing much of the subject 
matter expertise to deliver the required programme and are being engaged through a wide range of activities.  

This plan sets out the high level workplan, programme resources and team structure and provides for the required appointment of an 
Implementation Team, as prescribed by Article 38 of The Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole (Structural Changes) Order 2018.  

Programme Approach
Planning has been organised around the three phases. While these are consistent with the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole programme 
approach, the work programme and some of the methodology is slightly different and reflective of the emerging culture and sense of the kind of 
organisation that the Dorset Council will aim to be, embracing the best of a culture born out of the 21st Century Council approach. 

P
age 152



Phase 1 deals with the ‘Creation of the new Council’, largely delivered by the Central Programme team on behalf of both unitary areas and 
includes the work, now reaching an end, to prepare the content for the Parliamentary process, including:

 Structural Change Order / Consequential Orders 
 Disaggregation of Dorset Council Council’s services in Christchurch
 Preparing the fall-back position ahead of the Boundary Commission Electoral Review
 Council Tax Harmonisation Strategy
 TUPE preparation

Phase 2 concentrates on the ‘Delivery of services on 01 April 2019’, and deals with the following: 

 Create the Shadow Authority and the new Council – the constitution and structures necessary to be operating legally
 Budgets – revenue and capital, Council Tax setting and Harmonisation implementation
 Policy – review / adoption / creation
 Contract novation 
 HR / Workforce / TUPE process (workforce in place with their contracts)
 Service continuity on day 1
 Decommission the preceding councils

Phase 3 focuses on the ‘designing & building the new Dorset Council’ and sets out either high 
level or interim steps towards a series of key components of how the new council will operate, 
such as:

 Future Vision / Operating Model 
 Culture / Values / Organisational Design
 Communication & Community Engagement
 Capital Development Plan / Operational Plan

P
age 153



Programme Methodology
In terms of the methodology, most of the effort and work is focused on Phase 2. The approach, now that the initiation is nearing completion, is 
to work through a “Discovery” stage which is specifically designed to draw out the detail required to build the detailed plans that will support the 
delivery of the changes required. The ‘Discovery’ – ‘Detailed Planning’ – ‘Day 1 Preparation’ stages are iterative and progressive; they are 
designed to ensure that progressively more information is drawn out and feeding into the planning before the mobilisation work is started. 

Phase 3 outputs will include certain elements such as the interim Design Principles for the new Council that will inform the detailed approach 
for delivering in phase 2.

P
age 154



Phase 1: Creation of the new Council
Ph

as
e 

3:
 D

es
ig

ni
ng

 th
e

ne
w

 
au

th
or

ity

Development of target operating model

Design a transformation programme to deliver the ambitions of the interim operating model

Development of a new corporate plan

Delivery of the People Plan

1. Legal 
Workstream

Sponsor: Debbie 
Ward

2.1 Financial 
Management & 
Budgetary Control  

2.2 Finance System

2.3 Feeder Systems

2.4 Revenues & 
Benefits

2.5 Financial 
Statements

2.6 Collection Fund

2.7 Budget Setting

2.8 Closedown 2018/19

2.9 Treasury 
Management

2.10 Governance

2.11 Disaggregation

2.12  Council Tax 
Harmonisation

3.1 People Plan delivery

3.2 Existing workforce
and TUPE Process 

3.3 Appointment to 
interim statutory 
roles

3.4 Appointment to new 
Chief Executive role

3.5 New workforce from 
day 1

3.6 Operational structure
from day 1

4.1 Service Mapping 
and Review

4.2 Customer impact 
assessment

4.3 Equalities Duties

4.4 Web content review  

4.5 Partnerships

5.1 Disaggregation

5.2 IT implementation 
Plan

5.3 Infrastructure

5.4 Applications and 
Data: Corporate

5.5 Applications and 
Data: Business

5.6 Service Delivery

5.7 Intranets

5.8 Public facing 
website 
infrastructure

6.1 General Data 
Protection 
Regulation (GDPR)

6.2 Information 
Commissioners 
Office 

7.1 Communication and 
Engagement 
Strategy 

7.2 Delivery plan
7.3 Branding for new 

authority
7.4 LGR media protocol
7.5 Communications

partnership  
7.6 Digital channels

1.1Create Shadow 
Authority

1.2 Election

1.3 Establishment and 
legal governance of 
the new council

1.4 Policies

1.5 Service safety

1.6 Statutory functions

Ph
as

e 
2:

 D
el

iv
er

in
g 

se
rv

ic
es

 o
n 

1 
A

pr
il 

20
19

Scoping Workshops Purpose: To identify and map the activity required to deliver the required infrastructure for a new legal authority

Service Continuity Workshops Purpose: To identify what essential operational changes are to maintain continuity of service from 1 April 2019

2. Finance 
Workstream

Sponsor: Steve 
Mackenzie

3. HR & 
Workforce 

Workstream
Sponsor: David McIntosh

4. Customer & 
Service Continuity 

Workstream
Sponsor: TBC

5. ICT 
Workstream

Sponsor: Matt Prosser

6. Information 
Governance 
Workstream 
Sponsor: Steve 

Mackenzie

7. Communication
and Branding 
Workstream 
Sponsor: Matt 

Prosser

v
v

Member Task and Finish Groups Purpose: Member led groups scoping specific tasks for the new council and making recommendations to Dorset Area Joint Committee

v
v

Phase 2 Workstreams

P
age 155



Workstream Plans – High Level

Project Scope Key tasks Timescale
1. Create and 

Manage 
Shadow 
Authority

To create and support the Dorset 
Council shadow authority, including 
the Executive and sub-committees 

 Set up Shadow Authority governance 
arrangements and constitution.

 Establish Member engagement plan.
 Set up Shadow Authority operational 

arrangements, code of conduct, Members 
allowances, and insurances.

 Identify policies and plans required

 Manage Shadow Authority 
 Establish meeting arrangements, as follows:

- set up agenda
- Forward plan
- Decision log

  Set up the IRP

June 2018

June 2018 
to April 
2019

2. Boundary 
review

To support and contribute to the 
review carried out by the LGBCE 

 Develop ward sizes and boundaries and submit 
to the LGBCE

 Review and comment upon the LGBCE’s 
recommendations once published

May 2018 
to August 
2018

3. 2019 Elections To prepare for the 2019 elections, 
including Dorset Council and 
Weymouth Town Council

 Register new Returning Officer  
 Create new electoral roll
 Prepare for Dorset Council elections
 Prepare for Weymouth Town Council elections     

    
 Prepare for Parish and Town council elections

December 
2018 to 
May 2019

Le
ga

l W
or

ks
tr

ea
m

4. Establishment 
of legal 
governance of 
the new council

To establish the governance of the 
new council

Create the following:
 A draft Constitution
 Meetings
 Website

 June 2018 
to February 
2019

P
age 156



Project Scope Key tasks Timescale
 Committee Structure
 Set up support arrangements for committees 

and full council
5. Prepare policies 

for new council
To establish the legal policies, 
strategies and plans required for day 
1, consider the legal requirements for 
all assets and confirm statutory 
functions and their policy 
requirements for 
day 1. 

 Identify all plans/strategies that must be created 
by the New Council for Day 1

 Identify plans and strategies that must be 
reviewed within 12 months of the new authority

 Identify responsible owners for creating new 
policies

 Recommend a process and timetable for review 
for the new Council and the development of any 
sub-plan supporting this.

May 2018 
to 
December 
2018

6.    Set up new 
Legal and 
Democratic 
function for Day 
1

To clarify those functions requiring 
continuation and agree how this will 
take place.

 Create operational arrangements for Day 1 for 
all current L&D teams.

 Identify transfer of casework

June 2018 
to March 
2019

7. 1 April 2019-6 
May 2019

To prepare for the transition period 
between vesting day and completion 
of elections in 2019 and determine 
how to conduct regulatory and 
statutory business

 Confirm what business will need to be 
considered during that period

 Confirm what business can be completed prior 
to 31st March

 Agree dates for Committees which need to 
conduct business.

September 
2018 to 
January 
2019

8. Set up 
Weymouth 
Town Council 

Set up of a new Town Council  Confirming the extent of responsibility of Dorset 
Council in setting up Weymouth Town Council

May 2018 
to March 
2019

9. Civic functions Set up civic functions and 
arrangements

 Identify what changes need to be made to 
support functions for ceremonial duties of

o Lord Lieutenants
o High Sheriff

September 
2018 to 
February 
2019

P
age 157



Project Scope Key tasks Timescale
 Confirm if any changes need to be made to coats 

of arms
10. Provide legal 

advice to other 
workstreams 
and services

 Ongoing support provided as and when required May 2018 
to May 
2019

 Develop a Dorset Council innovation hub for organisation 
design

Monthly

 Create a programme of communications for staff On-going
 Develop a method for assessing wellbeing within the 

workforce
May 2018
Oct   2018
Feb   2019

11. People Plan To provide emotional support to the 
workforce of each existing council

 Provide training and information for staff to access 
information on resilience, mental health and well-being 
including a mentoring programme

TBC

 Develop and implement the TUPE process 1 April 2018 
– 1 April 
2019

 Consult with workforce Formal 
consultation 
commences 
Nov 2018

 Engage with Employee Trade Unions Formal 
consultation 
commences 
Sept 2018

HR
 / 

W
or

kf
or

ce

12. Existing 
workforce and 
TUPE process

To TUPE existing workforce to the new 
Council.

 Engage with schools Formal 
consultation 
commences 
Nov 2018

P
age 158



Project Scope Key tasks Timescale
 Agree recruitment process and specification End May 

2018
 Invite applications and hold interviews End 

May/Early 
June

13. Appointment to 
interim statutory 
roles

To appoint an interim CEX, Monitoring 
Officer and S151 Officer to the Shadow 
Council

 Make appointments 13 June 2018
 Recruitment process agreed End March 

2018
 Consultants appointed and specs for key selection criteria 

developed
By 20 May 
2018

 Invite applications and hold interviews May – July 
2018

14. Appointment to 
new Chief 
Executive role

To appoint a Chief Executive, to Dorset 
Council

 Make appointment W/C 16 July 
2018

 Agree new recruitment process TBC
 Agree documentation for new staff TBC
 Agree pay process TBC

15. New workforce 
employed from 
day 1

To appoint new staff to Dorset Council on 
day 1. 

 Agree learning and development outcomes TBC
 Confirm senior staffing structures and processes from day 

1
TBC

 Confirm operational structure from day 1 TBC

16. Operational 
structure from 
day 1

To confirm Dorset Council operational 
structure from day 1.

 Collate future options to feed into phase 3 innovation hub 
for transformation post day 1.

TBC

Fi
na

nc
e

17. Financial 
Management & 
Budgetary 
Control

To ensure that there is proper overall 
financial management & budgetary 
control in place for the new Authority 
by April 2019

 Chart of accounts

 Organisation Structure (Finance Hierarchy)

 Adult Social Care
 Childrens Social Care

 Budget Monitoring & Forecasting

August 
2018

P
age 159



Project Scope Key tasks Timescale
18. Finance System To make the transition from the 

existing six Councils to a single finance 
system for reporting on 1st April 2019

 Training

 Finance system development

March 19

19. Feeder Systems To establish back office systems which 
fit with the new council’s financial 
strategy and policies including contract 
management

 Income / debtors / cash receipting
 Procure to pay / creditors / contracts
 Feeder systems and integration

End 
September 
2018

September 
2018

June 2018
20. Revenues & 

Benefits
To clarify arrangements for Revenues 
& Benefits service from 1/4/19 and 
longer term.
To align with other policies eg. Local 
Council Tax Support.  

Revenues & Benefits End March 
2019

21. Financial 
Statements

To ensure that existing accounting 
policies, arrangements and data are 
properly documented in line with 
international accounting standars and 
understood by all staff ready for 
1/4/19

 Accounting policies harmonisation

 Asset accounting

 IFRS16 (leases)
 IFRS9 (financial instruments)
 IFRS15 

 Group accounts 

January 
2019

September 
2018

September 
2018

P
age 160



Project Scope Key tasks Timescale
22. Collection Fund To establish a unitary taxbase, 

surplus/deficit, likely year end position 
and a safety net and baseline levels on 
Business rates and Council tax.

 Council tax / collection fund

 Business rates / collection fund August 
2018

23. Budget Setting To ensure all budget information for 
the 2018/19 financial year is clearly 
laid out in a single place for the Dorset 
Council

 Fees and charging
 Budget setting - Draft budget agreed
 Consultation.
 Approval by Shadow Authority Scrutiny
 Finalise by
 Medium Term Financial Planning

o Programme Board approval

26/9/2018.
Oct/ Nov 18
Jan ‘19

March ‘19

July 2018

24. Closedown 
2018/19

To ensure the timely and accurate 
closedown, reporting and audit of the 
2018/19 accounts for all current 
councils

Closedown 2018/19 By 31st 
March 2019

25. Treasury 
Management

To ensure all treasury arrangements 
and bank accounts across all the 
councils are documented and 
transferred in the name of Dorset 
Council

Budget / bank account management and transition

Treasury Management

New bank 
account 
operational 
1st April 
2019

26. Governance To ensure that all the new Dorset 
Council’s financial arrangements are 
legally compliant

VAT

Insurance

Financial Governance / Constitution

August 
2018

February 
2019

August 
2019

P
age 161



Project Scope Key tasks Timescale

GDPR 

(Covered in Information Governance Workstream)

31st 
December 
2019

27. Disaggregation Disaggregation and agreeing of the 
balance sheet with BCP Council

Disaggregation Schedule

28. Council Tax 
Harmonisation

Council Tax Harmonisation June 18

 Produce high level project plan April
 Produce RAID log April
 Service mapping April
 Portfolio structure for workshops May
 Service continuity workshops May
 Analysis of required changes June
 Full analysis of required changes and 

recommendations to service continuity group for 
review

June

 Final recommended decisions to shadow executive/ 
programme board

June

 Implementation workshops July
 Full implementation plan for all service functions August
 Assessment of full implementation plan and 

workstream dependencies/ requirements 
August

 Meet with lead officers to delegate tasks August
 Map out required LGR programme team resource 

for implementation
August

Se
rv

ic
e 

Co
nt

in
ui

ty

29. Service Mapping 
and Review 

To identify and implement any 
operational arrangement changes 
required for each function delivered 
by current authorities to maintain 
continuity of service from 1 April 2019 
under the new Council.

 Support infrastructure in place for implementation August 19 – 
March 19

P
age 162



Project Scope Key tasks Timescale
30. Web content 

review
Ensuring required web content 
changes are in place for day 1

 Scope requirements for customer focus web content 
for day 1 

End of June

31. Partnerships To ensure partnerships continue to 
deliver their service on day 1.

 To ensure appropriate governance arrangements 
are in place under the new Council 

TBC

32. Disaggregation Identify and transfer ICT systems, data 
and equipment to BCP, Weymouth 
Town Council and Dorset Council 

 Identify ICT systems, data and equipment to be 
transferred from Dorset County Council to BCP.

 Identify ICT systems, data and equipment to be 
transferred to Weymouth Town Council.

 Identify ICT systems, data and equipment to be 
transferred from East Dorset and Christchurch to 
Dorset Council.

 Create implementation plans. 

 Transfer ICT services

June to 
August 
2018

September 
2018

March 2019
33. Infrastructure Understand the infrastructure 

landscapes across the partners and 
resolve any IP address conflicts to 
enable connectivity between sites. 
Support 

 Create one Microsoft Agreement for Dorset 
Council

 Create ‘As is’ infrastructure maps across the 
partners

 Create one domain to provide one address for all 
staff 

 Resolve all network conflicts and create VPNS

 Develop options and recommendations for 
intranets and websites

May to July 
2018
July to 
March 2019
September 
to October 
2018
September 
2018

IC
T 34. Applications Identify all applications and 

contractual arrangements across the 
partners, resolve any issues to ensure 

 Create list of applications and contractual 
arrangements across the partners

By August 
2018

P
age 163



Project Scope Key tasks Timescale
all staff have access to their relevant 
applications on day 1

 Resolve any issues and ensure support is in place 
for day 1

September 
to March 
2019

35. Service Delivery Ensure the Dorset Council ICT support 
and disaster recovery models are fit 
for purpose on day 1 of Dorset Council

 Identify partners current support models 

 Resolve any support issues identified 
 Create Dorset Council ICT support operating 

model for day 1 

By August 
2018
September 
to March 
2019

P
age 164



Children Adults

Care and Protection

Care and Support

Family Partnership Zones

SEND Support & 
Statutory Functions

Commissioning and 
Partnerships

Education, Learning & 
Skills

Partnerships

GIS

Service Critical Changes 
Service continuity workshops are underway, to explore all the changes necessary with groups of subject matter experts for each of the service 
groupings illustrated below. These groupings do not represent corporate structure or form; they are common to both Unitary programmes in 
order to minimise confusion and complication across the services that are served in both council areas by Dorset County Council and 
Christchurch & East Dorset Councils. The workshop’s aim is to drive out detail of services and functions: 

 To identify whether there are any changes required  
 To identify risks, issues and key decisions 
 To enable services to continue from day 1

P
age 165



Task & Finish Groups 

A number of Task and Finish Groups have been put into place, their purpose is essentially twofold - to ensure that Members have a clear place 
to lead the work required in areas of specific detail and to provide a means of engagement, both for elected members and wider partners, 
alongside the communications and engagement strategy. 

Four of the groups – electoral arrangements, disaggregation, the Structural Change Order and council tax harmonisation – have focused on 
tangible outputs that have been required by Government to support the Parliamentary process. The council tax harmonisation group has now 
closed following successful completion of their task. 

A further four groups – area based decision-making, community partner engagement, Future Service Integration (shared services) and wider 
member engagement – reflect values and aspirations and have broad, overlapping remits which are cross-cutting elements of the emerging 
programme plan. 

Three Task and Finish Groups have been paused by 
Joint Committee to allow time for the Phase 3 work on 
the interim Operating Model and Design Principles to 
progress, allowing time to consider how these groups 
ensure their work best fits the model and broad 
principles of the new Council. These three are:

 Future State (Service Integration)
 Community Partner Engagement
 Area Based Decision-making

P
age 166



Key Programme Milestones  

Expected Secretary of State Decision 26 February 18 

‘Negative order’ to cancel the Weymouth election 6 March 18 

Parliamentary Approval of Structural Change Order 25 May 18 

Shadow Authority Active 26 May 18 

Shadow Dorset Council Meeting, including the appointment of an officer 
implementation team and interim statutory officers

7 June 18

Boundary Commission engaged 14 June 18

Parliamentary Approval of Consequential Change Orders 27 July ’18

Draft Budget / Aggregation plan agreed 31 August 18

Boundary Review Complete 23 October 18

Boundary Order Approved 21 December 18

New Council Budget finalised  January 19

Budget Approved by Shadow Authority 20 February 19

Council Tax bills issued 15 March 19

Vesting Date 1 April 19 
 

P
age 167



Critical path

P
age 168



Resources and core structure
The current ‘core’ programme team structure, the roles and the respective responsibilities are illustrated as follows:

Programme Director

Overall accountability to 
DAJC/SEC for programme 
delivery. Team leadership, 
stakeholder management

Programme Manager 
Future State

Leading the design, 
definition, planning and 

delivery of Phase 3

Communications & 
Engagement Manager

Responsible for creating 
LGR communication plan, 

Engagement Plan and 
oversight of LGR material

Programme Manager
Day 1 Critical

Leading the design, 
definition, planning and 

delivery of all Day 1 
Critical Services. 

Responsible for reporting 
and dependency mapping 

of Day1 

Workstream Coordinator

Link between Member 
T&F Groups and Projects/

programme activity. 
Managing dependencies 
between workstreams.

Workstream Coordinator

ICT Strategic Lead

Leadership of all ICT plans 
and approach, 

coordination of sovereign 
ICT activity, Technical 
advisory to PD, PB and 

Programmes

Project Manager Project Manager

Project Manager

Plan and manage the 
workpackets, ensure 

scope and plan are clear, 
reporting as necessary. 

Project Manager Project Manager (0.6)

Project Support Officer

Ensure project paperwork 
– plans, scope statements 
and reporting are in place 

and up to date. 

HR Strategic Lead

Leadership of all HR plans 
and approach, 

coordination of sovereign 
HR activity, Technical 

advisory to PD, PB and 
Programmes

Personal / Team Assistant
Ensure PD diary/email 

supported. Meeting 
management – papers 
and logistics in place. 

Team support

Programme Office 
Manager

Leading the creation and 
running of the LGR Prog 
Management Office and 
overall responsibility for 
quality of delivery and  
governance 

Communications Officer

Responsible for creating LGR 
communication material 

which is consistent, timely 
and high quality for staff, 

members and public

Programme Board Member
Organisational accountability 

for programme delivery. 
Acting as Workstream 

Sponsor. Political stakeholder 
management. Statutory 
responsibilities for LGR

Project Manager

P
age 169



The full delivery team for this programme is far wider than just the core programme team; the enormity and complexity of the programme 
delivery task is such that many people will be drawn from across the organisations and from external support in order to ensure the delivery of 
a smooth transition of safe and legal services from day 1. As the programme develops further, changes to the level of resources will be 
considered. 

The team is more properly represented as illustrated. 

These groups are constituted from the 
various leads and key individuals from 
across the six preceding authorities and in 
some cases from the Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole unitary area, thus 
meeting the requirement under Article 38 
of the Change Order. 

Meetings to progress activity and resolve 
issues happen on a routine and regular 
basis for each of these groupings, in their 
respective areas of expertise and routine 
responsibilities. 

There is no expectation of these groups all 
meeting together at any point, the role of 
the core team is to ensure that outputs and 
activity of these expert groups is brought 
together.

Programme Board arrangements 
The existing board arrangements are for a weekly meeting of the four Chief Executives, with the Programme Director to discuss progress, 
resolve issues, make operational decisions, manage risks and ensure full connection of their respective organisations to the programme of 
work. Once the Interim S151 and Monitoring Officers are appointed, they will also join the Board, with the Interim Head of Paid Service taking 
up the chair of the Programme Board. When appropriate, the Programme Board will be further extended to include the Service Directors and 
equivalent roles in each of the preceding councils, so that full accountability is built into board for the continuing services, functions and 
arrangements. 

Shadow Dorset Council is asked to approve these programme and resource arrangements as appropriate. 

P
age 170



Budget 
The work undertaken by Local Partnerships envisaged the costs of creating two unitary councils would amount to approximately £25m. The 
majority of this cost (£22.5m) was expected to be incurred shortly after the new unitary councils are created. The balance of £2.5m represented 
Local Partnerships’ assessment of the programme management costs to be incurred before April 2019. The Dorset Area proportion of this 
estimated is calculated to be £1.213m.

As the programme has developed, it has become clear that the delayed decisions from Secretary of State has compressed timescale which 
has implication on the deliverability. Also, the decision by Dorset Area Joint Committee to create a new council, rather than use the Continuing 
Authority model has, to an extent, also increased the amount of work in the programme needed to understand a greater number of services, 
processes, policies and contracts than was previously expected. 

Therefore, with the vesting date being fixed and the absolute necessity for continuity of service required, the resources required to deliver some 
of the programme management costs will be greater than estimated previously. 

The breakdown of costs currently incurred and estimated as required to reach 31 March 2019 is set out as follows:

Costs Jan 2018 – Mar 2019 £’000  

Staffing         1,863.3 
Contingency            278.7 
Bought in Consultancy / Services            237.0 
Technical Support            200.0 
Legal Support              50.0 
Set Up Costs                4.0 

2,633.0
Provision for Operational Costs            400.0 *
Potential duplicate costs            167.0 *

567.0
        3,200.0

In the schedule above, the costs marked * are not normally considered to be programme management costs and so these have been 
presented separately.

P
age 171



Communications plan summary and approach

The communications plan focuses on the creation of the Shadow Dorset Council. The current focus is on delivering clear, consistent and timely 
communications to all stakeholders, to raise awareness of the Dorset Shadow Council and ensure they understand it’s role and remit. 

The Communications plan is a ‘live’ document which is subject to regular revision throughout the programme and recognises the work that has 
already taken place and is still ongoing. This work is being developed through the Wider Member task and finish group, LGR Communications 
Group.

Branding 
A microbrand has been established for the Dorset Shadow Council. This is not to be confused with the branding for the new authority which has 
yet to be developed. 

Tactics

Tactics to support the Shadow Dorset Council are in progress. Activity is listed below:   

Stakeholder Activity

Elected 
Members

Each council to use the following existing established mechanisms and channels to ensure members are fully briefed and 
able to access information. This will include: 

- Briefings as determined by leaders
- Member newsletters 
- LGR members briefing (fortnightly) 
- Mod Gov extranet – library facility to hold briefings, newsletters & presentations. 
- Task and Finish groups 

In addition new channels and opportunities for engagement will be created. This has been informed by the Wider Member 
Task and Finish Group: 

- Facilitated workshops – designing the new authority 
- Shared sharepoint site where members can access latest news and information. 

P
age 172



- LGR programme drop in sessions 

Wider 
public 

DIGITAL 
Social media accounts (twitter, facebook) to be kept current and well populated. This includes the 6 council’s accounts, 
DACJ accounts & Dorset For You. Individual councils to post and engage with well known social media groups. 

A Shadow Dorset Council will replace the DAJC wordpress site. Ensure information is current.
Maximise email & news channels to inform residents as decisions are taken to ensure maximum awareness of topics (e.g. 
council tax harmonisation, disaggregation, budgets) 

PRINT 
Council magazine / enewsletter features (where applicable) 

MEDIA
The media across Dorset have an important role to play in reporting on the views of the public, workforce and stakeholders 
and supporting their discussions about local government reorganisation. They are recognised as a key partner. It is 
important that a way of working is established with the media which recognises their priorities, ways of working and supports 
the need to communicate accurate and up to date information. Meetings will be held with editors/reporters to explore how 
we can effectively work together.

Priority will be given to using council channels to hold the latest information and news, to help prepare residents for the new 
council. 

Workforce Each council will use existing established mechanisms and channels to ensure the workforce is fully briefed and able to 
access information which include:

- New shared sharepoint site ‘Shaping Dorset Council’ which will include an area on the Shadow Dorset Council 
- Intranet - e-newsletters - emails - Blogs/ Vlogs · FAQs to be encouraged and updated regularly with the aim to 

have a consistent set of questions and answers across the programme
- Programme Director blog 
- Regular briefings to be arranged 

P
age 173



Town & 
Parish 
Councils

- Information to be supplied to DAPTC website and newsletter. 
- Provide updates at relevant points to ensure business and voluntary sectors remain informed and engaged 

throughout the process.

Dorset Area 
MPs

- Provide updates at relevant points to ensure MPs remain informed and engaged throughout the process

Business & 
voluntary 
sectors

- Provide updates at relevant points to ensure business and voluntary sectors remain informed and engaged 
throughout the process. 

Resources & Budget 
The LGR communications team for the Dorset Area consists of a Communications and Engagement Manager and two Communications 
Officers which are full time posts in the LGR Programme Team. They work closely with the Wider Member engagement task and finish group 
and the Dorset Area Communications group which is made up of communication leads from each Dorset Area council (see table below). 

Campaign budgets and resources are being managed and controlled in line with Dorset County Council procurement rules. Expenditure and 
costs will be monitored against delivered benefits on an ongoing basis and will ensure money is spent wisely and secures best value.

Dorset Area Communications Group 

Lead  Communications Lead Contact
LGR Programme Director, 

Keith Cheesman

Fiona Napier 

LGR Communications & Engagement Manager

T:  01305 224877

E: Fiona.napier@dorsetcc.gov.uk

Shadow Dorset Council Leader (tbc) Fiona Napier 

LGR Communications & Engagement Manager

T:  01305 224877

E: Fiona.napier@dorsetcc.gov.uk

LGR Communications Leads
Leaders / Chief Executives Communications Lead Contact

P
age 174

mailto:Fiona.napier@dorsetcc.gov.uk
mailto:Fiona.napier@dorsetcc.gov.uk


Dorset County Council 

Cllr Rebecca Knox, Leader 

Debbie Ward, Chief Executive  

Sarah Johnstone 

Communications Manager

Dorset County Council 

E: s.l.johnstone@dorsetcc.gov.uk

T: 01305 224734

East Dorset District Council 

Cllr Spencer Flower, Leader 

David McIntosh, Chief Executive 

Ceri Lewis, 

Communications and PR Manager

Christchurch and East Dorset Councils 

E:CLewis@christchurchandeastdorset.gov.uk

T: 01202 795455

North Dorset District Council 

Cllr Graham Carr Jones, Leader 

Matt Prosser, Chief Executive 

Will Bradbury 

Communications Officer

Dorset Councils Partnership

E: wbradbury@dorset.gov.uk

T: 01305 838079

Purbeck District Council 

Cllr Gary Suttle, Leader 

Steve Mackenzie, Chief Executive 

Claire Lodge

Communications Officer

Purbeck District Council 

E: clairelodge@purbeck-dc.gov.uk 

T: 01929 557201 

West Dorset District Council 

Cllr Tony Alford, Leader 

Matt Prosser, Chief Executive 

Will Bradbury 

Communications Officer

Dorset Councils Partnership

E: wbradbury@dorset.gov.uk

T: 01305 838079

Weymouth & Portland Borough Council 

Cllr Jeff Cant, Leader 

Matt Prosser, Chief Executive 

Will Bradbury 

Communications Officer

Dorset Councils Partnership

E: wbradbury@dorset.gov.uk

T: 01305 838079

 

P
age 175

mailto:s.l.johnstone@dorsetcc.gov.uk
mailto:CLewis@christchurchandeastdorset.gov.uk
mailto:wbradbury@dorset.gov.uk
tel:01305%20838079
mailto:clairelodge@purbeck-dc.gov.uk
mailto:wbradbury@dorset.gov.uk
tel:01305%20838079
mailto:wbradbury@dorset.gov.uk
tel:01305%20838079


Governance map 

Governance of the programme will change from previous arrangements involving the Dorset Area Joint Committee as the 
Shadow Council comes into place and a Shadow Executive Committee is convened. 

P
age 176



Risk Management 
A risk workshop was held with the Joint Committee to give some thought to the Committee’s appetite for risk taking.  An awareness of risk 
appetite is an essential part of the decision-making process, in ensuring that appropriate risks are escalated, understood and ultimately 
managed to an acceptable level.  A number of questions were posed to Committee members across a range of risk criteria to identify those 
areas where there was a higher appetite for risk.  The output of this session can be viewed in the diagram below:

This work highlights a very strong appetite for opportunity risk, and significantly less for compliance type risks (for instance, health and safety 
and legal).  There is also relatively high appetite for reputational risk.  From a financial perspective, based on the responses to the questions 
posed, any risk exposure above £500,000 would be deemed above the usual appetite for risk taking.

The workshop also took some time to consider the key strategic risks to successful delivery of the programme and this is covered below.

P
age 177



Risk Management Methodology

 The Committee approved in principle the risk management methodology at its meeting on 15th November 2017.  In prioritising the key 
focus on risks, it is commonplace to consider both the impact of a risk occurring together with its likelihood.  By scoring both factors and 
multiplying them together, a risk score can be applied.  Priority focus should be given to risks that have a significant impact and are 
considered likely to occur based on current mitigation operated. 

 The output from the risk appetite session helps us to refine the methodology to provide some clear escalation criteria for those risks that fall 
above our appetite for risk taking.  In particular, the work informs how we gauge the level of impact.  This is set out in the matrix included at 
Appendix A of this report, and provides a mechanism for scoring not only the threats to programme delivery, but also any opportunities 
presented.

 Appendix A also defines how likelihood of risk will be assessed, and how the multiplication of impact and likelihood provides a risk score for 
High (Red), Medium (Amber) or Low (Green) level risks.

Programme Risks

The second part of the February workshop focussed on an identification of the most significant risks that could potentially impact on the 
successful delivery of the programme.  The chart below sets out the key risk themes discussed.  

Future State
• Inability to establish most effective management team;

• Failure to agree corporate vision;

• Failure to recognise the opportunities to streamline and 
modernise services to deliver a new Council vision for a 
new Authority;

• Insufficient capacity/resources to deliver the programme 
within timescales (project slippage)

Finance / Disaggregation
• Delays in disaggregation work;

Workforce
• Failure to ensure due diligence during restructuring / 

staff transfer process;

• Failure to agree a set of HR policies that dovetail;

• Retention of key staff may be difficult during period of 
uncertainty and transition

• Conflict of capacity between Shadow structure reps 
and their employing LA

Legal / Governance
• Failure to establish early decision-making processes;

P
age 178



• Disaggregation of management / staffing / budgets 
structures across Shared Service arrangements;

• Council Tax harmonisation strategy is not agreed 
(locally or nationally);

• Interdependencies with other government bodies 
causes delays (HMRC PAYE Number etc);

• Insufficient transformation to achieve the financial 
benefits set out in the business case;

• Poor budget forecasting and control

• Failure to understand full statutory responsibilities of 
merging authorities creates an exposure to legal 
challenge

Technology
• Failure to integrate systems and data sharing 

arrangements

Customer / Service Delivery
• Inadequate communication with the public / partners 

during transition;

• Drop in service levels during transition

The Programme Team are analysing these risks in more detail and are populating a risk register to include the mitigation being taken to reduce 
the level of risk to an acceptable level.  From an escalation perspective, it is important that the Joint Area Committee remain sighted on those 
risks that are deemed above risk appetite, and using the scoring matrix in Appendix A this is defined as any risks scored as High/Red, or where 
the potential impact is scored as either a 4 or 5 (in recognition that whilst likelihood may be low, the potential impact is above the Committee’s 
usual appetite for risk taking).

Future reporting of risk to Joint Committee will include those risks which fit the agreed profile described, with an indication of the mitigation 
being undertaken or in place. There will also be an indication of the confidence level in that mitigation successfully reducing risk to an 
acceptable level. 

Wherever possible, risks will be mitigated or managed to levels scoring in the green or amber scales set out below. Exceptions to this will be 
reported, along with areas trending towards the reportable scale. 

P
age 179



Risk Landscape for Dorset Council

In addition to the work carried out to date in relation to implementation risks, some preliminary work has been undertaken across the partner 
authorities to get a view of the current risk landscape for the new Dorset Council, based on the content and scoring within outgoing authority 
corporate risk registers.  This helps to provide an early indication of key risk exposures, which will develop further as Dorset Council’s vision is 
defined.  The Programme Team will map key risks associated with reorganisation to this output, and will report the findings in a future risk 
management update.  

5 Almost Certain Over 80% chance
4 Likely 61 – 80% chance
3 Possible 41 – 60% chance
2 Unlikely 21 – 40% chance
1 Rare 0 – 20% chance

LIKELIHOOD
(1) Rare (2) Unlikely (3) Possible (4) Likely (5) Almost Certain

5 5 10 15 20 25

4 4 8 12 16 20

3 3 6 9 12 15

2 2 4 6 8 10

1 1 2 3 4 5

LIKELIHOOD

IM
PA

CT

Score Financial Legal / Compliance Strategic Safety, Wellbeing & 
Safeguarding Reputation Service Delivery Score Financial Service 

Improvement

5 Over £1 million
Non-compliance with 

legislation or regulatory 
breach

Complete failure of a 
strategic priority

Fatality or life-changing 
injury / illness; Significant 

safeguarding breach

Complete failure in 
confidence (local or 

national)

Complete failure to deliver 
critical services (safeguarding; 

urgent statutory 
responsibilities etc)

5 Over £1 
million

4 £500k to £1 million
Significant regulatory 

impact
Major impact on a strategic 

priority

Major injury / illness; 
moderate safeguarding 

breach

Long term media 
attention (local or 

national)

Major impact on delivering 
critical services (safeguarding; 

urgent statutory 
responsibilities etc)

4 £500k to £1 
million

3 £300k to £500k Moderate regulatory 
impact

Moderate impact on a 
strategic priority

Moderate injury / illness
Medium term negative 

impact on public 
memory

Serious disruption to less 
critical services

3 £300k to 
£500k

Moderate 
opportunity

2 £100k to £300k Minimal regulatory 
impact 

Minor impact on a strategic 
priority

Injury or illness requiring 
minimal intervention / 

treatment

Short term negative 
impact on public 

memory
Minor disruption to services 2 £100k to 

£300k
Minor 

opportunity

1 £100k or less
No legal or regulatory 

impacts
Negligible impact on a 

strategic priority
No health and safety 

impact
Minor complaints or 

rumours
Negligible disruption to 

service delivery
1 £100k or less

Negligible 
opportunity

IMPACT - THREATS IMPACTS - OPPORTUNITIES

Significant 
opportunity

P
age 180



Appointments to Committees

Date of Meeting 7 June 2018

Officer Proper Officer for the Shadow Dorset Council: Debbie Ward, 
Chief Executive – Dorset County Council

Subject of Report Appointments to Committees 2018/19

Executive Summary The Shadow Dorset Council Constitution states that at its first 
meeting the Shadow Council shall appoint to the standing 
committees. 
 
The Shadow Council is therefore invited to- 

1. allocate seats to political groups and to make appointments to 
committees for the year 2018/19; and, 

2. delegate authority to Group Leaders to make in-year changes 
to appointments.

The nominations of the Group Leaders will be circulated prior to 
the meeting.

Equalities Impact Assessment: N/A 

Use of Evidence: Appropriate use of evidence has been used in 
the compilation of this report by utilising the membership details of 
Committees during 2018/19.

Budget: This report has no budget or VAT implications. 

Risk Assessment: Having considered the risks associated with 
this decision using the County Council’s approved risk 
management methodology, the level of risk has been identified 
as: 
Current Risk: LOW  Residual Risk: LOW

Impact Assessment:

Other Implications: N/A

Recommendation 1. That seats and appointments to the Shadow Executive 
Committee of the Shadow Dorset Council be allocated, as 
nominated by Dorset Councils for 2018/19. 

Page 181

Agenda Item 9



Appointments to Committees

2. That seats and appointments on committees of the Shadow 
Dorset Council be allocated, as nominated by Group 
Leaders, for 2018/19. 

3. That Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of committees for the 
year 2018/19 be appointed at the first meeting of each 
committee.   

4. That delegated authority be given to Group Leaders to make 
in-year changes to appointments.

Reason for 
Recommendation

To comply with the Shadow Council’s Procedure Rules (Standing 
Orders).   

Appendices
None

Background Papers
None

Officer Contact Name: Dorset Area Monitoring Officers
Tel: (01305) 224181
Email: j.e.mair@dorsetcc.gov.uk    

Political Groups and Percentage Entitlement   

1.1 All members of the Dorset Shadow Council except for four councillors belong 
to one of the four political groups across all Dorset councils.   

1.2 At the point of writing this report no Dorset area political groups have been 
formed, but officers have used the existing political affiliations to assume 
political proportionality.  However, by the time of this meeting political groups 
must be formed and the entitlements could therefore change and be updated 
as necessary.  The number of members of political groups and the percentage 
entitlement is therefore as follows:   

Conservative Liberal
Democrat

Labour Green

150 (72.81%) 36 (17.47%) 13 (6.31%) 3 (1.46%)

Note: There is the addition of four independent members across four councils.  

Committees of the Dorset Shadow Council  

2.1 The Shadow Executive Committee will carry out all of the Shadow Council’s 
duties and responsibilities which are not the responsibility of any other part of 
the Shadow Council, whether by law or under this Constitution, and in 
particular it will carry out those duties and responsibilities of the Shadow 
Executive Committee which are contained in the 2018 Order.  It shall be 
responsible for making recommendations to the Shadow Council on the 
setting of a budget for the Dorset Council and will have the opportunity to 
express a view to the Shadow Council on the appointment of Senior Officers 
prior to any such appointment being confirmed.

Page 182

mailto:j.e.mair@dorsetcc.gov.uk


Appointments to Committees

2.2 The Order provides that the Shadow Executive Committee is to consist of ten 
councillors nominated by Dorset County Council and two councillors 
nominated by each of the District/Borough Councils, each of whom is for the 
time being a member of the nominating Council.

2.3 No deputy or substitution arrangements are allowed in respect of the Shadow 
Executive Committee. The Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Shadow 
Council cannot be appointed to the Shadow Executive Committee.  

2.4 The entitlement to seats on the remainder of the committees of the Shadow 
Dorset Council which are allocated to each political group must bear the same 
proportion to the total of those seats as the number of members of each group 
is to the membership of the Shadow Council.  

2.2 In addition, where a political group has a majority of seats on the Shadow Council, it 
must also have a majority on each individual body to which appointments are made.     

 
2.3 However, the Shadow Council may waive political balance rules for any 

committee where the Council wishes to appoint an alternative number of 
members from political groups.  In order for political balance to be waived no 
member must object to this, an objection by a single member would make it 
necessary to apply strict proportionality.   

2.4 The table below shows the number of seats on committees to be allocated to political 
groups: 

2.5 Group Leaders have been asked for their nominations to committees in accordance 
with the allocations above.  These will be circulated prior to the meeting.  It is for the 
Shadow Dorset Council to make these appointments.   

 
Appointments to Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of Committees 

3.1 The Constitution of the Shadow Dorset Council states that at their annual 
meeting the Council may appoint, from among the voting members, a 
Chairman and Vice-Chairman for each standing committee. Delegation to the 
committees is sought to enable each committee to elect a Chairman and Vice-
Chairman from its membership at their first meetings. In respect of the 
chairmanship of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, this appointment of 
must be from the largest minority political group.

3.2 The Chairman (and Vice-Chairman) of the Shadow Executive Committee will 
be elected by the Committee at its first meeting as prescribed in the Structural 
Change Order.  The Chairman of the Shadow Executive Committee will be the 
Leader of the Shadow Council and the Vice-Chairman will be the Deputy 
Leader.

Dorset Council Chief Executives
June 2018 

Con Lib 
Dem 

Labour  
 

Green Total 
 

Overview and Scrutiny 12 3 1 - 16
Senior Officer Appointments 6 1 1 - 8
Standards 6 1 1 - 8

Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank



Adoption of Members’ Allowances Scheme 

1 
 

 
  

Date of Meeting 7 June 2018 

Officer 
Proper Officer for the Shadow Dorset Council: Debbie Ward, 
Chief Executive – Dorset County Council 

Subject of Report 
Adoption of Members’ Allowances Scheme – 
supplementary report 

Executive Summary The Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole (Structural Changes) 
Order requires that the Shadow Dorset Council must 
prepare and adopt a scheme for the payment of allowances 
to its members.  In order to achieve this the Order applies 
the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) 
Regulations 2003 to the Shadow Dorset Council and its 
members in the same way that the Regulations apply to 
district councils and their members. 
 
In order to comply with the 2003 Regulations, the Shadow 
Dorset Council must adopt a scheme having regard to the 
recommendations of an Independent Remuneration Panel.  
Given the tight timescales, a Panel has been formed by 
drawing upon the membership of Panels of the existing 
Dorset area councils. 

 

The Independent Remuneration Panel met on Monday  
4 June 2018.  Its recommendations are set out in section 2 
of this report and reflected in the draft members’ allowances 
scheme attached as Appendix 2 for the “Shadow Period”, 
being the date of commencement of the Shadow Dorset 
Council as required by the Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole 
(Structural Changes) Order 2018 until 31 March 2019. 

Impact 
Assessment: 
 
 

Equalities Impact Assessment: N/A  

Budget: The budget implications should the Shadow Dorset 

Council  decide to introduce the special responsibility 

allowances (SRAs) during the Shadow Period as 

recommended by the Independent Remuneration Panel will 

be £18,500 during that Period.  This could increase should it 

Page 185

Agenda Item 10



Adoption of Members’ Allowances Scheme 

2 
 

be necessary to pay an SRA to any member of the Shadow 

Executive Committee, as recommended. 

Risk Assessment: Having considered the risks associated 
with this decision using the LGR Programme risk 
management methodology, the level of risk has been 
identified as: 
Current Risk: LOW  
Residual Risk: LOW  

Recommendation That, having regard to the recommendations made by the 
Independent Remuneration Panel, a Members’ Allowances 
Scheme be adopted. 

Reason for 
Recommendation 

To comply with the requirements of the Bournemouth, 
Dorset and Poole (Structural Changes) Order 2018. 

Appendices 1.  Questions for consideration by the Independent 
Remuneration Panel 

2.  Draft Members’ Allowances Scheme 

Background Papers None. 

Officer Contact Name:  Kirsty Riglar, Democratic and Electoral Services 

Manager, Purbeck District Council   

Tel:      01929 557221 

Email:  kirstyriglar@purbeck-dc.gov.uk 

  

Page 186



Adoption of Members’ Allowances Scheme 

3 
 

1. Background 
 
1.1 All members of the standing or most recent Independent Remuneration 

Panels of the existing Dorset area councils were invited to participate in the 
Panel for the Shadow Dorset Council.  The following Panel members attended 
a meeting on Monday 4 June 2018:- 

 
Mr Donald Hunter (Chair) 
Mr Keith Broughton 
Mr John Quinton 
Mr Martin Varley 

 
1.2 To assist the Panel in forming recommendations for a members’ allowances 

scheme, it was provided with information about the composition and role of 
the Shadow Dorset Council and its committees.  It was also provided with 
details of the allowances currently paid by the Dorset area councils.  
Additionally, the Panel was informed that a Governance Task and Finish 
Group had been established to provide oversight by elected members of the 
legal and democratic workstream in preparation for the creation of Dorset 
Council.  As part of this work, the Group had given some initial consideration 
to the issue of members’ allowances and invited the Panel to address a 
number of specific questions (set out in Appendix 1). 

 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 Following consideration of the information provided, the Independent 

Remuneration Panel make the following recommendations:- 
  
2.1.1 Basic allowance 

 
 Regulation 4 Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 

2003 provides as follows: 
  

“Basic allowance 
(1)  An authority shall– 
(a)  make a scheme in accordance with these Regulations which shall provide 
for the payment of an allowance in respect of each year to each member of an 
authority, and the amount of such an allowance shall be the same for each 
such member (“basic allowance”); …” 
 
Whilst having regard to the information provided about the role of a Shadow 
Dorset Councillor, the Panel note that the Shadow Dorset Council will not be 
delivering services, all members of the Council are in receipt of a basic 
allowance from the existing Dorset area council(s) of which they were a 
member and that it is anticipated that the Council will only meet three times 
during the Shadow Period. The Panel consider that the duties of the Shadow 
Dorset Councillor will be covered by the basic allowance received by the 
relevant Dorset area council, as they are essentially the same.  It is therefore 
recommended that the rate of the basic allowance be paid to members of the 
Shadow Dorset Council shall be set at £0.00. 
 

Page 187



Adoption of Members’ Allowances Scheme 

4 
 

2.1.2 Travel, subsistence and dependant carer’s allowances 
 
It is recommended that travel, subsistence and dependant carers’ claims be 
made in accordance with the schemes operated by each of the Dorset area 
councils, and claims will be made by members to their respective council. 
 
Whilst acknowledging that payment for such claims will be made by the 
relevant existing Dorset area councils, it is also recommended that the detail 
of these claims be collated to ensure transparency and an audit trail of the 
costs associated with the Shadow Dorset Council.      

 
2.1.3 Special Responsibility Allowances (SRAs) 

 
The Panel was advised that no member of staff of the Dorset area councils 
shall receive additional remuneration to reflect the additional workload arising 
from local government reorganisation.  It is therefore considered that SRAs 
should be kept to a minimum and paid only to those members appointed to a 
role that would require them to fulfil significant additional duties and 
responsibility for the Shadow Dorset Council. 
 
It is also noted that regulation 5(2) of the Regulations requires that any 
scheme making provision for the payment of SRAs for members of an 
authority which is divided into at least two political groups and has a majority 
controlling group, at least one person who is not a member of the controlling 
group and has special responsibilities must receive an SRA. 
 
(i) Leaders of political groups 

It is recommended that no SRA is paid to leaders of political groups. 
 

(ii) Chairman of Shadow Dorset Council 
It is acknowledged that whilst it is anticipated that the Council will meet 
no more than three times during the Shadow Period, the chairing of 
these meetings will be challenging due to the number of members 
present and will require a significant amount of preparation.  It is 
therefore recommended that an SRA of £5,000 be paid to the Chairman 
of the Shadow Dorset Council for the Shadow Period.  
 

(iii) Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Whilst it is not anticipated that this Committee will meet on a great many 
occasions during the Shadow Period, the importance of overview and 
scrutiny during the transition to the Dorset Council is noted.  Additionally, 
the Chairman of this Committee will be a member of a minority political 
group and this therefore meets the requirement to pay at least one 
minority group member an SRA. It is therefore recommended that an 
SRA of £3,500 be paid to the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for the Shadow Period. 
 

(iv) Leader of Shadow Dorset Council (Chairman of Shadow Executive) 
It is acknowledged that the Leader of the Shadow Dorset Council, in 
their role as Chairman of the Shadow Executive, will have a significant 
role, as the member ultimately politically accountable for delivering a 

Page 188



Adoption of Members’ Allowances Scheme 

5 
 

council fit for purpose as from 1 April 2019, and this is likely to require a 
significant time commitment.  It is therefore considered that an SRA of 
double that recommended for the Chairman of the Shadow Dorset 
Council is appropriate and the Leader receive an SRA of £10,000 for the 
Shadow Period. 
 

(v) Members of Shadow Executive Committee 
It is noted that the Shadow Executive Committee will have no executive 
responsibility for service delivery during the Shadow Period and the 
members will act as a collective rather than exercising individual 
executive responsibility.  As it is likely that the members of the Shadow 
Executive Committee will be senior members nominated by the existing 
Dorset area councils who are currently in receipt of an SRA, it is not 
considered to be appropriate to recommend that an SRA be paid.  
However, in the event that a member of the Shadow Executive 
Committee is not in receipt of an SRA from the council by whom they 
have been nominated, they should receive an SRA equivalent to that 
paid to a Cabinet Member, Portfolio Holder, or equivalent by that council. 
 

(vi) Vice-Chairman of Shadow Dorset Council 
It is recommended that no SRA is paid to the Vice-Chairman of the 
Shadow Dorset Council. 
 

(vii) Deputy Leader of Shadow Dorset Council 
It is recommended that no SRA is paid to the Deputy Leader of the 
Shadow Dorset Council. 

 
2.1.4 Co-opted members and independent persons 

 
There will be no co-opted members of committees appointed to sit on panels 
and for a constituted meeting by the Shadow Dorset Council so no allowance 
is required. 
 
During the Shadow Period, the independent person to be consulted on any 
complaints about councillors’ conduct will be drawn from the independent 
persons appointed by the existing Dorset area councils. No allowance is 
required. 

 
 

  

Page 189



Adoption of Members’ Allowances Scheme 

6 
 

Appendix 1 
 

Questions for consideration by the Independent Remuneration Panel 

The Governance Task and Finish Group established to provide oversight by 
Members of the legal and democratic workstream in preparation for the creation of 
the Dorset Council has given some initial consideration to the issue of members’ 
allowances. The following questions and areas of concern are ones which the Task 
and Finish Group invite the Independent Remuneration Panel to address: 

1. Should members of the Shadow Council receive a basic allowance? 
 

The Panel is invited to consider that: 
 
i) the Shadow Council will not be delivering services; 
 
ii) members of the Shadow Council are all in receipt of basic allowances 

from the existing councils; and 
 
iii) the ordinary expectation upon all members of the Shadow Council will be 

preparation for and attendance at three Shadow Council meetings taking 
place during a ten month shadow period. 

 
2. Should all members of the Shadow Council be entitled to claim 

reimbursement of travel and subsistence and a dependant carer’s 
allowance? 

 
3. Should leaders of political groups receive a special responsibility 

allowance? 
 
4. Should the Chairman of the Shadow Council and the Chairman of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee receive special responsibility 
allowances? 

 
The Panel is invited to consider it relevant that: 

i)   the Shadow Council will meet only three times but the IRP is invited to 
consider the responsibility, scale and complexity involved in chairing the 
Shadow Council.   

5. Should the Leader of the Shadow Council (who will be the Chairman of 
the Shadow Executive Committee) receive a special responsibility 
allowance? 

 
6. Should members of the Shadow Executive Committee receive a special 

responsibility allowance in addition to any already paid by an existing 
council? 
 
The Panel is invited to consider that: 

Page 190



Adoption of Members’ Allowances Scheme 

7 
 

i) most members of the Shadow Executive Committee are likely to be 
leading members of the existing councils and already in receipt of a 
special responsibility allowance; 
 

ii) at its first meeting the Governance Task and Finish Group did not support 
the payment of an additional special responsibility allowance to a member 
already in receipt of such an allowance from an existing council; 

 

iii) some members of the Shadow Executive Committee might not be in 
receipt of any special responsibility allowance from an existing council; 
and 

 

iv) the Shadow Executive Committee will have a role akin to that of a 
council’s Cabinet.  

 
7. Should there be any attempt at harmonisation of special responsibility 

allowances payable to Shadow Executive Committee members? 
 

The Panel is invited to consider that: 
 

i) the view of the Task and Finish Group at its first meeting that the work 
towards forming the Dorset Council should foster a one council approach; 
 

ii) the appendix setting out the differing allowances payable to leaders, 
deputies and cabinet or lead members by the existing councils; and 
 

iii) that councillors with differing special responsibilities in the existing 
councils will retain those responsibilities in addition to their new 
responsibilities as a member of the Shadow Executive Committee.  

  

Page 191



Adoption of Members’ Allowances Scheme 

8 
 

Appendix 2 
 

DRAFT - Shadow Dorset Council 
 
Members’ Allowances Scheme 2018/19 
 
1.  The payment of allowances to elected members of local authorities is governed 

by the Local Government (Members’ Allowances England) Regulations 2003 
(“the Regulations”). This scheme is for the 2018/19 Shadow Period and is 
effective from the date of commencement of the Shadow Dorset Council as 
required by the Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole (Structural Changes) Order 
2018 until 31 March 2019 (the “Shadow Period”). 

 
Entitlement to Allowances 
 
2. This scheme provides guidance in respect of:- 

 
•  a basic allowance; 
•  special responsibility allowances; 
•  a dependant carers’ allowance; 
•  travel allowances for duties undertaken within Shadow Dorset Council 

area; 
•  travel and subsistence allowances for duties undertaken outside the 

Shadow Dorset Council area; and, 
•  an allowance to co-opted and independent members. 

 
Basic Allowance 
 
3.1  Elected members of all councils comprising the Dorset Shadow Dorset Council  

receive a basic allowance to recognise the time devoted to carry out their work 
as councillors, including attendance at meetings, and constituency activities. 
These basic allowances are intended to cover incidental costs such as 
subsistence and use of members’ homes and private telephones. 

 
3.2  The basic allowance of each authority applies equally to the business of the 

Shadow Dorset Council as a function of all councils as they transition into a 
new Council from 1 April 2019. A basic allowance of £0.00 will be paid to 
members of the Shadow Dorset Council. 

 
3.3  The basic allowance for the Dorset Council from 1 April 2019 will be reviewed 

by an Independent Remuneration Panel and reported to the Shadow Dorset 
Council before the cessation of the Shadow Period. 

 
Special Responsibility Allowances (SRAs) 
 
4.1  SRAs are payable in equal monthly instalments. The payment of authorised 

SRAs to certain office holders is set out below: 
 
 
 

Page 192



Adoption of Members’ Allowances Scheme 

9 
 

Role  
Chairman of the Shadow Dorset Council  
Chairman of the Shadow Executive (Leader)  
Member of the Shadow Executive  
Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 
Allowance 
£5,000 
£10,000 
*see below 
£3,500 
 

 
* No SRA will be paid to a Member of the Shadow Executive who is in receipt 
of an SRA from the council by whom they have been nominated.  In the event 
that a Member of the Shadow Executive is not in receipt of an SRA from the 
council by whom they have been nominated, they should receive an SRA 
equivalent to that paid to a Cabinet Member, Portfolio Holder, or equivalent by 
that council. 

 
4.2  Where a member is suspended or partially suspended from his/her duties as a 

District/Borough/County Councillor in accordance with Part III of the Local 
Government Act 2000, or regulations made under that part, the part of SRA 
payable to him/her in respect of the period for which he/she is suspended or 
partially suspended shall be withheld. 

Travelling, Subsistence and Dependant Carers’ Allowances 

5.1  Travel, subsistence and dependant carers’ claims must be made in accordance 
with the schemes operated by each of the Dorset area councils, and claims will 
be made by members to their respective council. The rates for travelling and 
subsistence allowances are set out in the schemes below: 

•  East Dorset District Council  

•  North Dorset District Council 

•  Purbeck District Council 

•  West Dorset District Council 

•  Weymouth and Portland Borough Council 

•  Dorset County Council 

5.2  If any member is in any doubt about a particular duty or scheme please check 
with the clerk to the Shadow Dorset Council.  

5.3  Where a member is suspended or partially suspended from his/her duties as a 
District/Borough/County Councillor or the in accordance with Part III of the 
Local Government Act 2000, or regulations made under that part, the part of 
travelling and subsistence allowance payable to him/her in respect of the period 
for which he/she is suspended or partially suspended shall be withheld. 

 

 

Page 193

http://moderngoveddc.christchurchandeastdorset.gov.uk/documents/s19665/Part%206%20-%20Members%20Allowances%20Scheme.pdf
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/councillors-committees-elections/councillors/pdfs/member-allowances-scheme-north-dorset-district-council.pdf
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/councillors-committees-elections/councillors/pdfs/members-allowances-scheme-purbeck-district-council.pdf
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/councillors-committees-elections/councillors/pdfs/members-allowances-scheme-west-dorset-district-council.pdf
https://moderngovdcp.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/documents/s10712/Part%20F%20-%20Scheme%20of%20Members%20Allowances.pdf
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/your-council/about-your-council/pdfs/constitution-of-dorset-county-council-part-6.pdf


Adoption of Members’ Allowances Scheme 

10 
 

Co-opted and Independent Members 

6.1  There will be no co-opted members of committees appointed to sit on panels 
and for a constituted meeting by the Shadow Dorset Council, so no allowance 
is required. 

6.2  During the Shadow Period, the independent person to be consulted on any 
complaints about councillors’ conduct will be drawn from the independent 
persons appointed by the existing Dorset area councils. No allowance is 
required. 

Submission of Claims 

7.  Claims for allowances must be made in accordance with the existing 
arrangements within each existing scheme of the relevant Dorset area council 
of which the claimant is a member. 

Entitlement to Travelling Allowances for Members who are also Members of a 
Borough or District Council 

8.1  A member who is both a County Councillor and a Borough or District Councillor 
may claim allowances from both authorities should he or she undertake two 
separate duties - one for each authority - on the same day. The same position 
would apply to any member who also serves on any other body from which 
allowances may be claimed direct. 

8.2  A member who is both a County and Borough or District Councillor may not 
however claim from both Councils for undertaking the same duty. Members 
must take particular care to avoid duplication or overlap of claims for travelling 
and subsistence expenses when, as may happen, they attend two separate 
events on the same day one as a County Councillor and one as District 
Councillor both of which take place at the same venue. Claims for the full return 
journey should not be made to both Councils. To avoid the impression that a 
member may be seeking to maximise income in such instances it is suggested 
that members should alternate claims to provide a balance between their 
representation on the Shadow Dorset Council.  Where a member is appointed 
on a body such as the Shadow Executive it will be clear which authority they 
represent and should therefore claim from the 
appropriate Dorset area council. 

8.3  If a member is in any doubt about entitlement he or she is urged to seek advice 
from the clerk to the Shadow Dorset Council before submitting a claim. 

Forgoing Allowances 

9.  Members may, if they wish, forgo all or any part of their entitlement to basic 
allowance or special responsibility allowance by giving notice in writing to the 
clerk to the Shadow Dorset Council (contact details at 11 below). 

 

 

Page 194



Adoption of Members’ Allowances Scheme 

11 
 

Taxation of Allowances and Social Security Benefits 

10.  Allowances will be subject to the normal PAYE and National Insurance 
regulations in force at the time, and will be detailed within the schemes of each 
council. 

Enquiries 

11.  If you have any queries about this scheme please direct any enquiries to your 
respective Democratic Services Team: 

Dorset Councils Partnership - Susan Dallison - 01305 252216 - 
sdallison@dorset.gov.uk 

East Dorset District Council - Sarah Culwick - 01202 795273 - 
SCulwick@christchurchandeastdorset.gov.uk 

Purbeck District Council - Kirsty Riglar - 01929 557221 –  
kirstyriglar@purbeck-dc.gov.uk 

Dorset County Council - Lee Gallagher - 01305 224191 - 
l.d.gallagher@dorsetcc.gov.uk 

 

Page 195



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 – Calendar of Meetings 

Date of Meeting 7 June 2018

Officer Proper Officer for the Shadow Dorset Council: Debbie Ward, 
Chief Executive – Dorset County Council

Subject of Report Calendar of Meetings

Executive Summary The Shadow Dorset Council will operate a calendar which will 
include dates for all Council meetings and meetings for each of its 
committees.  A schedule of dates is outlined below and proposed 
for adoption as the Calendar of Meetings.

Shadow Council
Venue: South Walks House, Dorchester

31 July 2018 6:30pm
20 February 2019 6:30pm

Shadow Executive
Venue: South Walks House, Dorchester

18 June 2018 6:30pm
20 July 2018 10:00am 
Reserve: 8 August 2018    12:00pm               
21 August 2018     2:30pm                 
20 September 2018 2:30pm                 
16 October 2018             2:30pm                 
Reserve: 9 November 2018 12:00pm               
22 November 2018                  2:30pm                 
20 December 2018                  2:30pm                 
16 January 2019                      2:30pm                 
20 February 2019                     2:30pm                 
20 March 2019                         2:30pm                 

Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Venue: to be confirmed

20 June 2018 6:30pm
4 September 2018 10:00pm
15 November 2018 2:00pm
10 January 2019 2:00pm

Shadow Senior Officer Appointments Committee
To be arranged as required

Shadow Standards Committee
To be arranged as required

Page 197

Agenda Item 11



Page 2 – Calendar of Meetings 

Equalities Impact Assessment: None

Budget: No budget implications have been identified

Impact Assessment:

Risk Assessment: 
Having considered the risks associated with this decision using 
the LGR Programme risk management methodology, the level of 
risk has been identified as:
Current Risk: LOW
Residual Risk LOW

Recommendation That the Shadow Dorset Council adopt the calendar of meeting 
dates.

Reason for 
Recommendation

To comply with the Shadow Council’s Procedure Rules (Standing 
Orders)

Appendices
None

Background Papers
None

Officer Contact Name: Dorset Area Monitoring Officers
Tel: 01305 224181
Email: j.e.mair@dorsetcc.gov.uk 

Page 198

mailto:j.e.mair@dorsetcc.gov.uk

	Agenda
	4 Constitution
	Constitution Report  Appendix

	6 Process and Appointment of Interim Statutory Officers to the Dorset Council Shadow Authority
	7 Process to Appoint a Permanent Chief Executive to Dorset Council
	8 High level implementation plan for Dorset Council
	9 Appointment to Committees 2018/19
	10 Adoption of Members' Allowances scheme
	11 Adoption of Calendar of Meetings

